

Examen des effets comparatifs de l'adaptation sur les réponses des neurones des couches supra et infragranulaires à l'aide de stimulations visuelles et acoustiques dans le cortex visuel du chat

par Nayan Chanauria

Département des Sciences Biologiques

Faculté des arts et sciences

Thèse présentée

en vue de l'obtention du grade de Doctorat (Ph. D.) en Sciences Biologiques

© Nayan Chanauria, 2018

Université de Montréal

Faculté des études supérieures: Département de Sciences Biologiques, Faculté des arts et sciences

Cette thèse intitulée

Examen des effets comparatifs de l'adaptation sur les réponses des neurones des couches supra et infragranulaires à l'aide de stimulations visuelles et acoustiques dans le cortex visuel du chat

Présentée par

Nayan Chanauria

A été évaluée par un jury composé des personnes suivantes

Dr. Annie Angers Président-rapporteur

Dr. Stéphane Molotchnikoff Directeur de recherche

Dr. Jean Rouat Codirecteur

Dr. Frédérique Dubois Membre du jury

Dr. Denis Boire Examinateur externe

RÉSUMÉ

Dans le cortex visuel primaire (V1 ou l'aire 17) du chat, les neurones répondent aux orientations spécifiques des objets du monde extérieur et forment les colonnes d'orientation dans la zone V1. Un neurone répondant à une orientation horizontale sera excité par le contour horizontal d'un objet. Cette caractéristique de V1 appelée sélectivité d'orientation a été explorée pour étudier les effets de l'adaptation. Suivant un schéma d'entraînement (adaptation), le même neurone ayant initialement répondu à l'orientation horizontale répondra désormais à une orientation oblique. Dans cette thèse, nous étudions les propriétés d'ajustement d'orientation de neurones individuels dans des couches superficielles et plus profondes de V1 dans deux environnements d'adaptation. En raison de la grande interconnectivité entre les neurones de V1, nous émettons l'hypothèse que non seulement les neurones individuels sont affectés par l'adaptation, mais que tout le cortex est reprogrammé par l'adaptation.

Des enregistrements extracellulaires ont été effectués sur des chats anesthésiés. Les activités neuronales ont été enregistrées simultanément aux couches 2/3 et à la 5/6 à l'aide d'une électrode de tungstène. Les neurones ont été adaptés à la fois par stimulation visuelle et son répétitif selon deux protocoles différents. Dans les deux cas, une plage stimulante constituée de sinusoïdes à défilement a été présentée pour évoquer les réponses dans V1 et générer des courbes de réglage d'activité multi-unités. La connectivité fonctionnelle entre les neurones enregistrés a été démontrée par un corrélogramme croisé entre les décharges cellulaires captées simultanément.

En réponse à l'adaptation visuelle, les neurones des couches 2/3 et 5/6 ont montré des glissements attractifs et répulsifs classiques. En revanche en comparant le comportement des neurones de l'une et l'autre couche, on a observé une tendance équivalente. Les corrélogrammes croisés entre les trains de neurones des couches 2/3 et 5/6 ont révélé des décharges synchronisées entre les neurones. Durant l'adaptation au son, en l'absence totale de stimuli visuel, le glissement des courbes d'accord a été observés chez l'une et l'autre couche indiquant ainsi un changement de la sélectivité de l'orientation. Toutefois, il faut prendre note du

fait que les cellules des deux couches ont un glissement aux directions opposées ce qui dénote un comportement indépendant.

Nos résultats indiquent que les réponses des neurones du cortex V1 peuvent être évoqués par stimulation directe ou indirecte. La différence de réponses à différents environnements d'adaptation chez les neurones des couches 2/3 et 5/6 indiquent que les neurones de l'aire V1 peuvent choisir de se comporter de la même façon ou différemment lorsque confrontés à divers' stimuli sensoriels. Ceci suggère que les réponses dans V1 sont dépendantes du stimulus environnemental. Aussi, les décharges synchronisées des neurones de la couche 2/3 et de la couche 5/6 démontre une connectivité fonctionnelle entre les paires de neurones. En définitive on pourrait affirmer que les neurones visuels subissent une altération de leur sélectivité en construisant de nouvelles cartes de sélectivité. À la lumière de nos résultats on pourrait concevoir que le cortex en entier serait multi sensoriel compte tenu de la plasticité entre les zones sensorielles.

Mots clés: cortex visuel, plasticité, adaptation, sélectivité d'orientation, multi sensorialité, connectivité fonctionnelle, corrélation, audio-visuel.

ABSTRACT

In the cat primary visual cortex (V1 or area17), neurons fundamentally respond to orientations of the objects in the outside world. Neurons responding to specific orientations form the orientation columns in V1. A neuron responding to a horizontal orientation will get optimally excited towards the outline of a horizontal object. This feature of the visual cortex known as orientation selectivity has been continuously explored to study the effects of adaptation. Following a training paradigm called adaptation, the same neuron that was inherently responding to the horizontal orientation will respond to an oblique orientation. In this thesis, we seek to examine the orientation tuning properties of individual neurons in superficial and deeper layers of V1 in different adaptation environments. Due to the extensive interconnectivity between V1 neurons, we hypothesize that not only do individual neurons get affected by adaptation paradigm, but the whole cortex is reprogramed.

To this aim, extracellular recordings were performed in conventionally prepared anesthetized cats. Neural activities were recorded simultaneously from layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 using a tungsten multichannel electrode. Neurons were adapted with a visual adapter (visual adaptation) and a repetitive sound (sound adaptation) in two different settings. Both types of adaptations were performed uninterrupted for 12 minutes. In both settings, sine-wave drifting gratings were presented to evoke responses in V1 and generate tuning curves from the recorded multiunit activity. The functional connectivity between the recorded neurons was revealed by computing cross-correlation between individual neuron pairs.

In response to visual adaptation, layer 2/3 and 5/6 neurons displayed classical attractive and repulsive shifts. On comparing the behaviour of the neurons in either layer, an equivalent tendency was observed. Cross-correlograms between the spike trains of neurons in layers 2/3 and 5/6 revealed synchronized firing between the neurons suggesting coordinated dynamics of the co-active neurons and their functional connections. During sound adaptation, where the visual adapter was completely absent, shifts in the tuning curves were observed in either layer indicating a novel orientation selectivity. However,

it is noteworthy that cells in both layers shifted in opposite directions indicating independent behaviour. V1 neurons might have an additional role besides processing visual stimuli. The visual neurons may have demonstrated multisensory properties when stimulated indirectly through neighbouring sensory regions.

Our results indicate that primary visual neurons can be evoked by direct or indirect stimulation. The difference in the responses of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons towards the different adaptation environments indicate that neurons in V1 may behave similar or different towards the different sensory stimulus. This suggests that V1 responses are stimulus dependent. Additionally, the synchronized firing of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons towards visual adapter signify an existence of functional connectivity between the neuron pairs. Together, it can be summarised that visual neurons undergo an alteration of selectivity by building new orientation maps that ultimately potentiates plasticity within sensory regions that are highly suggestive of entire cortex being multisensory.

Keywords: Visual cortex, plasticity, adaptation, orientation selectivity, multisensory, functional connectivity, correlation, audio-visual

TABLE OF CONTENTS

RÉSUMÉ	
ABSTRACT	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VII
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
ABBREVIATIONS	XIV
ACKNOWLEDGMENT	XVI
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. VISUAL SYSTEM ORGANIZATION	1
1.1.1. Overview	1
1.2. PRIMARY VISUAL CORTEX	1
1.2.1. Associated visual areas	4
1.3. RECEPTIVE FIELD PROPERTIES OF NEURONS	6
1.4 NEURONAL SELECTIVITY	7
1.5. PHYSIOLOGICAL CLASSIFICATION OF CELLS	9
1.6 SIMILARITY WITH OTHER VERTEBRATES	9
1.7 CRITICAL PERIOD AND ADULT PLASTICITY	10
1.8 VISUAL ADAPTATION AND PLASTICITY	
1.9 NEURONAL CONNECTIVITY WITHIN THE PRIMARY VISUAL CORTEX	14
2.0 PLASTICITY AT MULTISENSORY CONVERGENCE REGIONS	
CHAPTER 2: HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVE	
2.1 Hypothesis	
2.2 Objectives	

3.1 ABSTRACT. 26 3.2 INTRODUCTION. 27 3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS 29 3.3.1 Ethical approval. 29 3.3.2 Anesthesia 29 3.3.3 Surgery. 30 3.3.4 Visual stimulation 30 3.3.5 Electrophysiological recording. 32 3.3.6 Adaptation protocol 33 3.3.7 Data 33 3.3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 RESULTS. 35 3.4.1 Layers II-III and V-VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference. 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 DISCUSSION. 44
3.2 INTRODUCTION 27 3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS 29 3.3.1 Ethical approval 29 3.3.2 Anesthesia 29 3.3.3 Surgery 30 3.4 Visual stimulation 30 3.5 Electrophysiological recording 32 3.6 Adaptation protocol 33 3.7 Data 33 3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 RESULTS 35 3.4.1 Layers II-III and V-VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 Discussion 44
3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS 29 3.3.1 Ethical approval. 29 3.3.2 Anesthesia 29 3.3.3 Surgery. 30 3.3.4 Visual stimulation 30 3.5 Electrophysiological recording. 32 3.3.6 Adaptation protocol 33 3.3.7 Data 33 3.3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 Results. 35 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference. 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 Discussion. 44
3.3.1 Ethical approval. 29 3.3.2 Anesthesia 29 3.3.3 Surgery. 30 3.3.4 Visual stimulation 30 3.3.5 Electrophysiological recording. 32 3.3.6 Adaptation protocol 33 3.3.7 Data 33 3.3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 Results 35 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference. 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 Discussion. 44
3.3.2 Anesthesia 29 3.3.3 Surgery 30 3.3.4 Visual stimulation 30 3.3.5 Electrophysiological recording 32 3.3.6 Adaptation protocol 33 3.7 Data 33 3.3.7 Data 33 3.3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 RESULTS 35 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 DISCUSSION 44
3.3.3 Surgery
3.3.4 Visual stimulation 30 3.3.5 Electrophysiological recording. 32 3.3.6 Adaptation protocol 33 3.3.7 Data 33 3.3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 RESULTS. 35 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference. 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 Discussion. 44
3.3.5 Electrophysiological recording. 32 3.3.6 Adaptation protocol 33 3.3.7 Data 33 3.3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 RESULTS. 35 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference. 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 DISCUSSION. 44
3.3.6 Adaptation protocol 33 3.3.7 Data 33 3.3.7 Data 33 3.3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 RESULTS 35 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 DISCUSSION 44
3.3.7 Data 33 3.3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 RESULTS 35 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 DISCUSSION 44
3.3.8 Statistical tests 34 3.4 RESULTS 35 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 DISCUSSION 44
3.4 RESULTS. 35 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference. 36 3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 DISCUSSION. 44
 3.4.1 Layers II–III and V–VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference
3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift 40 3.5 DISCUSSION
3.5 DISCUSSION
3.5.1 Adaptation mechanism
3.5.2 Possible functional implications
3.6 References
CHAPTER 4: SOUND INDUCES CHANGE IN ORIENTATION PREFERENCE OF V1 NEURONS:
AUDIO-VISUAL CROSS-INFLUENCE
4.1 ABSTRACT
4 2 Highlights 54
4.3 INTRODUCTION
4.4 EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES
4.4.1 Ethical approval.

CHAPTER 3: COMPARATIVE EFFECTS OF ADAPTATION ON LAYERS II- III AND V-VI NEURONS

4.4.2 Anesthesia	57
4.4.3 Surgery	57
4.4.4 Stimuli and experimental design	58
4.4.5 Electrophysiology	61
4.5 DATA ANALYSIS	62
4.5.1 Tuning curves	62
4.5.2 Orientation Selectivity Index (OSI)	64
4.5.3 Bandwidths (BW)	64
4.5.4 Response Change Index (RCI)	65
4.6 STATISTICAL TESTS	65
4.7 Results	66
4.7.1 Impact of repetitive auditory input on orientation tuning of visual neurons: A typical example	66
4.7.2 Neurons in supra- and infragranular layers regain their original optimal orientation tuning	68
4.7.3 Shift amplitude and sound source localization	69
4.7.4 Sound impacts bandwidth of supra- and infra-granular neurons	73
4.7.5 Orientation Selectivity Index (OSI)	75
4.7.6 Response change index (RCI): Response modulation comparison between orientations	76
4.8 DISCUSSION	
4.8.1 Methodological considerations	79
4.8.2 Layers behave as separate compartments	80
4.8.3 Layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons change orientation preferences	81
4.8.4 Inhibitory mechanisms	82
4.8.5 Supramodal nature and cross-modal influences in the cortex	83
4.9 Conclusion	84
4.10 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	85
4.11 References	85

CHAPTER 5: ARE SENSORY NEURONS IN THE CORTEX COMMITTED TO ORIGIN	NAL I KIGGEK
FEATURES?	90
5.1 Abstract	91
5.2 INTRODUCTION	91
5.3 SELECTIVITY IN CRITICAL PERIOD AND INHIBITION	92
5.3.1 Reorganisation of the cortex following sensory deprivation or sensory loss	
5.3.2 Congenital blindness	96
5.3.3 Selectivity modified in adult visual and auditory cortices	
5.3.4 Organization of somatosensory cortex and trigger features	
5.3.5 Multisensory integration and cross-modal plasticity	
5.3.6 Possible mechanism underlying adaptation and plastic modifications	
5.4 Understanding at Population Level/ Interareal Explorations	109
5.5 MODULATION OF PLASTICITY BY DRUGS APPLICATION	109
5.5.1 Effect of Serotonin and Fluoxetine on cortical plasticity	110
5.5.2 Effect of Ketamine on cortical plasticity	
5.5.3 Molecular mechanism of cortical plasticity and drugs pathways action	
5.6 Conclusions	119
5.7 References	119
CHAPTER 6: CROSS-CORRELATION REVEALS SYNCHRONY WITHIN ADAPTED	SUPRA AND
INFRAGRANULAR LAYERS IN CAT V1	129
6.1 Abstract	130
6.2 INTRODUCTION	131
6.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	133
6.3.1 Ethical approval	
6.3.2 Anesthesia and surgery	
6.3.3 Electrophysiological recording and Single unit isolation	
6.3.4 Visual stimulation and adaptation protocol	

CHAPTER 5: ARE SENSORY NEURONS IN THE CORTEX COMMITTED TO ORIGINAL TRIGGER

6.3.5 Data Analysis: Gaussian tuning fits and cross-correlation analysis	136
6.4 Results	137
6.4.1 Similar mean amplitude of shift observed in layer V and layer II-III neurons	138
6.4.2 Cluster analyses for deducing orientation selectivity among neurons of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6	138
6.4.3 Proportion of connections decrease following adaptation	141
6.4.4 Strength of connections in layer 2/3, layer 5/6 and between layer 2/3 and layer 5/6	142
6.4.5 Typical example of a cross-correlogram between a layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons pair	143
6.5 DISCUSSION	144
CHAPTER 7: GENERAL DISCUSSION	146
7.1 Methodological considerations	146
7.1.1 State of the animal	146
7.1.2 Adaptation protocol duration	146
7.1.3 Spike sorting	147
7.2 VISUAL ADAPTATION IN SIMULTANEOUSLY RECORDED LAYER 2/3 AND LAYER 5/6 NEURONS	148
7.2.1 How layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons work in parallel with each other?	150
7.2.2 Adaptation mechanisms	151
7.3 HOW PROLONGED AUDITORY STIMULATION CAN AFFECT THE PRIMARY VISUAL CORTEX NEURONS?	153
7.3.1 Possible mechanism of auditory modulation in primary visual cortex	155
7.3.2 Circuits and mechanisms underlying cross-modal plasticity	157
7.4 What can we learn from the comparisons between 12 min of visual and 12 min of auditory	
ADAPTATION OF PRIMARY VISUAL NEURONS?	159
CHAPTER 8: FUTURE DIRECTIONS	163
CHAPTER 9: CONCLUSIONS	165
CHAPTER 10: REFERENCES	166
CHAPTER 11: AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS	196

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	3
FIGURE 1.2	4
FIGURE 1.3	
Figure 1.4	
FIGURE 1.5	16
FIGURE 2.1	21
FIGURE 3.1	
FIGURE 3.2	
FIGURE 3.3	
FIGURE 3.4	
FIGURE 3.5	41
FIGURE 3.6	
FIGURE 3.7	
FIGURE 4.1	60
FIGURE 4.2	
FIGURE 4.3	67
FIGURE 4.4	
FIGURE 4.5	
FIGURE 4.6	72
FIGURE 4.7	74
FIGURE 4.8	
FIGURE 4.9	77
FIGURE 5.1	94
FIGURE 5.2	
FIGURE 5.3	

FIGURE 5.4	107
FIGURE 5.5	114
Figure 6.1	
FIGURE 6.2	140
FIGURE 6.3	141
FIGURE 6.4	142
FIGURE 6.5	143

ABBREVIATIONS

V1: A17, area 17, Primary Visual Cortex V2: A18, area 18, Secondary Visual Cortex V3: Visual area 3/ Brodmann area 19 V4: Visual area 4 MT: Middle temporal visual area/ V5 LGN: Lateral Geniculate Nucleus PV: Parvalbumin NMDA: N-methyl-D-aspartate/ NMDAR Nogo: Nogo receptor (NgR) OMgp: Oligodendrocyte myelin glycoprotein MAG: Myelin-associated glycoprotein SC: Superior colliculus AES: Anterior ectosylvian sulcus Min: minute ACG: Auto correlogram CCG: Cross correlogram PCA: Principal component analysis **OSI:** Orientation Selectivity Index Ca2+: Calcium ion Ms: millisecond FS: Fast spiking/ interneurons RS: regular spiking/ excitatory neuron

 \oslash dedicate this thesis to

my mother Tashi Angmo (Amuu)

K

my husband Ashish Mehta (Ashi)

who at different times have been an immense source of inspiration

and encouragement

in my life.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

My deepest gratitude goes first to Professor Stephane Molotchnikoff, my thesis supervisor, who played a fundamental role in my doctoral education. His unwavering enthusiasm for neuroscience and passionate narration of exciting stories of his scientific career kept me constantly engaged with my research. I would like to thank him for his patience, time and for always being there. Similarly, I would like to thank my thesis co-director Dr. Jean Rouat who offered me great help and support with the technical requirements of the project. His contribution to optimizing the hardware during my doctoral study has been immense. Coming from a different background, it was the combined inputs and guidance of Dr. Molotchnikoff and Dr. Rouat that I have been able to finish my Ph.D. project. I would again thank them both for their time and availability.

My journey started in February 2014 and I would not hesitate to say that I had never experienced the kind of environment my three ex-colleagues and friends (Dr. Lyes Bachatene, Dr. Vishal Bharmauria and Dr. Sarah Cattan) had established in the lab when I arrived. Coming out of my country for the first time, I experienced a warm welcome in the lab. It was just right ambience to be in for research as well as fun. Together, I would like to thank all three of them for their friendship, team spirit, goodwill and creating a comfortable and productive environment in the lab.

I am thankful to Lyes and Sarah for their support in the lab. Lyes helped me immensely with the initial preparation of the lab and surgeries of the animals for experiments. Sarah encouraged and helped me to be comfortable with the cats for future experiments. She also lent me her hand in French to an extent that I was once able to present my work in French in a local conference. A special thanks to Vishal for his tremendous support in the lab and outside during my early days in Canada. Vishal helped me in understanding the culture and integration with people. I thank him for his endless help.

I would like to thank Dr. Margarita Costa, who was a former doctoral student in the adjoining lab, for sharing her scientific experiences and exchanging knowledge on auditory neuroscience. Thanks to Ms. Afef Ouelhazi, Mr. Rudy Lussiez, Ms. Assia Tsyvian-Dzyabko, Mr. Steffano Bettinazi, Ms. Charlotte Capt, Mr. Karim Bouvet, Mr. Philip Ouimet and Ms. AB Riham for keeping the atmosphere alive around me and helping me with French at different times. I am also grateful to the following university staff: Ms. Annie Aubin, Ms. Claudia Hamelin, Ms. Isabelle Lallande, Ms. Michelle Gibeault, Ms. Sadok Meriem, Mr. Daniel, Ms. Josee Lettelier and Ms. Audil for their help during the Ph.D. A big thank you to Ms. Louise Pelletier for helping me with the histology of the cat brain and not to forget her home-made coffee cakes that helped me stay awake while recording alone in the lab during the night! Hugs for you Louise!

Then, I would like to thank my forever interested, encouraging and enthusiastic cousin, Ms. Kalpana Bhardwaj and my brother-in-law Mr. Nikhil Chowdhary for unending discussions on spirituality, neuroscience and life. I thank my friend Mr. Loveleen Singh for cooking amazing meals specially for me and delivering them to the lab during my cat experiments. I also thank my friends Ms. Akankasha Sen and Mr. Hanan Guleria for welcoming me with open hearts to spend the weekends with them and indulging in group study.

I thank the University, Department and other funding agencies for the scholarships that helped me in being financially independent specially towards the end of the PhD, I extend my thanks to all of them.

Last but not the least comes my family. The biggest thankyou to my in-laws for believing in me, my husband to be my backbone, my mystical father for inspiring me to do good as a human being, my mother for being my 'Shero' and my aunt 'Chimme' for always praying success for me. My eternal cheerleader, baby brother Prakhar, who is not only my brother but also my critic and my best friend.

I would not deny that I was also on a kind of personal journey during my PhD since I was away from my husband and family for initial six months that too for the first time in my life. It was emotionally challenging for me, but now, when I look back from where I began, I see myself as an independent and a more confident person!

I thank every single person that had been associated in the success of this journey. I wish everyone happiness and success for life!

Thanks to all of you for making me what I am today!

Nayan Chanauria

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1. Visual System Organization

1.1.1. Overview

Visual areas in humans are made up of about 5 billion neurons which is approximately 25% of the cortex. The continuous exploration on the visual cortex revealed that there are many areas of the vision including areas V1, V2, V3, V4 and MT which were best defined regarding structure, topography and physiological properties (Felleman & Van Essen, 1991; Kujovic *et al.*, 2013). These regions are involved in processing a multitude of visual information such as shape, color, orientation, size, and movement, etc. resulting from the various visual information processing pathways. The cortex of mammals such as monkeys, cats, and humans are usually divided into different areas that process a specific function.

1.2. Primary Visual Cortex

Among all the visual areas, the primary visual cortex (V1) is historically the most studied part of the brain. It is the part of the cerebral cortex that is responsible for processing visual stimuli. Because of its stripy appearance this area is also known as striate cortex. It is the simplest and earliest recognized cortical visual area, highly specialized for processing information about static and moving objects and is implicated in pattern recognition. The primary cortical area of cats embody a columnar organization, meaning that neurons within a column perpendicular to the surface of the cortex have similar response properties i.e. similar position, and similar orientation selectivity (Hubel *et al.*, 1977; Blasdel & Salama, 1986). These domains of orientation selectivity are known as orientation columns (Hubel & Wiesel, 1959; 1962a). In an orientation column, neurons optimally respond to the same orientation and can be evoked by oriented bars of light. A neuron responding to a horizontal orientation will get optimally excited towards the outline of a horizontal object. This feature of the visual cortex is known as orientation selectivity. Each hemisphere of

the cat brain has a visual cortex. The right visual cortex receives information from the left visual field, and the left visual cortex from the right visual field. There is another system of alternating columns, which corresponds to the separation of afferents from both eyes. These are the ocular dominance columns. The ocular dominance columns represent bands of cortical tissue alternately occupied by afferents from the left eye or right eye (Shatz & Stryker, 1978; Horton & Hocking, 1996; Adams *et al.*, 2007). These bands are particularly pronounced at the cortical layer IV, which receives the afferent endings of the lateral geniculate nucleus. Thus, the visual cortex is organized into functional maps of orientation, spatial frequency, ocular dominance, temporal frequency which are integrative to each other. This parallel organization of visual system is involved in the establishment of two major visual pathways: ventral and dorsal pathways which are vital for the object recognition. The ventral pathway is involved in the processing the characteristics of the objects (shapes, colours, materials), that is, object recognition including faces. The dorsal pathway in the cortex, which ends in the parietal lobe, is associated with spatial vision (action/location) of objects (Mishkin *et al.*, 1983; DiCarlo *et al.*, 2012).

The primary visual cortex, or area 17, is divided into six layers from layer 1 to layer 6 which comprise different types of neurons (Hubel & Wiesel, 1959). Each layer has its own peculiarities (Figure 1.1). The interconnectivity between primary visual cortical area is very specific. Functionally, layers 1-3 are often grouped together and called the superficial layers of the cortex. Layer 1 has very few neurons but many axons, dendrites and synapses. Layers 2 and 3 consists of a dense array of cell bodies and many local dendritic interconnections. These layers appear to receive a direct input from the LGN (Fitzpatrick *et al.*, 1983; Hendry & Yoshioka, 1994). The outputs from layers 2 and 3 are projected to other cortical areas. Layers 2 and 3 are hard to distinguish based on simple histological stains of the cortex therefore referred to as one when discussing their features. Layer 4 receives the primary input from the LGN body and sends the output to layer 5 and layer 6. Layer 5 contains relatively few cell bodies compared to the surrounding layers. It sends a major output to the superior colliculus, a structure in the midbrain. Layer 6 is dense with cells and sends a large output back to the LGN (Thomson & Bannister, 2003). Classically, superficial layers

project onto layer 4 and forward outputs to new cortical areas. The feedback projections tend to come from the deep layers and terminate in layers 1 and 6 (Felleman & Van Essen, 1991). But Constantinople and Bruno (Constantinople & Bruno, 2013) challenged the dogma of flow of information by reporting that deeper cortical layers along with layer 4 can be directly and simultaneously activated by the thalamic input in rats. This reflects that layer 5/6 is not necessarily the only port of information flow to other cortical layers.



Figure 1.1

A cross-section of the cerebral cortex showing layers of the cortex (https://imgur.com/gallery/xCAoW)

Hubel and Wiesel (Hubel & Wiesel, 1959) also observed that neurons responding to orientations were specifically organized. By introducing an electrode through the cortex perpendicular to the surface (Figure 1.2, left), they encountered neurons with similar properties regardless of whether they have simple or complex receptive fields, i.e. responding to similar orientations and stimuli from the same eye. Thus, the

concept of orientation selectivity in the columns was introduced. If the penetration angle was tangential (Figure 1.2, right), the neurons changed in a predictable way: the orientation selectivity of the neurons varied from 180° up until 1 mm of the cortex in a continuous way. It was deduced that, in this way, the electrode had passed through several orientation columns. However, it should be noted that the continuous variation of orientations on the same plane of the cortex can be broken punctually or on a so-called "fracture" line. When the electrode crosses these two types of discontinuity, the orientation can vary abruptly by an angle of more than 45° (Blasdel & Salama, 1986; Blasdel, 1992).



Figure 1.2

Penetrations of electrodes perpendicular (left) or parallel (right) to the cortical surface. The orientations giving the most response to each electrode progression are indicated in the vertical and horizontal bars

```
(ISBN: 9780781760034)
```

1.2.1. Associated visual areas

In addition to the primary visual cortex (V1), there are many neighbouring visual areas whose functions are crucial in visual processing. Secondary visual area V2 or area 18 of the cat shows strong reciprocal connections with primary visual area V1 or area17 (Symonds & Rosenquist, 1984; Salin *et al.*, 1995). V1

project its X geniculate cells inputs onto V2 (Freund *et al.*, 1985; Dreher *et al.*, 1992). Along with the structural association, these areas also undergo functional interactions towards orientation tuning, as it has been shown that inactivation of V1 changes the orientation sensitivity of V2 cells (Chabli *et al.*, 1998). It has also been shown that V2 modulates V1 responses, either by augmenting or by decreasing neuronal firing rates, without radically affecting their orientation or speed (Martinez-Conde *et al.*, 1999). The neurons in V2 share many properties with V1 area neurons (Bonhoeffer & Grinvald, 1993) though they also have many differences (Sengpiel *et al.*, 1999). The major difference between V1 and V2 is that V1 receives its input from LGN, and V2 additionally receives its input from V1. Thus, V1 and V2 have mutual relationship as they are dependent on feed-forward and feed-back inputs.

In a classical study (Symonds & Rosenquist, 1984), authors confirmed that corticocortical pathways in the cat visual system may originate not only from the traditionally found layer 2/3 but from any layer of the cortex. Layer 6 of area 19 and PMLS may project to area17 and PMLS alone to area 18 (Gilbert and Kelly, 1975; Kawamura and Naito, 1980). They additionally confirmed the revelations of previous studies (Shtaz, 1977; Innocenti, 1981; Segraves and Rosenquist, 1982) that projections from area 17 to outside originate from deeper layers of area 17.

The authors concluded through retrograde tracing and retinotopy technique that specific visual areas provide vital information to a set of visual areas locally anatomically located to that specific area whereas poses modulatory influences onto those visual areas that are located anatomically apart. Due to this reason, any single visual area cannot be placed in a hierarchical order with other visual areas because cells in a specific area might project forwards to backwards at the same time.

The mentioned study also revealed that projections to visual areas are evoked depending upon the target areas. Tracing of axons in different layers of area17 disclosed that projections that come out of area 17 are layer specific towards specific visual areas. In addition, another important revelation was made. A visual area receives its afferents from among different layer of the different cortical areas that supports the

discussion of this thesis. Therefore, all these areas are interconnected by neural projections that can be observed in a specific cortical area or between different areas.

1.3. Receptive field properties of neurons

The term receptive field was originally coined by Sherrington (Sherrington, 1906). Classically, receptive field defined by a region in space in which the presence of a feature excites the neuron and augments its firing (Hartline *et al.*, 1978). Receptive fields have been identified for neurons of the auditory system, the somatosensory system, and the visual system in response to spatial localisation, specific frequencies and amplitudes. Receptive fields can be empirically characterized by fixing the animal in space and presenting the feature, thus selectivity of a neuron can be determined. For example, random presentation of a series of sine-wave drifting gratings tilting gradually by small angles to a group of neurons in a primary visual cortex evokes neuronal responses to the specific angles. Layer 2/3 neurons preferentially respond to stimuli such as bars having characteristics as orientation, spatial frequency, direction, length. Neurons in different layers are classified into single cells, complex and hyper complex cells depending on the properties of their receptive fields. Simple cells are mainly found in layers 4 and 6 and have ON-OFF sub fields. Complex neurons do not have defined ON or OFF receptive fields, and a stimulus presented anywhere in the receptive field evokes a response, that is why complex cells have larger receptive fields than the simple cells. Therefore, a complex cell does not exhibit adjacent excitatory and inhibitory zones within its receptive field (Hubel & Wiesel, 1962). Layer 2/3 neurons are almost exclusively occupied by complex cells (Gilbert & Wiesel, 1979). Hyper complex cells are known to have very large receptive fields. They emerge when complex neurons' axons (interspersed with different orientations) converge. When a line is presented within the receptive field of a hyper complex cell, its response starts to decline beyond a specific length of the line because of the antagonistic excitatory and inhibitory regions (Hubel & Wiesel, 1965; Gilbert & Wiesel, 1979).

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.4 Neuronal Selectivity

The hallmark of the neurons in the somatosensory system, the auditory system, and the visual system is that they have organized receptive fields (Hubel & Wiesel, 1965; Kozlov & Gentner, 2016). Here neurons are selective to a specific range of stimuli (Hubel & Wiesel, 1959). The adjacent neurons in the primary visual cortex actively respond to edges or bars of contrast, when presented an orientation in their receptive field. Each neuron is programmed to respond to an "optimal orientation" for which its discharge activity or empirically defined firing rate is maximum. All orientations of an edge or a bar are represented in approximately equal proportions at the pinwheels (Figure 1.3), a region at the centre where all orientations intersect (converge). The English term pinwheel here describes the fact that the colored areas seem to turn around an axis like the wings of a reel (Maldonado et al., 1997). The orientation selectivity of neurons recorded from different regions of the cortical map varies from 0 to 1, where closer the OSI is to one, the stronger the orientation selectivity (Bachatene et al., 2012a; Cattan et al., 2014; Bachatene et al., 2015a; Bachatene et al., 2015b; Chanauria et al., 2016). For any neuron, these values are calculated by generating tuning curves of the neurons from the firing rates of the same neurons for different orientations (Butts & Goldman, 2006). A tuning curve is an empirical description and estimation of parameters that shows the best fitting model function for a single neuron (Swindale, 1998b). A cartoon is shown in Figure 1.4 depicting how a tuning curve is generated.





Changes in pinwheel organization at the same location in A17 and A18 (columns) in control (upper row), following adaptation (middle row) and recovery (lower row) conditions. The orientation inside the blue square under the colored bar indicates the adapting orientation (Cattan et al., 2014)





(A) Experimental setup where range of orientations are presented to the neurons (B) Variation of response (right) towards different orientations (left) (C) Following the recording of the neuronal response towards different orientations a tuning curve can be calculated and generated and a figure.

1.5. Physiological Classification of cells

Primary visual cortex is divided into different layers and different cells across layers perform specific function. Two types of cells are mainly observed in the visual cortex: pyramidal cells and inhibitory interneurons. Pyramidal cells are excitatory neurons projecting onto other brain regions whereas interneurons are inhibitory in nature and are mainly convoluted in feedback/ feedforward mechanisms (Tremblay et al., 2016). Each layer corresponds to specific cell type and connectivity in primary visual cortex. Pyramidal cells are found in layers 2/3, 5 and 6 and are the only neurons that send axons outside the cortex whereas layer 4 is dominated by stellate cells. The supragranular layers consist of layers 1 to 3 and layers 5 and 6 constitute the infragranular layers. Neurons recorded electro physiologically can be segregated into excitatory pyramidal cells and inhibitory interneurons based on ascending slope of the spike-waveform and based on their firing patterns (Niell & Stryker, 2008; Bachatene et al., 2012a; Bachatene et al., 2012b; Vinck et al., 2013; Bachatene et al., 2015a). The RS or regular spiking neurons, can be putatively linked to the pyramidal neurons, whereas the FS or fast spiking neurons may be associated to the inhibitory interneurons (Niell & Stryker, 2008; Bachatene et al., 2012a; Bachatene et al., 2012b; Vinck et al., 2013; Bachatene et al., 2015a). The major difference between an FS and an RS is that the FS has a steeper ascending slope than the RS (Niell & Stryker, 2008). In other words, the FS spike-width is smaller than the RS spike-width. In cats the dissociation of the interneurons and pyramidal cells based upon this technique is not entirely possible as pyramidal neurons may show the fast spiking outline (Nowak et al., 2003). Thus, it is to be considered while classifying or inferring the data based on ascending-slope discrimination of spike-waveforms in cats.

1.6 Similarity with other vertebrates

Over a period of years, monkeys, cats, and mice are being commonly used in neurophysiological experiments for understanding cortical mechanisms in general and visual pathways. The cats' visual system

is congruent to many species (Tyler *et al.*, 1998; Kaschube *et al.*, 2010) even to humans', thus making them a suitable model for understanding the brain better and even give insights into human brain function. Lower vertebrates like rats and mice have a salt-and-pepper cortical organisation and lack the orientation columns like cats, monkeys and humans. Yet, they exhibit neuronal selectivity as many orientations are intermingled in a small tissue volume (Ohki *et al.*, 2005; Van Hooser, 2007). Neurons in cat share similarity with neurons in primate in many ways e.g. the receptive fields in the retina and the LGN are concentrically arranged in cats and monkeys (Swindale, 1997; Jeffries *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, the X and Y ganglion cells classification is similar in function in monkeys and cats (Dreher *et al.*, 1976). Also, both simple and complex cells are found in primates and cats (Hubel & Wiesel, 1968). Additionally, experimentation in different models have established that the human visual system indeed shares the features with the cat visual system (Blake, 1979). Of course, it is undeniable that there are certain differences e. g. human visual system has much better color-discrimination power than the cat visual system (Loop & Bruce, 1978). For all the mentioned reasons, cats have been continuously chosen as a model for researchers in neuroscience to study and investigate different facets of the brain functioning.

1.7 Critical period and adult plasticity

During early development, the brain undergoes a period of enhanced plasticity known as the critical period. Critical period was introduced by the pioneering work of Wiesel and Hubel (Wiesel & Hubel, 1963) in their studies in the developing visual system of cats. The critical period can last from about 3 weeks to several months in cats. Critical periods are described as the times during which sensory experience is imperative for the development of the brain and to establish the circuitry of neurons constantly by varying experiences. This early experience drives inhibition between neurons and helps carve the critical period plasticity (Trachtenberg JT, 2015). The maturation of cortical inhibition just after eye-opening of the new born is also necessary for the establishment of experience-dependent ocular dominance plasticity in the visual cortex. Ocular dominance plasticity relies on counteraction between two eyes to drive cortical responses. Monocular occlusion leads to a behavioral reduction in responses to the deprived eye, an effect that is mediated in primary visual cortex (Prusky et al., 2000). Two decades ago, the first direct experimental control over the induction of ocular dominance plasticity was achieved by altering local circuit excitation/inhibition (E/I balance) (Hensch et al., 1998a). Subsequent experiments showed that the potential for plasticity is retained throughout life until an inhibitory threshold is attained (Fagiolini & Hensch, 2000). More specifically, it is the late maturation of inhibitory Parvalbumin-positive large basket (PV) cells that mediates this form of plasticity (Fagiolini et al., 2004). Do PV cells control the opening of critical periods for other receptive field properties across multiple sensory domains is unclear and is an active area of research. The maturation of excitatory circuits has also been implicated in critical period induction. For many years, synaptic plasticity at excitatory synapses alone was thought to control ocular dominance plasticity, but experimental manipulations failed to produce changes in vivo (Hensch & Stryker, 1996; Hensch et al., 1998b; Renger et al., 2002). However, mice with immature excitatory circuits arising from targeted gene-disruption of NR2A, a subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptor, fail to develop orientation selectivity despite normal visual experience (Fagiolini et al., 2003). Thus, the maturation of inhibitory and excitatory circuits controls distinct features of visual cortical plasticity. Rapid functional plasticity is converted to long lasting structural changes by a variety of pre- and postsynaptic mechanisms. Axonal outgrowth is inhibited when presynaptic Nogo receptors and PirB receptors bind to oligodendrocyte released Nogo, OMgp, and MAG (Atwal et al., 2008; Schwab, 2010). This, in turn, consolidates functional circuits and reduces plasticity (McGee et al., 2005; Syken et al., 2006). Postsynaptically, monocular deprivation increases proteolytic (tPA-plasmin) activity (Mataga et al., 2002), leading to increased dendritic spine motility (Oray et al., 2004). This is followed by transient elimination and regrowth of spines in favor of the non-deprived eye (Mataga et al., 2004). Along these lines, accelerating the maturation of dendritic spines by deletion of intracellular adhesion molecule 5 (Icam5) accelerates the window of plasticity for auditory thalamocortical connectivity (Barkat et al., 2011). Finally, molecular brakes on modulatory systems play an active role in suppressing plasticity in adulthood.

Depletion of catecholamines by the administration of 6-OH-dopamine, which selectively destroys dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons, prevents ocular dominance plasticity in kittens (Kasamatsu & Pettigrew, 1976; Bear *et al.*, 1983). Chronic administration of fluoxetine, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, can restore plasticity in adult visual cortex by increasing the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor, which had previously been implicated in developmental plasticity (Hanover *et al.*, 1999), and decreasing intracortical inhibition (Maya Vetencourt *et al.*, 2008). Finally, negative regulation of cholinergic modulation by Lynx1 facilitates E/I balance and prevents ocular dominance plasticity in adulthood (Morishita *et al.*, 2010). While many studies over the last forty years have uncovered mechanisms underlying plasticity within a sensory domain, how sensory experience affects the processing and organization across sensory modalities is much less clear.

Therefore, brain is referred to as plastic. The critical period is characterized by a heightened increase in excitation and inhibition right after birth, leading to a large reorganisation of neuronal network that become resilient with maturity.

1.8 Visual Adaptation and plasticity

Neurons have an amazing tendency to change their properties in response to the environment that confers the brain plasticity. It was considered that the orientation selectivity of the neurons in the cortical columns remains stable in the primary visual cortex established early in life during the "critical period" (Tanaka *et al.*, 2009). However, different studies in various laboratories have shown that even in mature brain, the neural network restructures beyond the critical period following birth (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Godde *et al.*, 2002). Adult V1 neurons modify their original selectivity acquired just after birth to a new preferred orientation following adaptation (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009; Bachatene *et al.*, 2012b; Cattan *et al.*, 2014). Nowadays, it is widely known that presentation of a prolonged non-optimal stimulus, called adapter, induces a change in neuronal selectivity. In other words, neurons learn to respond to a non-

preferred stimulus. This phenomenon is known as adaptation (Dragoi et al., 2000; Ghisovan et al., 2009; Bachatene et al., 2012b; Cattan et al., 2014). As a consequence of this adaptation, the neurons shift their tuning either towards or away from the adapter exhibiting attractive or repulsive shifts (Dragoi et al., 2000; Ghisovan et al., 2009; Bachatene et al., 2012b) and the cortex is remapped (Dragoi et al., 2000; Godde et al., 2002). This shift of orientation preference is defined as the plasticity of visual cortex. Similar results have been obtained for other features of the stimulus such as spatial frequency (Marshansky et al., 2011), direction of motion (Kohn & Movshon, 2004) and speed (Movshon, 1975). The cortices of higher mammals such as cats, monkeys and humans are organised into domains of selectivity called orientation columns. These columns extend down from layer 1 to layer 6. Reports demonstrate that layer 2/3 primary visual neurons show these classical attractive and repulsive shifts (Dragoi et al., 2000; Ghisovan et al., 2009; Bachatene et al., 2012b; Cattan et al., 2014). Layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons are one of the most important computational processing units in the cortical column to decipher the information flow within the cortical circuit (Gilbert & Wiesel, 1989; Kisvarday & Eysel, 1992; Binzegger et al., 2004; da Costa et al., 2010; Cain et al., 2016). Numerous studies suggest the importance of layer 2/3 and how adaptation affects these neurons (Dragoi et al., 2000; Ghisovan et al., 2009; Bachatene et al., 2012b; Cattan et al., 2014). Layer 5/6 neurons are continuously involved in feed forward and feedback loops in response to an input, but there is no evidence of how adaptation affects these neurons.

A study by Bachatene and co-authors (Bachatene *et al.*, 2015c) showed in superficial layers of the visual cortex that mean of amplitude of shift of adapted neurons was similar to the mean of the non-adapted neurons. The study exposed that along with the adapted neurons that acquire the new selectivity on adaptation, the neurons far away from the adapted site also acquired a new selectivity. The authors also showed that this process a systematic progression that starts by the acquisition of new selectivity by orientation column at the site of adaptation and is automatically acquired by the neurons in the neighbouring column respect to its previous column. The authors named the phenomenon as 'domino effect'. Therefore,

we assume that not only the neurons specific to a layer 2/3 change but all neurons down an orientation column change thereby exhibiting domino effect, consequently leading to whole cortex reprogramming.

1.9 Neuronal Connectivity within the primary visual cortex

The organization of synapses between neurons is fundamental to different brain functions. The dense and self-projecting local synaptic connectivity of neurons in the sensory cortex is not arbitrary. The connectivity patterns between cells have a role in the processing of specific brain regions. Neurons are anatomically connected through synapses. It was first exposed by (Sholl, 1956; Gilbert & Wiesel, 1979). In the visual cortex, a neuron carries tiny microscopic structures on the dendrites called spines. The spines keep on budding and shrinking in response to experiences (Alvarez & Sabatini, 2007). The study of modifying synapses have revealed that spines can emerge and disappear depending upon the input or may remain stable over a period (Kasai *et al.*, 2010; Dur-e-Ahmad *et al.*, 2011; Ebrahimi & Okabe, 2014; Jung & Herms, 2014; Hasegawa *et al.*, 2015; Kellner *et al.*, 2016). Thus, the cortex restores short- and long-term plastic changes.

Between neighboring neurons, e.g. within 100 micrometers in the supragranular layers of the cortex, neurons make up to 3-6 contacts with each other (Hellwig, 2000; Frick *et al.*, 2008; Stepanyants *et al.*, 2008; Brown & Hestrin, 2009) whereas this probability may decrease substantially with distance (only one contact beyond 500 micrometers) (Hellwig, 2000). Neurons may also make lateral synaptic connections in the cortex. e.g., in the monkey prefrontal cortex, monosynaptic connections may exist between excitatory neurons across cortices (Melchitzky *et al.*, 2001). The translation of sensory information from the outside world needs a coherent representation in the brain, and it is a due to the emergence of coordinated and harmonized firing activity of groups of neurons (Alivisatos *et al.*, 2012). These groups of neurons that synchronize together to perform a computational task are called cell assemblies (Hebb, 1949). Several studies have reported the co-activation of small groups of neurons in response to applied stimuli (Fujisawa

et al., 2008; Buzsaki, 2010; Denman & Contreras, 2014; Schwindel *et al.*, 2014; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2015; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2016). Some have highlighted the significance of functional networks within these assemblies (Fujisawa *et al.*, 2008; Buzsaki, 2010; Harris & Mrsic-Flogel, 2013; Singer, 2013; Denman & Contreras, 2014; Miller *et al.*, 2014; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2015; Carrillo-Reid *et al.*, 2015; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2016). While these studies have primarily demonstrated the existence of the cell assemblies in superficial layers, coordinated activities between individual neurons in superficial and deeper layers is not very well explored yet.

Although it has been known that the neocortex is anatomically and functionally columnar, the size of the neocortex, its cell composition, synaptic organization, expression of signaling molecules, and function of various types of "columns" are dramatically different to each other (Mountcastle, 1997). The basic repeating unit of the mature neocortex is the minicolumn. A minicolumn contains a narrow chain of neurons extending vertically across the cellular layers 2-6 and perpendicular to the pial surface (Mountcastle, 1978). Minicolumns contain essential different neural cell types, interconnected vertically. Many minicolumns form cortical columns. Columns only vary from 300 to 600 µm in diameter, across species even if brains differ in volume by a factor of 10 (Mountcastle, 1997). The laminar location of cortical neurons, their cell bodies, is determined during the development (Popovitchenko & Rasin, 2017). Neurons have complicated morphologies and properties that typically span multiple layers. Therefore, it is essential to refer to neurons from a specific layer. e.g. a neuron whose cell body lies in layer 5 will be known as layer 5 cell. However, this cell having its body in layer 5 is distributed across multiple cortical layers through its dendrites and axon. Thus, it is the merging of different components of neurons and connectivity patterns in the layered cortex that needs to be taken into account (Major et al., 2013). In cats, L1 consists mainly of axon terminals from subcortical sources synapsing onto apical dendrites of pyramidal cells whose somata and feedforward inputs to basal dendrites that are in deeper layers (Herkenham, 1980; Felleman & Van Essen, 1991; Binzegger et al., 2004; Rubio-Garrido et al., 2009; Cruikshank et al., 2012). Layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 work in parallel but independently in processing the stimuli. They are highly

interconnected eg. it was found in an in-vitro study (Thomson *et al.*, 2002), that layer 3 pyramidal cell synapsed onto a large layer 5 pyramidal cell in cat V1. The structural study of the connections by the same group (Kisvarday *et al.*, 1986) reported two layer 3 pyramidal cells axons in cat V1 synapsed with both superficial and deep layers with spiny cells and GABAergic smooth dendrites. In another study (Koestinger *et al.*, 2018) using serial section electron, microscopic reconstructions revealed a heterogenous postsynaptic dendrite originating from both smooth and spiny neurons, indicating that the descending projection does not merely drive the layer 5 output cells, but participates in a complex circuitry in the deep layers. Distinct L5 populations are differentially connected with superficial layers and with each other that suggest the existence of distinct subnetworks within neocortical circuits (Lefort *et al.*, 2009; Feldmeyer, 2012). It appears that although there is extensive interconnectivity with cells that share functional properties. Therefore, it was of interest to explore how neuronal connectivity exists between superficial and deeper layer neurons in response to adaptation protocols. For this purpose, to calculate the functional connectivity, cross-correlation computation was implemented.



Figure 1.5

Possible cross correlograms between two neurons (a reference and a target). A typical cross correlogram between two neurons, to interpret the relation between them, is obtained by keeping one of the neurons as

reference and calculating the spikes of the other neuron with reference to it (Bachatene et al., 2012).

Figure 1.5 displays possible patterns of cross correlograms between two neurons. The three examples illustrate the time relations between two neurons as revealed by shifted and corrected cross correlograms when one neuron is reference and the other is the target. To eliminate the possibility of stimulus-inducedrelationship between two neurons, a shifted cross correlogram is obtained. A shift corrected cross correlogram is a histogram obtained by shifting the spikes of the reference cell by one or two cycles of stimulation. After this, the shifted cross correlogram is subtracted (corrected) to remove the stimulus-locked -component. Figure 1.5a corresponds to an example of a target cell projecting onto the reference cell. In this case, the target neuron fires few milliseconds before the reference cell since the peak of the cross correlogram appears few milliseconds before zero. This means that the target cell caused the reference cell to spike. Figure 1.5b corresponds to the reference cell projecting onto the target cell. In this example, the target neuron fires a few milliseconds after the reference cell as the peak of the cross correlogram can be seen a few milliseconds after zero. Here the target cell was excited by the reference cell. Figure 1.5c attributes to the synchrony between two neurons, as the peak straddles zero, or the peak can be seen on both sides of the zero. This indicates a common excitatory input to both neurons which probably is mostly from other neuron/ neurons. In all the three examples the peak is traced only within the 5 ms offset of zero as 5 ms has been the popular standard time window used to reveal the functional connections between the neurons (Alloway and Roy, 2002; Bharmauria et al., 2015; Bharmauria et al., 2016).

2.0 Plasticity at multisensory convergence regions

The processing of the real-world stimulus involves multiple senses and processing. This complex task takes place in the brainstem. Information from multiple sensory modalities meets at the superior colliculus to

direct eye movements and behavior (Sprague, 1972; Stein et al., 1980; Meredith & Stein, 1983). This is a dominant feature observed across species such as mammals (Stein et al., 1980), birds (Knudsen, 1983), reptiles (Hartline et al., 1978), and fish (Roeser & Baier, 2003). Multisensory integration depends upon sensory experience and develops by more experience e.g., after monocular deprivation vision may guide the spatial location of an auditory stimulus (Knudsen & Knudsen, 1985). The NMDA receptors play a significant role in mediating the expression of new neuronal responses induced by experience (Feldman et al., 1996) while inhibitory circuits functionally suppress the original responses (Zheng & Knudsen, 1999). This kind of early experience leaves a long-lasting effect even after normal sensory experience has been restored (Linkenhoker et al., 2005) which might explain the enhanced plasticity in adult owls (Knudsen, 1998). In mammals, interactions between superior colliculus (SC) and other associated multisensory areas has been very well studied and SC has been identified as the convergence zone of processing multisensory stimuli. The processing of visual and auditory representations in the SC also depends on the age and the experience (King et al., 1988; Wallace & Stein, 1997). In cats, integration in the SC is dependent on input from the anterior ectosylvian sulcus (AES) (Wallace et al., 1993; Wallace & Stein, 1994). This territory in the cortex contains cells that respond to unisensory and multisensory stimuli such as auditory, visual, and somatosensory stimuli (Wallace et al., 1992; Jiang et al., 1994). It has been demonstrated that reversible deactivation of AES reduces specific multisensory response enhancement without affecting a neuron's modality-specific response (Jiang et al., 2001). Classically, this sort of multisensory integration was thought to occur in higher-order association cortices after primary unisensory processing (Felleman & Van Essen, 1991). More recently, it has been shown that multisensory integration can occur in areas previously suspected as unisensory. Visual and somatosensory processing has been reported in early auditory areas (Foxe et al., 2000; Schroeder & Foxe, 2002; Brosch et al., 2005), and individual neurons in cat visual cortex can be driven by auditory stimuli (Morrell, 1972). These results have challenged the traditional views of cortical processing (Wallace et al., 2004) and promote the fact that neocortex could be multisensory when interacting with the outside environment (Ghazanfar & Schroeder, 2006).
CHAPTER 2: HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVE

2.1 Hypothesis

Neuroplasticity exists due to changing in response properties of the cortical neurons in response to a longterm occurrence of a visual input. Primary visual cortex (V1) has been the most studied area in the brain and the neurons here are inherently sensitive towards a feature. Neurons are grouped into small columns according to their response preferences towards that feature. These columns are systematically organised at regularly spaced intervals and cover the entire cortical representation of the visual field. V1 neurons responding to an orientation in different layers of the V1 give rise to the orientation columns that run down from layer 1 to layer 6. This property can be modified by enforcing different stimuli on the V1 neurons for different time intervals. Therefore, V1 neurons are magnificently plastic. Using plasticity of V1 neurons as a tool, visual neurons can be used to study the adaptation effects on the neurons by imposing a non-preferred stimulus. Layer 2/3 neurons or superficial layer neurons exhibit traditional shifts in the orientation selectivity measured by tuning curves. Since layer 5/6 neurons comprise of extensive dendritic trees, these neurons are believed to be the most important information processing units that constantly are found implicated in the neurons' regulatory mechanisms. Despite several adaptation studies, it remains unexplored how these neurons respond to visual adaptation when stimulated simultaneously with layer 2/3neurons at the same time down the column. Typically, visual information is received by layer 4 neurons from LGN and processed within the supra-granular layers (layer 2/3) of the visual cortex and then projected to deeper layer neurons (layer 5/6). Therefore, layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons are the principal units in the cortical computational processing to make sense of the information flow within the cortical circuit. However, how the neurons in the two layers communicate with each other in response to the visual adaptation remains unexplored.

Sensory cortex has been assumed to be fundamentally multisensory due to varied observations as an outcome of comparative studies of responses when visual neurons were stimulated both by light and sound. It does not appear suspicious because visual neurons are inherently dominant to a visual stimulus, but by coupling the two different stimuli – audio and visual, enhanced response were observed by the same neurons that were exposed to only light (Atilgan *et al.*, 2018). Recently, researchers have confirmed a modulation of the response in mice V1 neurons when excited indirectly by presenting a different sensory input (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016). Primarily, these results had been observed in mice. Therefore, we wanted to explore how V1 neurons in cats, where the V1 organisation is columnar, respond to a prolonged adaptation with an auditory stimulus.



Figure 2.1

A model illustrating domino effect originating within the supragranular layers of the orientation columns

and extending downwards to infragranular layers down the column.

Therefore, the two hypotheses are:

1) During adaptation, the entire orientation column is modified thereby exhibiting domino effect, that consequently leads to the whole cortex reprogramming.

2) Visual neurons when adapted with a repetitive sound stimulus, change their selectivity and attain new orientation preferences as a result of their multisensory properties.

2.2 Objectives

The above hypotheses lead to three objectives:

- 1) To investigate how the infra-granular cells (layer 5/6) respond to visual adaptation.
- To cross correlate the spike trains of neuron pairs of layers 2/3 and layer 5/6 to reveal the functional connection and observe how adaptation affects this functional connectivity.
- 3) To investigate how acoustic stimulation impinges upon supra and infragranular neurons.

In the current study, we record supragranular and infragranular layer neurons simultaneously using a multichannel depth electrode contacting V1 at 300-500 μ m and ~1100 μ m and adapt the neurons under observation continuously uninterrupted for 12 min. The novelty of the current study lies in the fact that, neuronal activity from the adapted upper and deeper layer neurons of the cortical column has never been recorded simultaneously which underlines the importance of how neurons in a cortical column behave with respect to each other towards adaptation. This work is promising as it allows us to amplify our knowledge on the plasticity of adult brain which may have implications in the field of physiological and clinical studies such as neuromodulation by non-invasive brain stimulation (NBS), electro-convulsive therapy (ECT) and even be extended to neurological disorders by blocking further brain damage e.g. Stroke, Parkinson's disease, Dystonia, (Thickbroom & Mastaglia, 2009).

Previous recordings in the primary visual cortex, using a similar approach, have led to a solid understanding of the behaviour of neurons towards adapter gratings for different durations of time. It has been found that groups of neurons recorded from a recording site share similar orientation selectivity. In layer 2/3, it has been confirmed that group of neurons recorded from one site is affected by an identical mechanism in response to the external stimulus called 'adapter' (Nemri *et al.*, 2009). Dragoi and authors (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000) showed that neurons recorded (single-unit recordings) between cortical depths 500-1500 μ m show a shift in orientation tuning in response to gratings (separated by 22.5°) when adapted for 2 min. This study also revealed that neuronal shifts are independent of cortical depth. Therefore, based on prior investigations, we suppose layer 5/6 neurons to attain new selectivity towards adaptation mechanism. More importantly, comparative results of simultaneously recorded neurons will be revealed as these will be one of the original results of this thesis. The depth criteria for the two layers will be estimated mainly by LFPs patterns and multiunit neuronal activity. Together these physiological methods will give an insight into the understanding of interlayer interactions in response towards adaptation.

It is apparent from present-day investigations that apart from the layer-specific differences in morphological features, many functional properties of neurons are also dependent on cortical layer or cell type. Besides, the cortical columnar microcircuitry is viewed as a block of interconnected yet distinct neuronal networks in which each layer possesses somewhat unique patterns with different inputs, projection targets, and feedback connections (Mountcastle, 1997, Callaway, 1998, Douglas and Martin, 2004, Harris and Shepherd, 2015). Therefore, we might observe some differences from the expected results.

Further insights would be gathered by testing responses of visual neurons towards sound stimulation. Whether the visual neurons respond towards sound? How will visual adaption differ from an auditory adaptation of visual neurons? Will sound increase or decrease the potential plasticity in our model? The results would be highly significant as the adaptation protocols can be compared with respect to the tuning properties of the visual neurons, and new insights can be gathered for future explorations.

Neurons sharing orientation preference are mostly connected with each other and are represented by the iso-orientation domains in an orientation map. Neurons situated close to pinwheels are connected to neurons

having a wide range of orientation preference (Maldonado *et al.*, 1997; Schummers *et al.*, 2004). This investigation is based on electrophysiological recordings; therefore, we might observe some differences due to the fact that the locations of neurons in the orientation map can affect their shift amplitude, the direction of shift, etc. This study focuses more toward a comparison between the global response pattern of supra- and infragranular neurons and not on response behaviour of an individual neuron. However, on a more in-depth examination, individual cells might display different responses.

Presently, using similar strategies, new results have been exposed in rodents. Using electrophysiology Ibrahim and co-authors (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016) have demonstrated sharpening of orientation tuning curves towards an auditory stimulus. Iurilli and colleagues (Iurilli *et al.*, 2012) have also revealed that the presentation of a high-amplitude sound stimulus resulted in the hyperpolarization of the membrane potential of V1 neurons resulting in inhibition.

CHAPTER 3: COMPARATIVE EFFECTS OF

ADAPTATION ON LAYERS II- III AND V-VI NEURONS IN CAT V1

Chanauria Nayan¹, Bharmauria Vishal^{1,2}, Bachatene Lyes^{1,3}, Cattan Sarah¹, Rouat Jean^{1,4}, Molotchnikoff Stephane¹

¹Neurophysiology of Visual System, Département de Sciences Biologiques, Université de Montréal, CP 6128 Succursale Centre-Ville, Montréal, QC, H3C 3J7, Canada.

²The Visuomotor Neuroscience Lab, Centre for Vision Research, Faculty of Health, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada.

³Department of Nuclear Medicine and Radiobiology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences (CHUS),

 $SNAIL \,|\, Sherbrooke, Neuro\, Analysis\, and\, Imaging\, Lab,\, University\, of\, Sherbrooke,\, Sherbrooke,\, QC,\, Canada.$

⁴Département de Génie Électrique et Génie Informatique, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

(This is a published article in the European Journal of Neuroscience)

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27740707

3.1 Abstract

V1 is fundamentally grouped into columns that descend from layers II-III to V-VI. Neurons inherent to visual cortex are capable of adapting to changes in the incoming stimuli that drive the cortical plasticity. A principle feature called orientation selectivity can be altered by the presentation of non-optimal stimulus called 'adapter'. When triggered, LGN cells impinge upon layer IV and further relay the information to deeper layers via layers II-III. Using different adaptation protocols, neuronal plasticity can be investigated. Superficial neurons in area V1 are well acknowledged to exhibit attraction and repulsion by shifting their tuning peaks when challenged by a non-optimal stimulus. Layers V–VI neurons in spite of partnering layers II-III neurons in cortical computation have not been explored simultaneously toward adaptation. We believe that adaptation not only affects cells specific to a layer but modifies the entire column. In this study, through simultaneous multiunit recordings in anesthetized cats using a multichannel depth electrode, we show for the first time how layers V–VI neurons (1000–1200 µm) along with layers II–III neurons (300– 500 µm) exhibit plasticity in response to adaptation. Our results demonstrate that superficial and deeper layer neurons react synonymously toward adapter by exhibiting similar behavioral properties. The neurons displayed similar amplitude of shift and maintained equivalent sharpness of Gaussian tuning peaks before and the following adaptation. It appears that a similar mechanism, belonging to all layers, is responsible for the analog outcome of the neurons' experience with adapter.

3.2 Introduction

Neuroplasticity refers to the brain's ability to reorganize itself as a result of experience. It was previously thought that neuroplasticity declines with aging, but it is now well established that neurons in the mature brain can alter their properties, too (Holtmaat & Svoboda, 2009). Several experiments using specific protocols (such as visual deprivation, environmental enriching, and adaptation) have demonstrated that neurons can modify their properties well into adulthood. Visual adaptation has been the approach to understanding the phenomenon of plasticity and we continue to uncover new findings in different regions of the brain.

Visual cortex (V1) is the classical model to study neuronal plasticity. V1 cortices of higher mammals are organized into domains of preferred selectivity known as orientation columns. Neuronal orientation selectivity can be altered by imposing a non-optimal stimulus (adapter) within receptive fields of neurons for a certain period (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Kohn, 2007; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009; Nemri *et al.*, 2009; Bachatene *et al.*, 2012; Cattan *et al.*, 2014). Contingent upon the stimulus duration, neurons change their orientation selectivity either toward or away from the adapter, exhibiting attractive or repulsive shifts, respectively (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Kohn, 2007; Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013). Shorter adaptation durations (< 3 min) largely produce repulsive shifts (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000), whereas longer duration adaptation (up to 12 min) imparts attractive shifts (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013; Cattan *et al.*, 2014).

An orientation column is divided into supragranular or upper layers (layers I and II–III), the central granular layer (layer IV), and infragranular or lower layers (layers V and VI). Neurons in a column are highly similar with respect to stimulus properties such as orientation, direction, speed, contrast, spatial frequency, etc. (Hubel *et al.*, 1977; Blasdel & Salama, 1986). Conventionally, information is received by layer IV neurons from the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN), processed in the supragranular layers of the visual cortex, and then projected on to infragranular neurons. Interestingly, recently investigators (Agmon

& Connors, 1992; Meyer *et al.*, 2010; Wimmer *et al.*, 2010; Oberlaender *et al.*, 2012; Constantinople & Bruno, 2013; Rah *et al.*, 2013; Pluta *et al.*, 2015) have shown that deeper cortical layers receive direct thalamic input that activates infragranular neurons. This suggests that layer IV is not necessarily the only port of information flow to other cortical layers.

Historically, numerous studies have investigated the effects of adaptation on layers II–III neurons (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013, 2015; Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013; Cattan *et al.*, 2014). One of these reports (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000) has shown that neurons recorded between 500 and 1500 µm of cortical depth also display a shift in orientation tuning in response to the adapter. However, no report has simultaneously explored the effects of adaptation on layers II–III and V–VI neurons. As the cortical column extends from layers II–III to V–VI, and because of extensive connectivity (Helmstaedter *et al.*, 2009; Jiang *et al.*, 2013; DeNardo *et al.*, 2015; Lee *et al.*, 2015) between supra- and infragranular neurons, we hypothesize that effect of adaptation is not confined to specific layer of the cortex but it prevails throughout the column, subsequently gained by neurons of adjacent columns, leading to whole cortex reprogramming. Therefore, it is of interest to simultaneously examine the effects of adaptation on both layers II–III and V–VI.

We used anesthetized cats to investigate the effects of adaptation on simultaneously recorded supraand infragranular layer neurons using a multichannel depth electrode in V1 at 300–500 μ m and 1000– 1200 μ m from the surface. We found that layers II–III and V–VI neurons exhibited comparable attractive and repulsive shifts with no significant differences in the average shift amplitudes and orientation selectivity. In line with our recent findings (Bachatene *et al.*, 2015) and the results of this investigation, we suggest that supra- and infragranular layer neurons change their selectivity in parallel in response to adaptation which possibly explains that supra- and infragranular neurons interact with each other in a column. This study also points toward specific feedforward and feedback loops between supra- and infragranular neurons that may be responsible for robust functional reprogramming of orientation columns in V1 (Bachatene *et al.*, 2015).

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Ethical approval

Electrophysiological recordings were performed in the area 17 of six adult domestic cats (*Felis catus*) of either sex. The animal surgery procedure and electrophysiological recordings were performed according to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Montreal. Animals were supplied by the Division of Animal Resources of the University of Montreal. Experiments were carried out in accordance with the guidelines approved by the NIH in the USA, the Canadian Council on Animal Care, and the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of University of Montreal (CDEA) regarding the care and use of animals for experimental procedures.

3.3.2 Anesthesia

Cats were first sedated with acepromazine maleate [1 mg/kg, intra-muscular (i.m.), Atravet; Wyeth-Ayerst, Guelph, ON, Canada] and atropine sulfate (0.04 mg/kg, i.m., Atrosa; Rafter, Calgary, AB, Canada), and anesthetized with ketamine hydrochloride (25 mg/kg, i.m., Rogarsetic; Pfizer, Kirkland, QC, Canada). Anesthesia was maintained during the surgery with isoflurane ventilation (2%, AErrane; Baxter, Toronto, ON, Canada). After the surgery, cats were paralyzed by perfusion of gallamine triethiodide (40 mg/kg, intravenous, Flaxedil; Sigma Chemical, St Louis, MO, USA), fixed in a stereotaxic apparatus, and artificially ventilated with O₂/N₂O (30: 70) mixture containing isoflurane (0.5%). Paralysis was maintained by perfusion of gallamine triethiodide (10 mg/kg/h) in 5% dextrose lactated Ringer's nutritive solution throughout the experiment.

3.3.3 Surgery

Lidocaine hydrochloride (2%; Xylocaine, AstraZeneca, Mississauga, ON, Canada) was injected subcutaneously as a local anesthetic during the surgery. A tracheotomy was performed for artificial ventilation, and one forelimb vein was cannulated. Before fixing the animals on the stereotaxic apparatus, xylocaine gel (5%; Astra Pharma, Mississauga, ON, Canada) was applied on the pressure points to reduce pain and sensation. Proper depth of anesthesia was ensured throughout the experiment by monitoring the EEG, the electrocardiogram, and the expired CO₂. The end-tidal CO₂ partial pressure was kept constant between 25 and 30 mmHg. A heated pad was placed beneath the cat to maintain a body temperature of 37.5 °C. Tribrissen (30 mg/kg/day, subcutaneous; Schering-Plough, PointeClaire, QC, Canada) and Duplocillin (0.1 mL/kg, intra-muscular; Intervet, Withby, ON, Canada) were administered to the animals to prevent bacterial infection. A craniotomy $(1 \times 1 \text{ cm})$ was performed over the primary visual cortex (area 17/18, Horsley-Clarke co-ordinates P0-P6; L0-L6). The underlying dura was removed, and the depth electrode was positioned in area 17. The pupils were dilated with atropine sulfate (1%; Isopto-Atropine, Alcon, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and the nictitating membranes were retracted with phenylephrine hydrochloride (2.5%; Mydfrin, Alcon). Plano contact lenses with artificial pupils (5 mm diameter) were placed on the cat's eyes to prevent the cornea from drying (University of Montreal, PQ, Canada). At the end of each experiment, the cats were killed with a lethal dose of pentobarbital sodium (100 mg/kg; Somnotol, MTC Pharmaceuticals, Cambridge, ON, Canada) by an intravenous injection.

3.3.4 Visual stimulation

Stimulation was performed monocularly. After clearly detectable activity was obtained, the multiunit receptive fields (RF) were mapped by using a hand-held ophthalmoscope (Barlow *et al.*, 1967). Receptive field edges were determined by moving a light bar from the periphery toward the center until a response was evoked. Visual stimuli were generated with a VSG 2/5 graphic board (Cambridge Research Systems,

Rochester, England) and displayed on a 21-inch Monitor (Sony GDM-F520 Trinitron, Tokyo, Japan) placed 57 cm from the cat's eyes, with 1024×768 pixels, running at 100 Hz frame refresh. This is schematized in Fig. 3.1A. Stimuli were drifting sine-wave gratings covering the excitatory RF (Maffei *et al.*, 1973). The receptive fields were located centrally within a 15° radius from the fovea. Contrast and mean luminance were set at 80% and 40 cd/m², respectively. Optimal spatial and temporal frequencies were set at 0.24 cycles/deg and in the range 1.0–2.0 Hz (at these values V1 neurons are driven maximally) by sine-wave drifting gratings (Bardy *et al.*, 2006).



Figure 3.1

(A) Cartoon showing the two depths at which electrode tips contact V1. A summary of the protocol is also shown below figure (B). To the left, a histological section of cat V1 showing the correct positioning of electrode and recording depth. On the right, local field potentials for layers II–III and V–VI, recorded for a single electrode penetration is shown. (C) An example of neuronal spike sorting employing spike waveforms, principal component analysis, and auto correlograms.

3.3.5 Electrophysiological recording

Multiunit activity in the primary visual cortex was recorded using a tungsten multichannel depth electrode (0.1–0.8 M Ω at 1 KHz; Alpha Omega Co. USA Inc.; Fig. 3.1A, right). The recordings were performed in both hemispheres of the cat's brain. The electrode consisted of four microelectrodes in a linear array (interelectrode spacing 500 µm) enclosed in stainless steel tubing. The signal from the microelectrodes was amplified, band-pass filtered (300 Hz–3 KHz), digitized, and recorded with a 0.05 ms temporal resolution (Spike2, CED, Cambridge, UK). We recorded at average cortical depths of 300–500 and 1000–1200 µm simultaneously from both sites. To further confirm the location of contacting electrodes, histological staining and local field potentials (LFP's) were recorded for every site where the electrode tip was lowered. Figure 3.1B (left) shows a histological section of area 17 and confirms the location of the electrode at the appropriate depth. Furthermore, LFPs were recorded (low-pass filtered between 10 and 100 Hz) to observe the sink-source dipoles. To evoke LFP's, a series of drifting gratings oriented at 0°–157.5° separated by 22.5° was presented (each oriented flash lasted 100 ms) covering the whole screen of the monitor. Figure 3.1B (right) displays the LFP traces of layers II–III and V–VI neurons. The inversion of polarity (positive–negative LFP, red arrows) at both electrodes further validates the correct positioning of electrodes.

The multiunit activity of neurons was recorded simultaneously from layers II–III and V–VI. Figure 3.1C (right) shows an example of neuronal isolation (spike sorting) from the multiunit activity. Spike sorting was done offline using Spike2 package, CED, Cambridge, England. The single units were discriminated based upon the spike waveforms, principal component analysis (PCA), and auto correlograms (ACG). The respective PCA, ACGs, and spike waveforms are shown to the right (Fig. 3.1C).

3.3.6 Adaptation protocol

After manually mapping the receptive fields, eight different orientations were presented randomly one-byone within the receptive fields of the neurons. Eight oriented sine-wave drifting gratings were presented in a random order ranging from 0° to 157.5° at regular intervals of 22.5°. Each orientation was presented in a block of 25 trials (each trial lasted 4.1 s) with varying inter-stimulus (1–3 s) intervals during which no stimulus was presented. Thus, the presentation of one oriented drifting grating lasted ~180 s (including all trials and inter-stimulus intervals; Fig. 3.1A). Once the control orientation tuning curves were characterized, an adapting oriented stimulus (non-optimal orientation) was presented continuously for 12 min (Fig. 3.1A) within the receptive fields of neurons. The adapting stimulus was a drifting grating whose orientation was chosen based on the multiunit activity values obtained at control conditions and was generally set within 22.5°–67.5° of the neurons' preferred orientations. No recordings were performed during this adaptation period. Immediately after the adaptation procedure, recordings were performed starting with the adaptor orientation and initially preferred orientation followed by recording of remaining orientations in a random fashion. Finally, the tuning curves were computed as below.

3.3.7 Data

The Gaussian tuning fits were computed for neurons pre- and post-adaptation using the function below:



where y_0 is the offset, xc is the center, w is the width, and A represents the area under the Gaussian fit. The firing rates were normalized in Prism and Gaussian tuning curves were generated in the scientific software

Origin. The direction and magnitude of shifts were calculated as the distance between peak positions of the fitted Gaussian tuning curves before and after adaptation (the difference between the initially preferred and newly acquired). An attractive shift was attributed to the displacement peak of the orientation tuning curve in the direction of the adapter while a repulsive shift was indicated by a displacement of the tuning peak in opposite direction (away from the adapter). As indicated in the methods these displacements should be $> 5^{\circ}$ to be considered as a significant shift.

Moreover, we also measured the orientation selectivity index (OSI) of a neuron by dividing the firing rate at the orthogonal orientation by the firing rate at the preferred orientation and subtracting the result from 1 (Ramoa *et al.*, 2001; Liao *et al.*, 2004; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013). The closer the OSI is to 1, the stronger the orientation selectivity. Finally, the sorted neurons were classified into regular and fast spikes on the basis of the spike width (Bartho *et al.*, 2004; Schwindel *et al.*, 2014; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2015). Spikes with a width ≤ 0.3 ms were identified as fast spiking neurons (FS) and > 0.3 ms as regular spiking (RS) neurons.

3.3.8 Statistical tests

Three datasets were tested for statistics: (i) amplitudes of shift (attractive and repulsive) values; (ii) OSI values of neurons pre- and post-adaptation; and (iii) spike-width values. These data were tested for normal distribution using the D'Agostino & Pearson omnibus normality test. Based on the results obtained, parametric student *t*-test (unpaired) was applied to the values of shift amplitudes. Furthermore, all four groups (attractive shift values in layers II–III and V and repulsive shift values in layers II–III and V) were compared with ANOVA. On the other hand, non-parametric Mann–Whitney test was employed to the values of OSI and spike width of neurons as these distributions were not normal. The Pearson coefficient was calculated to find any correlation between the data groups. To infer the difference in proportions *z*-test was used. Consequently, comparisons were drawn between attractive and repulsive populations and spike-width

values obtained for either layer. Finally, a regression analysis was done to find correlation between spikewidth values and amplitude of attractive and repulsive shifts.

3.4 Results

The goal of this investigation was to explore the effect of adaptation on simultaneously recorded neurons from supra- and infragranular layers. In total, 97 neurons were recorded and analyzed for the effects of 12 min adaptation on each layer. A comparative post-adaptation behavioral distribution of cells in either layer is shown in Fig. 3.2. The gray shades and green shades represent the supra- and infragranular layers, respectively. The color scheme is respected throughout the manuscript. In fact, neurons in both layers exhibited similar shift tendencies. The graph on the upper right shows the proportion of cells showing attractive and repulsive shifts. On comparing the proportion of attractive shifts between the two layers, infragranular neurons exhibited a higher proportion (P = 0.05, *t*-test) of attractive shifts as compared to supragranular neurons. However, this is not the case for repulsive shifts (P = 0.70394, *t*-test).



Figure 3.2

Comparative distribution of neurons according to the behavior shown after 12 min of adaptation. The graph on the upper right side compares proportion of neurons exhibiting attractive and repulsive shifts.

A part of the remaining population refracted the adapter and did not show any significant shift ($< 5^{\circ}$) in orientation tuning (Bachatene *et al.*, 2013, 2015; Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013). The corresponding proportion of repulsive shifts for both layers was found to be comparable (06 neurons in supra- and 07 in infragranular layers). A fraction of tuned (T) neurons lost their selectivity post-adaptation and was categorized as T-U (17 in supra- and 20 in infragranular layers). Moreover, some untuned (U) neurons acquired novel selectivity after adaptation and were categorized as U-T (20 neurons in supra- and 09 in infragranular layers). A proportion analysis was not performed on these latter datasets as we were primarily interested in comparing only attractive and repulsive behaviors across layers. Such novel selectivity has been reported previously in mice (Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013). It is to be underlined that neurons with an orientation selectivity index (OSI) < 0.5 were classified as untuned (Bharmauria *et al.*, 2015, 2016). Finally, a minority of neurons (09 in supra- and 05 in infragranular layers) remained untuned before and after adaptation (U to U).

3.4.1 Layers II-III and V-VI primary visual neurons co-ordinate to acquire a novel preference

The effects of adaptation have been extensively studied in layers II–III neurons (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013, 2015; Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013; Cattan *et al.*, 2014). Because a column extends from layers II–III to V–VI, it was of interest to investigate the effects of adaptation on simultaneously recorded neurons from both layers. Thus, we examined the post-adaptation orientation tuning curves of simultaneously recorded layers II–III and V–VI neurons. Figure 3.3 shows typical examples of adaptation effects (shifts in orientation selectivity) on both layers after 12 min of adaptation. In Fig. 3.3A, an example of each type of effect (attractive, repulsive, and no shift) is shown for layers II–III. The top and middle rows show the raw tuning curves of neurons pre- and post-adaptation. The superimposed Gaussian fits are shown at the bottom demonstrating the shifts. To the left, an attractive shift is illustrated. In the control condition, the neuron was optimally tuned to 158.47° (OSI = 0.9; $R^2 = 0.6$). After adapting the neuron for 12 min with a 45° grating (red arrow), the selectivity of the neuron (OSI = 0.9; $R^2 = 0.5$) shifted toward the adapter (57.34°), that is, the neuron exhibited an attractive shift. The middle column shows an example of a repulsive shift. The neuron in this case changed its preference away from 91.24° (OSI = 0.9; $R^2 = 0.8$) to 30.77° (OSI = 0.9; $R^2 = 0.6$) after being challenged with 112° adapter. Similarly, the third column (extreme right) illustrates an example of a refractory neuron. This neuron did not change its preference after adaptation with 45° grating and maintained its selectivity at approximately 67°. The selectivity minutely changed from 67.1° (OSI = 0.8; $R^2 = 0.5$) to 68.22° orientation (OSI = 0.8; $R^2 = 0.8$) and it was deemed non-significant.



Figure 3.3

(A) Typical examples in layers II–III showing attractive shift, repulsive shift, and no shift post-adaptation. (B) Typical examples in layers V–VI showing attractive shift, repulsive shift, and no shift after adaptation. In a similar fashion, the results are demonstrated in Fig. 3.3B for layers V–VI neurons. To the left, a typical example of an attractive shift is illustrated. The neuron was originally selective to 52.61° orientation (OSI = 0.9; $R^2 = 0.7$) but acquired a novel optimal selectivity of 136.54° (OSI = 0.8; $R^2 = 0.5$) after 12 min of adaptation with 90°. The middle column represents an example of a repulsive shift. Here, the layers V– VI neuron was optimally tuned to 39.57° orientation (OSI = 0.8; $R^2 = 0.6$). After imposing the 22.5° adapter, the neuron changed its preference away from the adapter to 72.30° orientation (OSI = 0.9; $R^2 = 0.6$) showing a repulsive shift. Finally, on the right, a refractory neuron is displayed. This neuron, in spite of being adapted with 45° adapter, did not change its preference. It maintained its preference around 74° and changed its selectivity non-significantly from 74.2° (OSI = 0.7; $R^2 = 0.9$) to 73.4° (OSI = 0.9; $R^2 = 0.9$).

Furthermore, the amplitudes of attractive and repulsive shifts were plotted to compare the magnitude of orientation shift in layers II–III and V–VI neurons (Fig. 3.4A). The difference in mean (\pm SEM) amplitude of attractive shifts for layers II–III (mean = 49.68 \pm 4.37) and V–VI neurons (42.23 \pm 3.77) was found not significant (*t*-test, P = 0.1030). A similar result was found for the amplitude of repulsive shifts (mean \pm SEM) 33.06 \pm 3.96 and 32.88 \pm 5.18 for layers II–III and V–VI, respectively (*t*-test, P = 0.9778). However, attractive shifts (Att = 49.67 \pm 4.36; Rep = 33.06 \pm 3.958) in layers II–III were found dominant over repulsive shifts (P = 0.0056). Moreover, on comparing all four groups (one-way ANOVA, P = 0.0361), the mean difference was found to be significant. This could be indicative of individual cells in both layers behaving independently yet following a similar trend globally.





(A) Graph showing comparison between magnitude of attractive and repulsive shifts and mean shift.
(B) Mean OSI of layers II–III and V–VI neurons before and after adaptation.

In addition, Orientation Selectivity Index (OSI) was also computed for all the neurons in layers II–III and V–VI to investigate the tuning sharpness of neurons before and after adaptation. Figure 3.4B shows the mean of OSI for 97 neurons each for layers II–III and V–VI at control and post-adaptation conditions. The mean (mean \pm SEM) OSI for neurons at control and post-adaptation conditions was found to be 0.65 \pm 0.03 and 0.60 \pm 0.03 (Mann–Whitney test, P = 0.7863) for layers II–III neurons and 0.65 \pm 0.03 and 0.65 \pm 0.02 (Mann–Whitney test, P = 0.2446) for layers V–VI neurons, respectively. The difference in mean OSI was not significant in both layers which further indicate that neurons in layers II–III and V–VI acquire the new selectivity in an analog mode, thus maintaining the homeostasis post-adaptation. These results also support the fact that, following adaptation, the orientation columns (extending from layers II–III to V–VI) tilt in such a fashion that the functional dogma of columns is maintained as shown previously (Bachatene *et al.*, 2015). To summarize, following adaptation the cellular dynamics in a column remain unchanged which reflects that the 'entire block' of cells is displaced after being challenged by the adapter.

3.4.2 Relation between the spike width and amplitude of shift

Neurons were dissociated into broad/regular spiking (RS) and narrow/fast spiking neurons (FS) on the basis of their spike width (Bharmauria *et al.*, 2015, 2016). The RS and FS neurons have been putatively linked to excitatory and inhibitory neurons (Nowak *et al.*, 2003; Niell & Stryker, 2008; Vinck *et al.*, 2013). It was reported that a large population of excitatory neurons in cats' visual cortex exhibit narrow spike shape, consequently not permitting a clear distinction between pyramidal and inhibitory cells (Nowak *et al.*, 2003). Nevertheless, in this study, a spike-width threshold of 0.3 ms was chosen to separate the neurons (Bharmauria *et al.*, 2015, 2016; Fig 3.5). Figure 3.5A illustrates separated neurons. Neurons having spike width > 0.3 ms were categorized into RS neurons, whereas neurons exhibiting a spike width \leq 0.3 ms were classified into FS neurons. The division was performed separately for both layers. The inserts of spike waveforms on the right side of Fig 3.5A (gray and green) illustrate how the classification was done. Layer V neurons showed a wide range of spike width in comparison to layers II–III. However, on averaging the

values of spike widths for different groups, the values were found comparable in both layers. The proportion of RS and FS cells was found no different from each other as evident from Fig 3.5C (shows the proportion of RS and FS cells). The *z*-test for proportion was performed for both layers (*P*-value = 0.50926). To see the global pattern of RS and FS groups in either layer, mean \pm SEM of RS and FS neurons was calculated (Fig 3.5B). The mean values were found to be 0.47 ± 0.01 and 0.24 ± 0.01 for layers II–III and 0.48 ± 0.01 and 0.24 ± 0.006 for layers V–VI, respectively. For this data, a non-parametric Mann–Whitney test was employed. The *P*-values for RS and FS data were found to be 0.5084 and 0.5155, respectively.





(A) Distribution of layers II–III (black) and V (green) neurons into putative excitatory and inhibitory neurons on the basis of spike-width analyses. The inserts illustrate how neurons were categorized. (B)
 Graph showing comparison of spike-width values for both layers. (C) Proportion of RS and FS neurons in both layers.

In addition, a subcategorization was performed to compare the direction of shift with the type of cell. This was done to compare shift trends in RS and FS neurons (Fig. 3.6). We found layers II–III

(mean \pm SEM = 52.60 \pm 4.65) and V–VI (mean \pm SEM = 45.96 \pm 4.80) RS neurons shifting towards the attractive direction with the largest amplitude (*t*-test, P = 0.3271). This tendency of RS neurons was also observed in the repulsive direction, but with a lesser magnitude. The means (mean \pm SEM) of the amplitude of repulsive shifts in layers II–III and V–VI RS neurons were found comparable (*t*-test, P = 0.6181) and their values were found to be 32.88 ± 7.64 and 33.70 ± 4.78 , respectively. Moreover, layers II-III FS (attractive = 40 ± 7.32 ; repulsive = 33.20 ± 4.11) and V-VI FS $(attractive = 34.46 \pm 5.54;)$ repulsive = 31.50 ± 12.05) neurons also exhibited shifts in attractive (P = 0.6181) and repulsive (P = 0.8747) directions showing comparable values of means. The proportion of neurons showing attractive and repulsive shifts (Fig. 3.6, insert on the upper right) was computed which showed that FS neurons in layer V shift more toward the adapter, i.e., in the attractive direction in comparison to layers II-III neurons. Lastly, neurons exhibiting no shifts were also included in the graph, but no significance was observed between groups. This indicated that overall, in supra- and infragranular layers both RS and FS neurons showcase attractive and repulsive shifts and with a similar tendency of shifts post-adaptation.



Figure 3.6

Graph showing magnitude of shift subdivided on the basis of directions of shift and the type of neuron in both layers. An insert comparing populations of subgroups across layers is shown on upper right side.

To further see a correlation between spike-width values and amplitude of shifts, a regression analysis for either layer was done (Fig. 3.7). None of the four groups showed a relation between compared values. Thus, all above analyses seem to indicate that cells within a column operate in a uniform fashion implying that cells of the entire cortical column from superficial to deep layers change their properties toward imposed non-preferred orientation following adaptation. However, it is important to note that individual cells could play different and specific roles in achieving an equilibrium state.



Figure 3.7

Regression analysis for comparing relation between spike width and amplitude of attractive and repulsive shifts. (A, B, C, and D) are graphs for attractive and repulsive shifts in layers II–III and V, respectively.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first comparative study of the simultaneously recorded layers II– III and V–VI neurons in adult cat V1 in response to adaptation that shows an overall picture of events occurring in an orientation column following adaptation.

3.5 Discussion

In summary, we demonstrated that layers II–III and V–VI neurons acquired comparable orientation selectivity shifts after 12 min of adaptation. The main results of this investigation are as follows: (i) In addition to the layers II–III, layers V–VI neurons also exhibit orientation selectivity shifts; (ii) the mean amplitudes of attractive and repulsive shifts in both layers are comparable; (iii) the average OSI pre- and post-adaptation in either layer is similar, and (iv) the mean amplitude of shifts of RS and FS neurons in both layers is about equal. These results are in line with the previous findings by Bachatene *et al.* (2015) who showed that neurons in supragranular layers reprogram their orientation selectivity when adapted visually and this reprogramming is so systematic that neurons even in the non-adapted columns acquire the new selectivity with respect to the previous column which seems to be guided by the adapting column.

Layers II–III neurons exhibit attractive and repulsive shifts (Ghisovan & Nemri, 2008; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009; Nemri *et al.*, 2009; Bachatene *et al.*, 2012). In this investigation, we show for the first time that infragranular layers V–VI neurons also show these classical shifts in orientation selectivity in conjunction with layers II–III neurons in response to adaptation.

Generally, neurons recorded from an electrode tip shift their orientation selectivity in a similar direction. In other words, this small pool of neurons recorded from the same tip is affected by an identical mechanism in response to the external stimulus called 'adapter' (Nemri *et al.*, 2009). A previous study based on adaptation (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000) showed that neuronal shifts are independent of cortical depth. Anatomical evidence suggests that neurons sharing orientation preference are mostly connected with each other and are present in the orientation domains, whereas neurons situated close to pinwheels are connected

with neurons having a wide range of orientation preference (Maldonado *et al.*, 1997; Schummers *et al.*, 2004). This investigation is based on electrophysiological recordings, however, the fact that locations of neurons in the orientation map can affect several of their inherent features, for example, shift amplitude, the direction of shift, etc., cannot be ignored. It would be inequitable to compare individual populations recorded from different regions of the orientation map. Hence, this study focuses more toward the global response pattern of supra- and infragranular neurons and not on response behavior of an individual neuron. Nevertheless, when the subpopulations are examined deeply, different properties are displayed by individual cells, for example, some clusters (recording from a single site down the column) are homogeneous showing attractive shifts, whereas others are heterogeneous displaying attraction and repulsion. This is one of the possible reasons for a large variance of the shift amplitudes and it explains why neurons in either layer display a large range of orientation shift amplitude.

The orientation selectivity index (OSI) which is calculated by the sharpness of the tuning curve of a neuron was also calculated for both layers at control and post-adaptation conditions. The OSI was comparable for layers V–VI and II–III neurons confirming the neurons maintained an optimal tuning prior to and post-adaptation.

Next, the neurons were classified into RS and FS cells putatively referred to as excitatory and inhibitory neurons, respectively, throughout the literature (Povysheva *et al.*, 2006; Fries *et al.*, 2007; Gouwens *et al.*, 2010; Hofer *et al.*, 2011). Firstly, we observed both groups of cells showing attractive and repulsive shifts. It indicated that shift in orientation selectivity is independent of V1 neuron type. Secondly, we also found fast-spiking neurons exhibiting a repulsive shift of smaller magnitude as compared to regular-spiking neurons exhibiting attractive shifts. Similar results were confirmed previously (Bachatene *et al.*, 2012) for supragranular layers II–III neurons. Lastly, we found equal proportions of putative excitatory and inhibitory neurons in our data which suggested that the regular- and fast-spiking neurons exist in balance across cortical layers.

To further infer a relation between the type of neuron and the direction of shift, we subcategorized RS and FS neurons into three groups: cells showing attractive shifts, repulsive shifts, and no shift (Bachatene et al., 2012). The observation revealed that RS neurons shift with a higher magnitude than fast-spiking neurons in both layers. This is indeed indicative of RS neurons being more plastic than FS neurons. Another important observation was made about fast-spiking neurons. Layers II-III FS neurons were found more likely to shift in a repulsive direction rather than attractive direction and this pattern was reversed in the layer V. It could also be indicative of a possible specific role of inhibitory neurons in the adaptation process. A recent review (Naka & Adesnik, 2016) discussed several types of inhibitory neurons in layer V that play specific roles in different types of inhibition mechanisms particularly in layer V. Layers II-III neurons form the densest projection on layer V neurons and synaptically recruit them to fire. This generates a robust feedforward inhibition. Connectivity studies in different regions of the brain suggest that this feedforward inhibition between layers II-III and V neurons is unique as different layer V neurons receive different strengths of excitatory inputs from layers II-III neurons (Otsuka & Kawaguchi, 2009; Pouille et al., 2009; Adesnik & Scanziani, 2010; Jin et al., 2014; Jiang et al., 2015; Pluta et al., 2015). Layer V is not only an output layer but also an important input layer as it receives inputs from all other cortical layers (Markram et al., 2015). Therefore, it is worth noting the role of inhibitory neurons specifically in layer V. This could potentially form another possible explanation of how neurons across layers behave differently yet they maintain equilibrium inside the orientation column.

3.5.1 Adaptation mechanism

The underlying mechanism of adaptation may involve transient changes at the synapse level occurring at different timescales dependent on the duration of adaptation (Kohn, 2007). Adaptation mainly involves a decrease in the response to the initially preferred orientation and increasing the response toward the dominant orientation. This decrease in the firing rate generally occurs at the individual level and could be a consequence of a change in membrane properties of V1 cells, for example, hyperpolarization (Carandini

& Ferster, 1997) or synaptic depression or slow hyperpolarizing of Na⁺ channels (Sanchez-Vives *et al.*, 2000). Inhibition and excitation play a major role in creating and maintaining the equilibrium by recurrently modulating the response gain in local cortical circuits (Ben-Yishai *et al.*, 1995; Douglas *et al.*, 1995; Somers *et al.*, 1995). Other disinhibitory mechanisms may also be critical to maintaining homeostasis during the adaptation process.

3.5.2 Possible functional implications

It has been amply demonstrated and suggested that a neuron's single dendritic branch receives synaptic inputs from differently tuned neurons. This enables the neuron to be able to elicit a response to a wide range of inputs by making synaptic associations. The dominant input then drives the corresponding synapses giving rise to an optimal selectivity for the neuron (Jia *et al.*, 2010; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013; Wertz *et al.*, 2015). Within this framework, the imposition of an adapter grating strengthens the synapses related to it, thus potentiating a novel selectivity for the neuron. Thus, a new adjustment between the excitation and inhibition after the adaptation period facilitates the neurons to acquire a new selectivity.

A possible explanation is that repulsion is a consequence of a default reaction. Following adaptation, the 'new' preferred orientation acquired by the same neuron is an outcome of a differential decrease in response to the initially preferred orientation, while flank orientations far from the adapter in the tuning curve remain relatively unchanged. However, the latter orientations evoke a stronger response and became dominant. Therefore, attractive shifts are the outcome of dual modulation of responses, a push-pull mechanism that simultaneously diminishes responses to the original preferred orientation and increases firing to orientations close to the adapter. Consequently, the final data obtained are the product of modifications in ratios between excitatory and inhibitory inputs. As similar results are observed in supra-and infragranular layers, it is reasonable to conclude that in both layers excitatory and inhibitory populations share similar mechanisms (Kohn & Movshon, 2004; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, the excitatory and inhibitory loops may also be implicated in this robust recalibration of neuronal selectivity (Froemke, 2015).

In the passage of neuronal information in the visual cortex, layer IV neurons are the receiving units of the information coming from the thalamus (LGN), and these neurons project the information to layers II–III neurons. Furthermore, the information is conveyed to infragranular layers V–VI neurons (Kapfer *et al.*, 2007; Otsuka & Kawaguchi, 2009; Apicella *et al.*, 2012; Jiang *et al.*, 2015). In addition, several studies demonstrate that there are abundant anatomical connections between layers II–III and V–VI neurons (Lowenstein & Somogyi, 1991; Thomson & Bannister, 2003). However, it has also been shown that infragranular layers receive a direct input from the thalamic cells (Constantinople & Bruno, 2013; Pluta *et al.*, 2015). These inter-neuronal relationships may be the basis for shifts in these layers occurring through a common mechanism(s).

The co-active groups of neurons are termed as microcircuits or cell assemblies (Buzsaki, 2010; Harris & Mrsic-Flogel, 2013; Singer, 2013; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2014, 2015; Miller *et al.*, 2014). The behavior of individual neurons in these assemblies is dependent on inputs from neighboring or distally located neurons horizontally or as a function of depth. The dynamics of the synapses induce a change in the orientation tuning of neurons during the process of training layers II–III and V–VI neurons together. Therefore, goal-directed functional synaptic communications configure the underlying mechanisms for the neurons to change their tuning across different layers (Felsen *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, shifts in orientation selectivity are credited to the short-term plasticity of intra-cortical connections. Therefore, these interactions between synapses of neighboring neurons (horizontally or as a function of depth) support the plasticity in the brain (Harvey & Svoboda, 2007).

Collectively, we observed that cortical layers V–VI and II–III neurons show similar responses to adaptation which suggests that neurons in supragranular and infragranular layers strive in alliance with each other, suggesting that neurons not specific to a layer respond to adaptation distinctively, but the whole V1 column changes leading to a whole cortex re-orientation. Considering the cortical column as a functional unit of the visual cortex, it appears that neurons in a column choose to perform in unison to propagate a

comprehensive harmony in the cortical column which is preserved from column to column and, as a consequence of training one of the columns, the whole cortex is re-calibrated toward maintaining that balance to achieve its stable state.

3.6 References

Adesnik, H. & Scanziani, M. (2010). Lateral competition for cortical space by layer-specific horizontal circuits. *Nature*, **464**, 1155-1160.

Agmon, A. & Connors, B. (1992) Correlation between intrinsic firing patterns and thalamocortical synaptic responses of neurons in mouse barrel cortex. *J. Neurosci.*, **12**, 319-329.

Apicella, A.J., Wickersham, I.R., Seung, H.S. & Shepherd, G.M.G. (2012) Laminarly orthogonal excitation of fast-spiking and low-threshold-spiking interneurons in mouse motor cortex. *J. Neurosci.*, **32**, 7021-7033.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Cattan, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2013) Fluoxetine and serotonin facilitate attractive-adaptation-induced orientation plasticity in adult cat visual cortex. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **38**, 2065-2077.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Cattan, S., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2015) Reprogramming of orientation columns in visual cortex: a domino effect. *Sci. Reports*, **5**, 9436.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2012) Adaptation-induced plasticity and spike waveforms in cat visual cortex. *Neuroreport*, **23**, 88-92.

Bardy, C., Huang, J.Y., Wang, C., FitzGibbon, T. & Dreher, B. (2006) 'Simplification' of responses of complex cells in cat striate cortex: suppressive surrounds and 'feedback' inactivation. *J. Physiol.*, **574**, 731-750.

Barlow, H.B., Blakemore, C. & Pettigrew, J.D. (1967) The neural mechanism of binocular depth discrimination. J. Physiol., 193, 327-342.

Bartho, P., Hirase, H., Monconduit, L., Zugaro, M., Harris, K.D. & Buzsaki, G. (2004) Characterization of neocortical principal cells and interneurons by network interactions and extracellular features. *J. Neurophysiol.*, **92**, 600-608.

Ben-Yishai, R., Bar-Or, R. L., Sompolinsky, H. (1995). Theory of orientation tuning in visual cortex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **9**, 3844-8.

Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Brodeur, S., Chanauria, N., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2016) Network-selectivity and stimulus - discrimination in the primary visual cortex: cell-assembly dynamics. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **43**, 204-219.

Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Chanauria, N., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2015) Stimulusdependent augmented gamma oscillatory activity between the functionally connected cortical neurons in the primary visual cortex. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **41**, 1587-1596.

Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2014) Synergistic activity between primary visual neurons. *Neuroscience*, **268**, 255-264.

Blasdel, G.G. & Salama, G. (1986) Voltage-sensitive dyes reveal a modular organization in monkey striate cortex. *Nature*, **321**, 579-585.

Buzsaki, G. (2010) Neural syntax: cell assemblies, synapsembles, and readers. Neuron, 68, 362-385.

Carandini, M. & Ferster, D (1997). A tonic hyperpolarization underlying contrast adaptation in cat visual cortex. *Science*, **276**, 949-52.

Cattan, S., Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Jeyabalaratnam, J., Milleret, C. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2014) Comparative analysis of orientation maps in areas 17 and 18 of the cat primary visual cortex following adaptation. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **40**, 2554-2563.

Constantinople, C.M. & Bruno, R.M. (2013) Deep cortical layers are activated directly by thalamus. *Science*, **340**, 1591-1594.

DeNardo, L.A., Berns, D.S., DeLoach, K. & Luo, L. (2015) Connectivity of mouse somatosensory and prefrontal cortex examined with trans-synaptic tracing. *Nat. Neurosci.*, **18**, 1687-1697.

Douglas, R.J., Koch, C. Mahowald, M., Martin., K.A., Suarez, H.H. (1995). Recurrent excitation in neocortical circuits. *Science*, **269**, 981-5.

Dragoi, V., Sharma, J. & Sur, M. (2000) Adaptation-induced plasticity of orientation tuning in adult visual cortex. *Neuron*, **28**, 287-298.

Felsen, G., Shen, Y.S., Yao, H., Spor, G., Li, C. & Dan, Y. (2002) Dynamic modification of cortical orientation tuning mediated by recurrent connections. *Neuron*, **36**, 945-954.

Fries, P., Nikolic, D. & Singer, W. (2007) The gamma cycle. Trends Neurosci., 30, 309-316.

Froemke, R.C. (2015) Plasticity of cortical excitatory-inhibitory balance. Ann. Rev. Neurosci., 38, 195-219.

Ghisovan, N. & Nemri, A. (2008) How fast can we adapt? J. Physiol., 586, 1213-1214.

Ghisovan, N., Nemri, A., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2009) Long adaptation reveals mostly attractive shifts of orientation tuning in cat primary visual cortex. *Neuroscience*, **164**, 1274-1283.

Gouwens, N.W., Zeberg, H., Tsumoto, K., Tateno, T., Aihara, K. & Robinson, H.P. (2010) Synchronization of firing in cortical fast-spiking interneurons at gamma frequencies: a phase-resetting analysis. *PLoS Comput. Biol.*, **6**, e1000951.

Harris, K.D. & Mrsic-Flogel, T.D. (2013) Cortical connectivity and sensory coding. Nature, 503, 51-58.

Harvey, C.D. & Svoboda, K. (2007) Locally dynamic synaptic learning rules in pyramidal neuron dendrites. *Nature*, **450**, 1195-1200.

Helmstaedter, M., Sakmann, B. & Feldmeyer, D. (2009) Neuronal correlates of local, lateral, and translaminar inhibition with reference to cortical columns. *Cereb. Cortex*, **19**, 926-937.

Hofer, S.B., Ko, H., Pichler, B., Vogelstein, J., Ros, H., Zeng, H., Lein, E., Lesica, N.A. & Mrsic-Flogel, T.D. (2011) Differential connectivity and response dynamics of excitatory and inhibitory neurons in visual cortex. *Nat. Neurosci.*, **14**, 1045-1052.

Holtmaat, A. & Svoboda, K. (2009) Experience-dependent structural synaptic plasticity in the mammalian brain. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.*, **10**, 647-658.

Hubel, D.H., Wiesel, T.N. & LeVay, S. (1977) Plasticity of ocular dominance columns in monkey striate cortex. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences*, **278**, 377-409.

Jeyabalaratnam, J., Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Angers, A. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2013) Adaptation shifts preferred orientation of tuning curve in the mouse visual cortex. *PloS One*, **8**, e64294. Jia, H., Rochefort, N.L., Chen, X. & Konnerth, A. (2010) Dendritic organization of sensory input to cortical neurons in vivo. *Nature*, **464**, 1307-1312.

Jin, X., Jiang, K., and Prince, D.A. (2014). Excitatory and inhibitory synaptic connectivity to layer V fastspiking interneurons in the freeze lesion model of corticalmicrogyria. *J. Neurophysiol.*, **122**, 1703–1713.

Jiang, X., Shen, S., Cadwell, C.R., Berens, P., Sinz, F., Ecker, A.S., Patel, S. & Tolias, A.S. (2015) Principles of connectivity among morphologically defined cell types in adult neocortex. *Science*, **350**, aac9462.

Jiang, X., Wang, G., Lee, A.J., Stornetta, R.L. & Zhu, J.J. (2013) The organization of two new cortical interneuronal circuits. *Nat. Neurosci.*, **16**, 210-218.

Kapfer, C., Glickfeld, L.L., Atallah, B.V. & Scanziani, M. (2007) Supralinear increase of recurrent inhibition during sparse activity in the somatosensory cortex. *Nat. Neurosci.*, **10**, 743-753.

Kohn, A. (2007) Visual adaptation: physiology, mechanisms, and functional benefits. *J. Neurophysiol.*, **97**, 3155-3164.

Kohn, A. & Movshon, J.A. (2004) Adaptation changes the direction tuning of macaque MT neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.*, **7**, 764-772.

Lee, A.J., Wang, G., Jiang, X., Johnson, S.M., Hoang, E.T., Lanté, F., Stornetta, R.L., Beenhakker, M.P., Shen, Y. & Julius Zhu, J. (2015) Canonical organization of layer 1 neuron-led cortical inhibitory and disinhibitory interneuronal circuits. *Cereb. Cortex*, **25**, 2114-2126.

Liao, D.S., Krahe, T.E., Prusky, G.T., Medina, A.E. & Ramoa, A.S. (2004) Recovery of cortical binocularity and orientation selectivity after the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity. *J. Neurophysiol.*, **92**, 2113-2121.

Lowenstein, P.R. & Somogyi, P. (1991) Synaptic organization of cortico - cortical connections from the primary visual cortex to the posteromedial lateral suprasylvian visual area in the cat. *J. Comparat. Neurol.*, **310**, 253-266.

Maldonado, P. E., Godecke, I., Gray, C. M., Bonhoeffer, T. (1997). Orientation selectivity in pinwheel centers in cat striate cortex. *Science*, **276**, 1551-5.

Maffei, L., Fiorentini, A. & Bisti, S. (1973) Neural correlate of perceptual adaptation to gratings. *Science*, **182**, 1036-1038.

Markram, H., Muller, E., Ramaswamy, S., Reimann, M.W., Abdellah, M., Sanchez, C.A., et al. (2015). Reconstruction and simulation of neocortical microcircuitry. *Cell*, **163**, 456–492.

Meyer, H.S., Wimmer, V.C., Hemberger, M., Bruno, R.M., de Kock, C.P.J., Frick, A., Sakmann, B. & Helmstaedter, M. (2010) Cell type–specific thalamic innervation in a column of rat vibrissal cortex. *Cereb. Cortex*, **20**, 2287-2303.

Miller, J.E., Ayzenshtat, I., Carrillo-Reid, L. & Yuste, R. (2014) Visual stimuli recruit intrinsically generated cortical ensembles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **111**, E4053-4061.

Naka, A. & Adesnik, H. (2016). Inhibitory circuits in cortical layer 5. Front. Neural Circuits, 10, 35.

Nemri, A., Ghisovan, N., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2009) Adaptive behavior of neighboring neurons during adaptation-induced plasticity of orientation tuning in VI. *BMC Neurosci.*, **10**, 147.

Niell, C.M. & Stryker, M.P. (2008) Highly selective receptive fields in mouse visual cortex. *J. Neurosci.*, **28**, 7520-7536.

Nowak, L.G., Azouz, R., Sanchez-Vives, M.V., Gray, C.M. & McCormick, D.A. (2003) Electrophysiological classes of cat primary visual cortical neurons in vivo as revealed by quantitative analyses. *J. Neurophysiol.*, **89**, 1541-1566.

Oberlaender, M., de Kock, C.P.J., Bruno, R.M., Ramirez, A., Meyer, H.S., Dercksen, V.J., Helmstaedter, M. & Sakmann, B. (2012) Cell type–specific three-dimensional structure of thalamocortical circuits in a column of rat vibrissal cortex. *Cereb. Cortex*, **22**, 2375-2391.

Otsuka, T. & Kawaguchi, Y. (2009) Cortical inhibitory cell types differentially form intralaminar and interlaminar subnetworks with excitatory neurons. *J. Neurosci.*, **29**, 10533-10540.

Otsuka, T., & Kawaguchi, Y. (2013). Common excitatory synaptic inputs to electrically connected cortical fast-spiking cell networks. *J. Neurophysiol.* **110**, 795–806.

Pluta, S., Naka, A., Veit, J., Telian, G., Yao, L., Hakim, R., Taylor, D. & Adesnik, H. (2015) A direct translaminar inhibitory circuit tunes cortical output. *Nat. Neurosci.*, **18**, 1631-1640.

Pouille, F., Marin-Burgin, A., Adesnik, H., Atallah, B.V., and Scanziani, M (2009). Input normalization by global feedforward inhibition expands cortical dynamic range. *Nat. Neurosci.*, **12**, 1577–1585.

Povysheva, N.V., Gonzalez-Burgos, G., Zaitsev, A.V., Kroner, S., Barrionuevo, G., Lewis, D.A. & Krimer, L.S. (2006) Properties of excitatory synaptic responses in fast-spiking interneurons and pyramidal cells from monkey and rat prefrontal cortex. *Cereb. Cortex*, **16**, 541-552.

Rah, J.-C., Bas, E., Colonell, J., Mishchenko, Y., Karsh, B., Fetter, R.D., Myers, E.W., Chklovskii, D.B., Svoboda, K., Harris, T.D. & Isaac, J.T.R. (2013) Thalamocortical input onto layer 5 pyramidal neurons measured using quantitative large-scale array tomography. *Front. Neural Circuits*, **7**, 177.

Ramoa, A.S., Mower, A.F., Liao, D. & Jafri, S.I. (2001) Suppression of cortical NMDA receptor function prevents development of orientation selectivity in the primary visual cortex. *J. Neurosci.*, **21**, 4299-4309.

Sanchez-Vives, M. V., Nowak, L. G., McCormick, D. A. (2000). Cellular mechanisms of long-lasting adaptation in visual cortical neurons in vitro. *J. Neurosci.*, **11**, 4286-99.

Schummers, J., Marino, J., Sur, M. (2004). Local networks in visual cortex and their influence on neuronal responses and dynamics. *J. Physiol. Paris*, **98**, 429-41.

Schwindel, C.D., Ali, K., McNaughton, B.L. & Tatsuno, M. (2014) Long-term recordings improve the detection of weak excitatory-excitatory connections in rat prefrontal cortex. *J. Neurosci.*, **34**, 5454-5467.

Singer, W. (2013) Cortical dynamics revisited. Trends Cognit. Sci., 17, 616-626.

Somers, D. C., Nelson, S. B., Sur, M. (1995). An emergent model of orientation selectivity in cat visual cortical simple cells. *J. Neurosci.*, **15**, 5448-5465.

Thomson, A.M. & Bannister, A.P. (2003) Interlaminar Connections in the Neocortex. *Cereb. Cortex*, **13**, 5-14.

Vinck, M., Womelsdorf, T., Buffalo, E.A., Desimone, R. & Fries, P. (2013) Attentional modulation of cellclass-specific gamma-band synchronization in awake monkey area v4. *Neuron*, **80**, 1077-1089.

Wertz, A., Trenholm, S., Yonehara, K., Hillier, D., Raics, Z., Leinweber, M., Szalay, G., Ghanem, A., Keller, G., Rozsa, B., Conzelmann, K.K. & Roska, B. (2015) PRESYNAPTIC NETWORKS. Single-cell-initiated monosynaptic tracing reveals layer-specific cortical network modules. *Science*, **349**, 70-74.

Wimmer, V.C., Bruno, R.M., de Kock, C.P.J., Kuner, T. & Sakmann, B. (2010) Dimensions of a Projection Column and Architecture of VPM and POm Axons in Rat Vibrissal Cortex. *Cereb. Cor*

tex, 20, 2265-2276.

CHAPTER 4: SOUND INDUCES CHANGE IN ORIENTATION PREFERENCE OF V1 NEURONS: AUDIO-VISUAL CROSS-INFLUENCE

Nayan Chanauria^a, Vishal Bharmauria^{a1}, Lyes Bachatene^{a2}, Sarah Cattan^a, Jean Rouat^b, Stéphane Molotchnikoff^a

^aNeurophysiology of Visual System, Département de Sciences Biologiques, Université de Montréal, CP 6128 Succursale Centre-Ville, Montréal, QC H3C 3J7, Canada

^bDepartement de Génie Électrique et Génie Informatique, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

¹The Visuomotor Neuroscience Lab, Centre for Vision Research, Faculty of Health, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada

²Department of Nuclear Medicine and Radiobiology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences (CHUS),

SNAIL, Sherbrooke Neuro Analysis and Imaging Lab, University of Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

(This is a published article in the Neuroscience Elsevier Journal)

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306452219300594

4.1 Abstract

In the cortex, unimodal sensory regions often respond to stimuli of other sensory modalities and exhibit plasticity. The goal of the current investigation was to test evoked responses of primary visual cortex (V1) neurons when an adapting auditory stimulus is applied in isolation. Using extracellular recordings in anesthetized cats, we demonstrate that, unlike the prevailing observation of only slight modulations in the firing rates of the neurons, sound imposition in isolation entirely shifted the peaks of orientation tuning curves of neurons in both supra- and infragranular layers of V1. Our results suggest that neurons specific to either layer dynamically integrate features of sound and modify the organization of the orientation map of V1. Intriguingly, these experiments present novel findings that the mere presentation of a prolonged auditory stimulus may drastically recalibrate the tuning properties of the visual neurons and highlight the phenomenal neuroplasticity of V1 neurons.

KEYWORDS

Plasticity, primary visual cortex, orientation selectivity, cross-modal, audio-visual, non-visual input

4.2 Highlights

- Prolonged application of sound shifts preferred orientation of neurons in area 17 of cats.
- Orientation tuning shifts in the individual neurons in supra- and infragranular layers of V1.
- Supra- and infragranular layers of V1 operate together but also as distinct compartments following sound adaptation.
- Visual cortex is specifically and dynamically impacted by non-visual stimuli.
- Sound adaptation certainly modifies the organization of orientation maps in V1.
4.3 Introduction

For the longest time, inputs to a primary sensory area have been believed to be mainly modality specific. However, it was until recently (Ghazanfar & Schroeder, 2006; Kayser & Logothetis, 2007) that a direct and more specific interaction between the early sensory cortices of different modalities was discovered. Since then, more studies have suggested that the meeting and interaction of information from different senses begin within the low-level sensory areas (van Atteveldt *et al.*, 2014; Ten Oever *et al.*, 2015). Direct anatomical connections from V1 to A1 are still not precisely known, but across species there are different indirect pathways that have been discovered and suggest connectivity between different primary sensory regions. It has been shown in gerbils that secondary visual area V2 is directly connected with A1 (Budinger *et al.*, 2006). In cats, (Hall & Lomber, 2008) few direct projections from auditory cortex to V1 targeting only the peripheral visual field have been identified. An alternative yet slightly longer pathway between A1 and V1 through the heteromodal association cortical area (superior temporal polysensory area and superior temporal sulcus (STP / STS) was also revealed and presumed to send feedback to both A1 and V1 (Schroeder & Foxe, 2002). A critical imaging study (Liang *et al.*, 2013) revealed in humans that there might be salient locations within V1 that respond to specific cross-modal inputs related to the spatial pattern of activation of a primary sensory cortical area (e.g., V1).

Recently, more elaborate studies in rodents have exposed new findings. Physiological investigations of Ibrahim and co-authors (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016) have demonstrated sharpening of orientation tuning in conjunction with an enhancement of the response to the preferred orientation of the cell in mice towards a low-contrast visual stimulus accompanied by an auditory stimulus. Lurilli and colleagues (Iurilli *et al.*, 2012) revealed that the presentation of a high-amplitude sound stimulus resulted in the hyperpolarization of the membrane potential of V1 neurons resulting in inhibition.

Despite extensive experimentation to explore wide-ranging interactions in the cortex, the understanding of cross-modal processing during the absence of direct stimulation of a corresponding sensory region remains implicit. To date, most studies have limited the presentation of stimuli for a very short duration. Additionally, rodents have been the first choice for electrophysiological experimentation in this direction and humans are limited to functional imaging techniques.

In the present investigation, a sound stimulus was applied to V1 neurons in cats in the complete absence of visual input for 12 minutes. Through extracellular recordings in area 17 of anesthetized cats, we found that in the presence of only a sound stimulus, the orientation tunings of simultaneously recorded layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 visual neurons were altered while exhibiting shifts in their tuning, that is a change of the preferred orientation. Also, the orientation selectivity shift magnitude was found to be larger in layer 5/6 neurons. We argue and suggest that the modification in the tuning properties was solely potentiated by the continuous repetition of the sound stimulus for 12 min and the spatial-temporal structure of the sound.

Interestingly, layer 2/3 neurons displayed an intriguing shift pattern towards horizontal orientations unlike cells of layer 5/6. Our data illustrate a novel extension to audio-visual cross-influence demonstrating that even an isolated application of a sound can robustly induce a reorganization of area V1.

4.4 Experimental Procedures

4.4.1 Ethical approval

Eight adult domestic cats (*Felis catus*), of either sex, were used for experiments adhering to the guidelines approved by the NIH in the USA and the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Cats were supplied by the Division of Animal Resources of the University of Montreal. The animal surgery and electrophysiological recording procedures were performed according to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care

and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Montreal (CDEA).

4.4.2 Anesthesia

Cats were initially sedated with a mixture of Acepromazine (Atravet, 0.1 mg/kg, s.c., Wyeth-Ayerst, Guelph, ON, Canada) and atropine sulphate (Isopto Atropine, 0.04 mg/kg, s.c., Atrosa; Rafter, Calgary, AB, Canada) followed by a dose of anesthetic ketamine (Narketan, 40 mg/kg, i.m.; Vetoquinol, QC, Canada). Anesthesia was maintained during the surgery with isoflurane ventilation (2%, AErrane; Baxter, Toronto, ON, Canada). After the surgery, cats were fixed on the stereotaxic and were paralyzed by perfusion of gallamine triethiodide (Flaxedil, 40 mg/kg, i.v.; Sigma Chemical, St Louis, MO, USA). Artificial ventilation was maintained by a mixture of O₂/N₂O (30:70) and isoflurane (0.5%). The paralysis was continued by perfusion of gallamine triethiodide (10 mg/kg/h) in 5% dextrose lactated Ringer's nutritive solution (i.v., Baxter, Mississauga, ON, Canada) throughout the experiment.

4.4.3 Surgery

Local anesthetic xylocaine (2%; AstraZeneca, Mississauga, ON, Canada) was injected subcutaneously during the surgery before any opening of the skin. A heated pad was placed beneath the cat to maintain a body temperature of 37.5 °C. Antibiotics Trimethoprim and Sulfadiazine (Tribrissen; 30 mg/kg/day, subcutaneous; Schering Plough, Pointe-Claire, QC, Canada) and Benzylpenicillin procaine and Benzylpenicillin benzathine suspension (Duplocillin; 0.1 mL/kg, intra-muscular; Intervet, Withby, ON, Canada) were administered to the animals to prevent bacterial infection. First, a vein of the animal's forelimb was cannulated. Then tracheotomy was performed to artificially ventilate the animal. A proper depth of anesthesia was ensured throughout the experiment by monitoring the EEG, the electrocardiogram, and the expired CO₂: O₂ saturation was kept in check using an Oximeter. The end-tidal CO₂ partial pressure was kept constant between 25 and 30 mmHg. Third, craniotomy (1*1 cm square) was performed over the

primary visual cortex (area 17/18, Horsley-Clarke coordinates P0-P6; L0-L6). The underlying dura was removed, and the multichannel electrode was positioned in area 17. The pupils were dilated with atropine sulfate (1%; Isopto-Atropine, Alcon, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and the nictitating membranes were retracted with phenylephrine hydrochloride (2.5%; Mydfrin, Alcon). Plano contact lenses with artificial pupils (5 mm diameter) were placed on the cat's eyes to prevent the cornea from drying. Finally, at the end of the experiment, the cats were sacrificed with a lethal dose of pentobarbital sodium (100 mg/kg; Somnotol, MTC Pharmaceuticals, Cambridge, ON, Canada) by an intravenous injection.

4.4.4 Stimuli and experimental design

Two types of stimuli were used - visual and audio. The receptive fields were located centrally within a 15° radius from the fovea. Monocular stimulation was performed. Receptive field edges (RF) were explored once clear detectable activity was obtained using a handheld ophthalmoscope (Barlow et al., 1967). This was done by moving a light bar from the periphery toward the center until a response was evoked. Contrast and mean luminance were set at 80% and 40 cd/m², respectively. Optimal spatial and temporal frequencies were set at 0.24 cycles/deg and in the range 1.0–2.0 Hz (at these values V1 neurons are driven maximally) for drifting sine-wave gratings (Bardy et al., 2006). Then, gratings were presented randomly as visual stimuli covering the excitatory RF to compute the orientation tuning curves of neurons (Maffei et al., 1973). Visual stimuli were generated with a VSG 2/5 graphics board (Cambridge Research Systems, Rochester, England) and displayed on a 21-inch Monitor (Sony GDM-F520 Trinitron, Tokyo, Japan) placed 57 cm from the cat's eyes, with 1024×9×768 pixels, running at 100 Hz frame refresh (Figure 4.1A). The gratings moved unidirectionally in eight possible orientations presented randomly one by one. Each randomly presented oriented grating was given 25 times for 4s each with an inter-stimulus interval of 1-3s. Subsequently, the animal was exposed to broadband noise-like auditory stimuli comprising a range of frequencies. The auditory stimulus (3s 78 dB SPL) consisted of temporally orthogonal rippled combinations (TORC's) with varying frequency components from 250 Hz to 8000 Hz (Fritz et al., 2003). The 3s stimulus

was played continuously for 12 minutes, delivered by a pair of external loudspeakers, positioned perpendicularly relative to the animal's axis at 57cm to the center of the fixation axis of the animal. The frequency response range of the speakers (range of audible frequencies the speaker can reproduce) was 120 Hz-18 KHz. For some recordings, the speakers were also displaced laterally at the same plane, at 30 cm on either side from the center of the fixation axis of the cat (Figure 4.1 A). This was done to test the change in responses if any when the position of the speakers was changed. The sound frequency and intensity were cyclical and optimized and set according to the experiment design using Bruel and Kjaer Spectris Group Sonometer. The stimulus was optimized on a standard C-scale of the sonometer for both ears. The spectrogram of the sound stimulus displaying varying frequencies is shown in Figure 4.1B. Immediately after the 12-min presentation of the acoustic stimulus, a series of drifting gratings was presented again in a random order (each oriented grating was presented 25 times where each of the 25 presentations was 4s and inter-stimulus time interval lasted 1- 3s). It must be emphasized that sound was applied in isolation, that is, no visual stimulus was presented during the sound application. Finally, a recovery period of 90 minutes was given for neurons to return to their optimal state (Figure 4.1 C).



Figure 4.1

Experimental set up of stimulation, neuronal recordings and sound stimulus (A) Cartoon of the anesthetized cat fixed on the stereotaxic apparatus. Visual stimulus (shown as black and white gratings) was presented inside the receptive fields of test neurons. The sound stimulus was delivered by a pair of speakers occasionally placed frontal or lateral to the axis of the animal (B) The spectrogram of the sound stimulus is displayed. The spectrogram shows that sound stimulus was played in a constant frequency modulation (FM) pattern. (C) A pictorial representation of the steps followed during the protocol. Two types of stimuli were applied: Visual and auditory. Visual stimuli (sine-wave drifting oriented-gratings) were presented in a random order. Each orientation was presented 25 times and each trial lasted 4 s with

a 1–3 ms inter-stimulus interval followed by the presentation of the sound stimulus for 12 min. Then, the same set of visual stimuli was presented again in a random order. A recovery period of 90 min was offered after which the gratings were presented again randomly (D) Illustration of the electrode used to record neuronal activity. Neurons were recorded using multichannel electrode from depths 300-500 μm, and 1000-1200 μm from the primary visual cortex (V1)/area 17 before and after auditory stimulation.

4.4.5 Electrophysiology

Multiunit activity in the primary visual cortex of anesthetized cats was recorded using a tungsten multichannel electrode (0.1–0.8 M Ω at 1 KHz; Alpha Omega Co. USA Inc). Neural activity was recorded from both hemispheres of the cat's brain opening one side at a time. The electrode consisted of four microelectrodes enclosed in stainless-steel tubing in a linear array with an inter-electrode spacing of 500 μ m. The recorded signal from the microelectrodes was acquired using Spike2, CED, Cambridge, UK. The signal was further amplified, band-pass filtered (300 Hz–3 KHz), digitized, displayed on an oscilloscope and recorded with a 0.05 ms temporal resolution. Recordings were performed at average cortical depths of 300–500 μ m and 1000–1200 μ m (Chanauria *et al.*, 2016) simultaneously from both sites as depicted in Figure 4.1 D. Spike sorting was done offline using same Spike2 package, CED, Cambridge, UK. Figure 4.2 shows an example of neuronal isolation (spike sorting) from the multiunit activity. As a precautionary measure, it was essential to affirm that we did not isolate the same unit twice, as the same unit may exhibit different waveforms depending upon several factors. Thus, the single units were distinguished based upon the spike waveforms, principal component analysis (PCA), and autocorrelograms (ACG) (Bharmauria *et al.*, 2015; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2016). The respective PCA, ACGs, and spike waveforms are also shown along in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2

An example of the spike sorting process for isolation of single units is exhibited. Part 1 displays the neurons that have been recorded simultaneously from layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 of V1. Multiunit activity from both layers is also displayed alongside. Part 2 shows the principal component analysis of the dissociated waveforms. The superimposed average waveforms of dissociated spikes from multi-unit recordings are also shown. Part 3 displays the auto-correlograms for the separated single units. No events at zero represent the refractory period of neuron that confirms the individuality of each neuron.

4.5 Data Analysis

4.5.1 Tuning curves

After sorting neurons offline, the numerical value of orientation selectivity was calculated for each neuron at control and post-sound presentation conditions. Since applied gratings were separated by intervals of 22°, orientation peaks of tuning curves values were obtained by fitting a Gaussian non-linear curve on the raw orientation tuning values obtained at each orientation for each neuron. The Gaussian fits were calculated

on trial-averaged data collected from 25 trials of the same stimulus at each orientation. Each point in Gaussian fits is the range of responses and thus represents the total response function. The Gaussian tuning fits were computed using the function below:

$$y = y0 + \left(A \div \left(w \times \sqrt{\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)}\right)\right) \times e^{\left(-2 \times \left(\frac{x - xc}{w}\right)^2\right)}$$
 (Equation 1)

where y0 is the offset, XC is the center, w is the width, and A represents the area under the Gaussian fit. The firing rates were normalized and gaussian tuning curves were generated in the scientific software Origin. The above procedure indicates the preferred orientation with better accuracy. The same method was carried in controls and following sound adaptation. The magnitude of shifts was computed as the distance (subtractions) between peak positions of the fitted Gaussian tuning curves before and after the presentation of sound (the difference between the initially preferred and newly acquired). The following formula was applied to calculate the shift magnitudes:

Shift magnitude =
$$(XC_{Post} - XC_{Pre})$$
 (Equation 2)

where XC is the central value derived from the Gaussian fit.

According to past studies, a difference of $>5^{\circ}$ is considered as a significant shift (Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009; Bachatene *et al.*, 2012a; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013; Bachatene *et al.*, 2015c; Chanauria *et al.*, 2016). A magnitude of $<5^{\circ}$ indicated a neuron that retained its initially preferred orientation even after the presentation of sound. These calculations are critical as the interval of 22° between the stimulus orientations

is relatively large, which makes it difficult to deduce an exact value of orientation tuning from only raw curves.

4.5.2 Orientation Selectivity Index (OSI)

Further, the Orientation Selectivity Index (OSI) of each neuron was computed by dividing the firing rate of the neuron at the orthogonal orientation by the firing rate of the same neuron at the preferred orientation, and subtracting the result from 1 (Ramoa *et al.*, 2001; Liao *et al.*, 2004). The closer the OSI is to 1, the stronger the orientation selectivity.

Orientation Selectivity Index =
$$1 - (FR_{Orthogonal}/FR_{Preferred})$$
 (Equation 3)

where FR is the firing rate of the same neuron.

4.5.3 Bandwidths (BW)

Tuning bandwidths were calculated based on the full width at half magnitude (FWHM) of the Gaussian tuning curves for each neuron (Ringach *et al.*, 2002; Moore *et al.*, 2005). Bandwidths are measured to deduce the sharpness of orientation tuning curves of the neurons.

FWHM (Bandwidth) =
$$2\sqrt{2} \ln 2$$
 c = 2.35482c (Equation 4)

where ln is the logarithm and c is the gaussian root mean square width.

4.5.4 Response Change Index (RCI)

To quantify the response disparity between stimulus conditions for each neuron, the traditional method of measuring response change index was used (Stevenson *et al.*, 2014; Meijer *et al.*, 2017) where the values of the RCI are normalized and can be used as a parameter to describe both enhancement and suppression. The values may range from -1 to 1 in which negative values indicate response suppression and positive values indicate response enhancement.

$$RCI = (FR_{Post-sound} - FR_{Control}) / (FR_{Post-sound} + FR_{Control})$$
(Equation 5)

where FR is firing rate of the same neuron

4.6 Statistical Tests

Four datasets from layers 2/3 and 5/6 at control and post-sound conditions were tested for statistics (i) orientation tuning values (ii) Bandwidth values (iii) Orientation Selectivity Index (OSI) values and (iv) Response Change Index (RCI) values. These data were first tested for normal distribution using the Shapiro Wilk normality test. Based on the results obtained, parametric and non-parametric tests were applied on data sets. Consequently, comparisons were drawn between values of different parameters for either layer. Detailed information of tests can be found in legends of the figures as well as the results.

The current investigation focused on how visual cells reacted towards oriented gratings when a sound stimulus was presented solely in the absence of any other visual stimulation. The extracellular activity of V1 neurons was simultaneously recorded from the layer 2/3 and 5/6 down the column. The Gaussian tuning curves of neurons in layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 were compared between the control and post-sound situations. In total, 239 cells were recorded during different experiments out of which 124 neurons belonged to the layer 2/3 and the remaining 115 to the layer 5/6. These pools were used for further analysis and statistics.

4.7 Results

4.7.1 Impact of repetitive auditory input on orientation tuning of visual neurons: A typical example.

Figure 4.3 shows the typical result of a recorded neuron pair from layer 2/3 and layer 5/6. Two typical orientation tuning curves in raw forms are shown as (A) and (C) for layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 respectively. To infer the exact value of orientation preference, non-linear Gaussian fits were generated and are shown for the supra-granular (Figure 4.3B) and infra-granular cell (Figure 4.3D) for either condition. It must be emphasized that both cells were recorded simultaneously from the same electrode and the recording sites were separated by ~500 microns. The supra-granular cell exhibited an optimal orientation at 94.29° while the optimal orientation of the infra-granular layer was 96.70°, suggesting that the electrode was lowered in the same orientation column since optimal orientations are about equal. Following sound application, both cells displayed a novel optimal orientation. The peak of the optimal orientation of the supra-granular cell shifted to 110.92° indicating a displacement of 16° whereas the peak of the infra-granular cell moved in the opposite direction to 74.94° demonstrating shift amplitude of 21°. The opposite displacement of the peaks of optimal orientation tuning suggests that these shifts cannot be attributed to a global and spontaneous fluctuation of the firing rates. Each cell behaved independently. Furthermore, numerous studies have shown that, while the magnitude of the optimal responses may vary, the optimal orientation preference exhibits stability. Indeed, the optimal orientation remains the same for hours and even days and these controls were shown by Bachatene and colleagues (Henry et al., 1973; Frenkel et al., 2006; Lutcke et al., 2013; Bachatene et al., 2015c). Therefore, the significant change in orientation selectivity is due to the experience of visual neurons with the sound. Unlike previous studies where a modulation of response was remarked after the presentation of auditory stimulus for a few milliseconds (Iurilli et al., 2012; Ibrahim et al., 2016),

intriguingly, in this investigation, a complete shift in the curves of the orientation tuning of neurons was observed following the sound application.





Typical examples of shift of orientation tuning peaks. The figure represents a pair of layers 2/3 and layer 5/6 neuron recorded simultaneously during the protocol. The bars signify standard error of the mean (mean ± SEM) over 25 trials at each presented oriented grating. The direction of shift is highlighted by an arrow (A) Raw orientation tuning values were compared for layer 2/3 neuron at control and post-sound conditions. A clear change in selectivity can be observed (B). To deduce the exact values of

orientation tuning, raw values were fitted using the Gauss function. An overlap of the initially preferred and the new selectivity has been depicted along with the XC, R^2 and OSI values. (C) Raw tuning curves of layer 5/6 neuron at control and post-sound conditions are displayed (D) Gaussian fitted tuning curves for layer 5/6 neuron over raw data is shown. The values of XC, R^2 and OSI are also displayed alongside the

curves.

4.7.2 Neurons in supra- and infragranular layers regain their original optimal orientation tuning

Figure 4.4 shows examples of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons displaying a change in orientation selectivity during the presentation of oriented gratings at different steps of the recording protocol. Figure 4.4 A shows typical example of layer 2/3 neuron that was initially tuned to 82.06°. This indicated the optimal tuning of the neuron. Following the experience with 12 min of sound stimulus the same neuron changed its initially preferred orientation selectivity to a new preference of 32.80°. This neuron returned towards its original orientation selectivity, i.e., 78.01° after the rest period of 90 min. Likewise, the layer 5/6 neuron shown in Figure 4.4B recovered back from its new tuning peak of 115.73° to 91.09° after about 90 min of recovery time, which was quite close to its original optimal orientation tuning to 98.57°.



Figure 4.4

Typical examples of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons' gaussian fits showing a change in orientation tuning curves at control, post-sound and recovery stages. Both neurons clearly recovered back toward their original optimal after going through a resting period of 90 minutes. Figure 4.4A presents a layer 2/3 neuron that was optimally tuned to 82.06°. After 12 min of sound presentation the same neuron changed its orientation selectivity to 32.80°. Undergoing a rest period of 90 min, the same neuron returned towards its original orientation selectivity, i.e., 78.01°. Similarly, the layer 5/6 neuron shown in Figure 4.4B displays behavior of a neuron at different stages of sound adaptation protocol. The neuron was tuned to 98.57° initially, which was modified by the 12 min sound presentation to 115.73°. Finally, after the duration of 90 min, the same neuron gained its original orientation selectivity to 91.09°.

4.7.3 Shift amplitude and sound source localization

The orientation tuning values of individual neurons at control and post-sound conditions are illustrated in Figure 4.5. On these datasets, a non-parametric statistical method was applied. The significant differences are indicated by solid black lines above each plot. The graphs A-C display values of orientation tuning peaks when speakers were placed laterally on either side of the animal with respect to the fixation axis of the animal. Figure 4.5A and 4.5B show the change in orientation tuning values pre- and post-sound for layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons, respectively. In Figure 4.5A (left side), on comparing the two conditions, the values were found to be significantly different. In Figure 4.5B (left side), the orientation preference values covered the full spread of presented gratings (range 0° to 157.5°). Remarkably, the post-sound preferred orientations of layer 2/3 neurons appeared to have a significant bias towards horizontal orientations (range 0° to 50°), whereas this trend was not observed for cells in layer 5/6. The significant bias observed could be attributed to the variation of orientation selectivity by the properties of the auditory stimulus itself, or to the distinct mechanisms that drive the interaction between auditory and visual cortex. Further, different behaviors of neurons in different layers toward the same stimulus indicate different stages of cortical processing of the stimulus in the orientation column (Martinez *et al.*, 2005). The overall mean

of the individual values (individual values and mean both shown) for the three experimental steps (control, post-sound application, recovery ~90 min following sound application) are shown as inserts on the right side of Figure 4.5A and Figure 4.5B. Further, mean orientation tuning values of layer 2/3 and 5/6 neurons at control and post-sound conditions were compared using Repeated measures ANOVA, P value = 0.0177 (refer to Figure 4.5C). The means (mean \pm SEM) for the four mentioned data sets were 81.41 \pm 4.952, 18.15 \pm 1.882, 83.33 \pm 4.566 and 71.38 \pm 4.332, respectively. These four data sets were compared with one another using Tukey's multiple post-comparison tests. Three out of six groups (layer 2/3 control versus layer 2/3 post-sound, layer 2/3 post-sound versus layer 5/6 control and layer 2/3 post-sound versus layer 5/6 post-sound), were found to be significantly different, whereas the remaining three groups (layer 2/3 control versus layer 5/6 control, layer 2/3 control vs layer 5/6 post-sound, and layer 5/6 control versus layer 5/6 post-sound) were found statistically non-significant.





Acoustic stimulation results in modification of orientation preference in layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons. (A) A plot of orientation tuning values for layer 2/3 neurons (N = 73), at control and post-sound presentation conditions is displayed (Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test, P value <0.0001). On the right side, the histogram in grey and black shows the comparison of means of orientation selectivity values of (N = 31 out of 73) neurons at control, post-sound and recovery conditions (Wilcoxon matchedpairs signed rank test: Cont-Post-sound , P value <0.0001; Control-Recovery, P value <0.0047; Post-

sound -Recovery, P value <0.0001) (B) The graph shows the orientation tuning values for layer 5/6 neurons (N = 70) for control and post-sound conditions (Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test, P value = 0.2280). The histogram in grey and black on the right side shows the comparison between means of orientation selectivity values (N = 31 out ot 70) at control, post-sound and recovery conditions (Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test: Cont-Post-sound , P value = 0.6152; Control-Recovery, P value = 0.4487; Post-sound -Recovery, P value = 0.8325) (C) This graph shows a comparison of means of orientation tuning values of layer 2/3 (N = 73) and layer 5/6 (N = 70) at control and post-sound

condition.

To explore the effects of displacement of the sound source, the speakers were positioned in the front of the animal. Figure 4.6A and 5.6B showed the variation in displacements of orientation tuning for layer 2/3 (N = 08) and layer 5/6 neurons (N = 11), respectively, at control and post-sound conditions. Layer 2/3 neurons showed a similar bias for horizontal orientations (tested significant statistically) in comparison to layer 5/6 cells. Figure 4.6C revealed the comparison of mean of orientation tunings of the above mentioned four groups. As an outcome of Repeated measures ANOVA, the comparison turned out to be non-significant. The means (mean \pm SEM) for the mentioned four datasets were found to be 69.34 ± 13.21 , 14.79 ± 4.90 , 90.22 ± 11.91 , and 91.24 ± 11.38 , respectively (Figure 4.6 C). Using Tukey's multiple post comparison test, two out of six groups; layer 2/3 post-sound vs layer 5/6 control and layer 2/3 post-sound vs layer 5/6 post-sound were statistically different whereas the remaining four groups layer 2/3 control vs layer 2/3 postsound, layer 2/3 control vs layer 5/6 control, layer 2/3 control vs layer 5/6 post-sound and layer 5/6 control vs layer 5/6 post-sound were found statistically non-significant at the same confidence level. These results were similar to results obtained when the speakers were placed laterally on either side of the animal, thus revealing a lack of difference in responses of neurons. Together, these results displayed the extended plastic nature of layer 2/3 neurons over layer 5/6 neurons and confirmed that displacing the speaker position did not bring any response change.



Figure 4.6

The graphs A-C show results when the speakers were positioned in front of the animal. A non-parametric statistical approach was followed since the data did not pass the Shapiro Wilk normality test. Connected points represent individual cells (A) Orientation tuning values for layer 2/3 neurons (N = 08) were plotted at both conditions and the difference was found to be significant (Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test, P value = 0.0078) (B) Change in orientation tuning values of layer 5/6 neurons (N = 11) are displayed in the graph and the difference was found to be non-significant (Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test, P-value = 0.8984) (C) Histogram of mean of amplitudes at control and post-sound conditions. The four groups (layer 2/3 control and post sound, and layer 5/6 control and post-sound) were compared using Repeated measures ANOVA. The means (mean ± SEM) for the four mentioned data sets were 69.34 ± 13.21, 14.79 ± 4.908, 90.22 ± 11.91 and 91.24 ± 11.38 respectively. Further, using Tukey's multiple post comparison test, the differences between all groups were calculated. Two out of six groups, layer 2/3 post-sound vs layer 5/6 control and layer 2/3 post-sound were statistically different, whereas the remaining four groups, layer 2/3 control vs layer 2/3 post-sound, layer

2/3 control vs layer 5/6 control, layer 2/3 control vs layer 5/6 post-sound, and layer 5/6 control vs layer 5/6 post-sound, were found statistically non-significant at the same confidence level.

4.7.4 Sound impacts bandwidth of supra- and infra-granular neurons

The sharpness of orientation selectivity can be evaluated by measuring the bandwidth at half height of the orientation Gaussian tuning curve (Ringach et al., 2002; Moore et al., 2005). With this approach, we compared the tuning bandwidth of all neurons in either layer in control and post-sound conditions. The graphs shown in Figure 4.7 are a compilation of bandwidth analyses on layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons. Figure 4.7A shows the difference in bandwidth for layer 2/3 neurons (N = 60). The large variance of the bandwidth of a neuron indicates broadening of selectivity for a range of orientations signifying a large contribution of flank orientations in the overall tuning of the neuron. Such an increase observed in our data strongly proposes that sound repetition induced the development of a different preferred orientation in the same neuron with a broader tuning curve. From this figure, overall, the tuning bandwidth at half magnitude (FWHM: full width at half magnitude) was found to be slightly enlarged at post-sound condition but not significantly different. This effect can be further understood by relating the results observed in Figure 4.4A where values of orientation preference for layer 2/3 cells held a bias towards the horizontal orientation's post-sound application. It gives the impression as if the neurons recorded from different sites in layer 2/3 were affected similarly on the application of sound and made all superficial layer neurons respond towards the sound in the same way. Similarly, in Figure 4.7B, layer 5/6 cells (N = 80) also showed a similar increment in the bandwidth responses. These were found to be statistically significant (Wilcoxon matchedpairs signed rank test, P-value = 0.0697). These results suggested that though both layers displayed similar behavior following the sound stimulus, nonetheless layer 5/6 cells exhibited broader shifts of tuning curves in comparison with layer 2/3 cells (refer to Figure 4.4B).

To test an overall trend, the mean values of neurons' bandwidths were compared with each other in both layers (Figure 4.7C). All groups were compared with each other using Repeated measures ANOVA.

The means (means \pm SEM) for the mentioned four data sets were 17.53 ± 2.29 , 28.14 ± 3.59 , 22.74 ± 2.73 and 72.52 ± 4.38 respectively. Two out of six groups, (layer 2/3 post-sound vs layer 5/6 post-sound and layer 5/6 control vs layer 5/6 post-sound), were found to be significantly different (Tukey's multiple post comparison test), whereas others (layer 2/3 control vs layer 2/3 post-sound and layer 2/3 control vs layer 5/6 control vs la

BANDWIDTHS



Figure 4.7

The sharpness of orientation selectivity. A non-parametric statistical approach was followed to measure significance between data sets. Connected points represent individual cells (A) The numerical values of bandwidths were plotted for layer 2/3 cells (N = 60) at control and post-sound conditions (Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test, P-value = 0.0663) (B) A similar plot of bandwidth values for layer 5/6

neurons (N=80) is shown (Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test, P-value = 0.0697) (C) Graph showing mean of bandwidths at control and post-sound condition. All four groups (layer 2/3 control, layer 2/3 post-sound, layer 5/6 control and layer 5/6 post-sound) were compared in this analysis using One-way ANOVA. The means (mean ± SEM) for the mentioned four data sets were 17.53 ± 2.293, 28.14 ± 3.595, 22.74 ± 2.736, and 72.52 ± 4.389 respectively. Further, with the help of Tukey's multiple post comparison tests the differences between all four datasets were calculated. Three groups (layer 2/3 control vs layer 5/6 post-sound, layer 2/3 post-sound vs layer 5/6 post-sound and layer 5/6 control vs layer 5/6 post-sound) were found significantly different whereas remaining groups (layer 2/3 control vs layer 2/3 post-sound, layer 2/3 control vs layer 5/6 control and layer 5/6 control) tested statistically non-significant at the same confidence level.

4.7.5 Orientation Selectivity Index (OSI)

In line with the previous reports (Dragoi *et al.*, 2001; Ringach *et al.*, 2002; Atallah *et al.*, 2012; Denman & Contreras, 2014) neurons having an OSI superior or equal to 0.4 can be classified as sharply tuned cells. In this investigation OSI values for all cells have been pooled to generate the figure. Figures 8A and 8B show scatter plots for regression analyses for layer 2/3 neurons (N = 124) and layer 5/6 neurons (N = 115) at control and post-sound conditions, respectively. Layer 2/3 experienced more variation of response after sound application in comparison to layer 5/6. Overall, the OSI remained the same for either layer at both control and post-sound conditions yet layer 5/6 neurons experienced more dispersed evoked responses towards all presented orientations (Figure 8B). The comparison between all groups (using Tukey's multiple post comparison tests) showed that layer 2/3 neurons experienced a decline in selectivity of the preferred orientation (Figure 8C). Two out of six groups (control layer 5/6 vs post-sound layer 2/3, control layer 2/3 vs post-sound layer 2/3) were found to be significantly different, whereas the remaining four groups' differences were found to be non-significant. These results also correspond to our results from bandwidth data. The broadening of tuning curves after the imposition of sound lead to a decrease in mean OSI.



Figure 4.8

Orientation Selectivity Index (OSI) (A) OSI values calculated for layer 2/3 neurons (N = 124) at control and post-sound conditions are displayed as scatter plots and the regression line has been plotted (Pvalue<0.001; R2 = 0.3342) (B) Similar plot with regression analysis is also shown for layer 5/6 neurons (N = 115) at both circumstances (P-value = 0.0015; R2 = 0.08593) (C) The values of OSI from either layer for both conditions was compared using Repeated measures ANOVA. Only two groups tested statistically different for means (control layer 5/6 vs post-sound layer 2/3, and post-sound layer 2/3 and control layer 2/3) whereas remaining groups were not found different at any significance level.

4.7.6 Response change index (RCI): Response modulation comparison between orientations

As described in the methods section the modulation of response magnitude was calculated for all cells and for all applied oriented gratings. The values for layer 2/3 (N = 124) and layer 5/6 (N = 115) cells have been pooled to generate the analyses. Results are compiled in Figure 4.8. The means RCI (mean \pm SEM) of all layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons (Figure 9A) were -0.03435 \pm 0.02 and 0.03098 \pm 0.02 and were found statistically non-significant (Mann Whitney Test, P-value = 0.0682). In layer 2/3, responses fluctuated roughly with the same magnitude for all tested orientations. The differences between all possible pairs among all orientations were measured by Repeated measures ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison tests was applied to compare variances among means. The differences between all orientations in layer 2/3 were found to be non-significant (Figure 4.8B). Interestingly, in layer 5/6 (Figure 4.8C) the largest RCI was

determined for orientations close to the vertical axis (recall cells in both layers were recorded simultaneously). A closer analysis indicates that RCI regularly declined to become negligible in both directions as evoked responses moved away from vertical to horizontal orientations. Only five (0° vs 90°, 22° vs 90°, 45° vs 90°, 90 vs 135° and 90° vs 157°) out of twenty-eight groups tested were significantly different. This analysis, however, unveils another important observation. When RCI was analyzed at individual orientations, we found that, in supragranular layers, the firing rate decreased for most orientations whereas in infragranular an opposite effect was observed. Nevertheless, the overall response variation is balanced (refer to Figure 4.9A). Altogether, layer 2/3 neurons experienced response suppression and layer 5/6 neurons experienced response enhancement.

Finally, the striking inverse response modification of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons further suggests that neurons in supra- and infra-granular layers behave differently towards the identical stimuli conditions and it appears cells of both layers behave independently to process information. This kind of behavior where layers conduct themselves differently towards the same stimulus is indicative of different stages of cortical processing in a particular column (Martinez *et al.*, 2005).





Response Change Index (RCI). A non-parametric method was opted for statistical validations (A) Histogram showing mean of RCI of all test neurons in either layer at all presented orientations (0° - 157.5°, separated by 22. 5°). The mean RCI (mean \pm SEM) of all layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons were -

0.03435 ± 0.02054 and 0.03098 ± 0.02241 and statistically non-significant (Mann Whitney Test, P-value = 0.0682) (B) A graph showing histograms of RCI at different orientations for layer 2/3 cells. The differences between all possible pairs among all orientations were measured by Repeated measures ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test. (C) A similar analysis was done on layer 5/6 neurons, and the histogram was generated. Five groups out of all possible paired comparisons (0° vs 90°, 22° vs 90°, 45° vs 90°, 90° vs 135° and 90° vs 157.5°) tested significantly different, whereas, for rest of the groups, the mean of RCI was not significantly different.

4.8 Discussion

The present study aimed to investigate the responses of visual neurons of V1 when stimulated by a repetitive auditory stimulus whose frequency and power varied cyclically, presumably driving many putative synaptic inputs as auditory cells respond to many different sounds. The investigation revealed three main findings following adaptation protocol to sound. First, and the most important result, we observed shifts in the orientation tuning curves in cat's supra -and infra-granular layer neurons implying new orientation selectivity. Second, superficial and deeper layer neurons, recorded from the same columns at the same time, seemed to behave differently.

Moreover, occasionally cells in both layers shifted in opposite directions indicating independent behavior. Third, neurons in infra-granular layer 5/6 exhibited larger shifts of their orientation selectivity than the layer 2/3 neurons. Collectively, these findings suggest that neurons in the primary visual cortex (V1) might have a supplementary role in addition to processing a visual stimulus. Surely, these observations unveil that neurons in the primary visual cortex may alter their orientation preference since the peak of the tuning curves points to a novel preferred orientation.

4.8.1 Methodological considerations

We recognize that anesthesia affects the frequency of neuronal firing, especially when comparing anesthetized with behaving animals. Under anesthesia, neurons fire more sparsely and with lower firing rates (Barth & Poulet, 2012). Land (Land *et al.*, 2012) revealed the effect of isoflurane on the cortical processing in a cross-modal study of the visual and auditory cortices of mice. However, the effects observed in Land's study were an outcome of a deliberate decrease and increase in the levels of isoflurane during the recording sessions. In the present case, anesthesia was kept constant. Also, several findings argue against a significant influence of anesthesia. In general, anesthesia decreases the neuronal responsiveness globally. Shifts in the orientation tuning curves are ascribed to a decrease of responses to preferred orientation and simultaneously an increase to non-preferred orientation, that is, a push-pull mechanism. Similar shifts in orientation selectivity were reported when the adapting stimuli were visual in many species (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2008; 2009; Bachatene *et al.*, 2012; Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013; Chanauria *et al.*, 2016).

Furthermore, the shifts in supra- and infra-granular layers were in the opposite direction. Additionally, supra-granular cells exhibited a tendency to shift their axis of orientation toward horizontal while infra-granular cells shifted the preferred orientation over the entire spectrum (note that cells were recorded simultaneously with the same electrode, and orientations were applied in random order). In cats, it has been shown that orientation selectivity does not occur at the LGN (lateral geniculate nucleus) level but is initiated at the cortical level (Dragoi *et al.*, 2001; Bouchard *et al.*, 2008). Infra-granular cells exhibited response change indexes increase predominantly for orientations close to vertical. Thus, such differential effects are difficult to reconcile with the global effects of anesthesia.

It could be of concern as to why a stimulus of 12 min was chosen. The reason behind the choice was first, to stimulate the auditory cortex with varying frequencies for a prolonged duration that could further impact the visual cortex. The current literature showing effects of the auditory stimulus on visual

neurons used short sounds that induced modulation of the firing rate. Thus, it became of interest to observe responses of visual neurons in response to a longer duration sound. Since it was already established that 12 min duration is enough to entirely change the tuning properties of neurons we used a sound stimulus for 12 min. The sound stimulus lasted 3s and was presented uninterruptedly for 12 min. Therefore, the duration of the sound stimulus was selected to compare the effects with visual adaptation (Chanauria *et al.*, 2016) and auditory adaptation on supra- and infra-granular visual neurons. It was of utmost interest to see if neurons behaved similarly or not by triggering the visual cortex by another modality. Of course, it remains crucial to examine the effect of sounds with different properties and different durations on the visual cortex; that will help better understand the interactions between auditory and visual cortex.

4.8.2 Layers behave as separate compartments

Our results also show that the application of sound differentially affected layers 2/3 and 5/6, thereby also reconfiguring the layout of orientation maps in the V1. Ibrahim and co-authors (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016) demonstrated that layer 2/3 neurons' responses are suppressed by the A1 signals. Layer 2/3 neurons keep receiving the information for 12 min and presumably the intensity of the inhibitory drive increases with the duration of adaptation. Interestingly, it has been suggested that a supplementary excitatory feedback drive initiated in A1 may interact with layer 5/6 neurons (Fritz *et al.*, 2003; Muckli & Petro, 2013; Vetter *et al.*, 2014; Muckli *et al.*, 2015; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016). This dual projection of neurons in supra- and infra-granular layers may elucidate shifts of tuning curves in the opposite direction (see example tuning curve). It is also known that each visual cortical layer has unique connections and these specific connections probably serve discrete functions. Thus, connections in each layer are dedicated for different purpose. Therefore, towards the same stimuli, neurons in different layers evoke different response properties indicating sequential stages of cortical processing (Martinez *et al.*, 2005). In summary, the application of sound differentially affected the layers 2/3 and 5/6.

4.8.3 Layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons change orientation preferences

In line with the previous studies in visual adaptation, many authors have described changes in orientation selectivity after a short (less than a minute) (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000) or long light adaptation (Ghisovan *et al.*, 2008; 2009; Bachatene *et al.*, 2012; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013; Bachatene *et al.*, 2015; Chanauria *et al.*, 2016) (several minutes). Usually, the protocol requires the frequent or continued application of a non-preferred property of the adapter such as orientation. In the above experiments, the peak of the orientation tuning curve is displaced either toward (attractive) or away (repulsive) from the adapting orientation. In all cases, such protocol results in the emergence of novel orientation selectivity. Neurons undergo a push-pull mechanism (Bachatene *et al.*, 2012; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013; Bachatene *et al.*, 2015; Chanauria *et al.*, 2016) that is characterized by the decrease and increase of the firing rates at the initially preferred and the adapting orientation (newly acquired) respectively.

In the current investigation, the non-preferred stimulus traditionally referred to as visual adapter is absent and is replaced by exposure to a sound stimulus imposed in seclusion for several minutes uninterruptedly. Results revealed that such presentation of sound shifts the orientation tuning curves of individual visual neurons in supra- and infra-granular layers of area 17 of cats. Consequently, the sound seemed to exert distinctive effects in addition to the global modulatory influence. As orientation selectivity is formed at the cortical level, thanks to aligned thalamic inputs upon the cortical recipient neurons, the changes of orientation selectivity are unlikely to happen at thalamic levels, where cells have mostly concentric receptive fields (although some units may exhibit a slight orientation bias). Further, we found populations of neurons (layer 2/3 and layer 5/6) exhibiting enhanced or diminished responses while the overall response of the population remained balanced (Figure 7A). Notably, at 90° orientation, a clear enhancement of response is seen whereas suppression occurs in layer 2/3 neurons. Layer 5/6 cells experienced an increase in excitation.

It has been noted that short duration sounds produce weak visual responses (Brady, 2011; Deneux et al., 2018). Repeated presentation of the sound stimulus for a prolonged duration may be accountable for eliciting stronger responses in V1. Undoubtedly, the repeated stimulation aids in crossing a threshold capable of generating the required strength of interaction given that substantial auditory input reaches V1. This sort of mechanism can logically happen in layer 2/3 where pyramidal neurons receive direct inputs from the auditory cortex, as 12 min time is enough to encode the raw embedded visual information within the audio stimulus. The bias we observed may perhaps be a consequence of such a process, and that is why we notice an orientation bias towards horizontal axis for layer 2/3 neurons but not in layer 5/6. Also, this predisposition could be inherently induced because of the property of the sound itself. It has been known for many years now that visual cortex is a stimulus-driven structure (Doron et al., 2002; Izraeli et al., 2002; Piche et al., 2007; Chabot et al., 2008). The non-visual information in the stimulus can transmit from nonvisual sensory structures to the visual cortex by direct cortico-occipital (temporo-occipital?) pathways and circumvent the higher order cortex. Xu and co-authors (Xu et al., 2012) suggested that functional mixing of inputs from two different sources could allow for facilitative non-linear interactions within individual dendrites that may lead to the bias towards horizontal orientations. This non-linearity may yield a preference towards the horizontal orientations. Another important revelation from a previous study (Deneux et al., 2018) suggests that the increasing intensity of sound strengthens the neuronal response. The intensity of the stimulus we used was kept the same for the 3s, and the same 3s time was repeated for 12 min.

4.8.4 Inhibitory mechanisms

Recent studies have suggested that sound modulates light responses by impacting inhibitory neurons in the V1 cortex (Iurilli *et al.*, 2012; Kayser & Remedios, 2012; Pluta *et al.*, 2015; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016). A very recent report (Deneux *et al.*, 2018) revealed that auditory cortex neurons project to V1 inhibitory neurons in superficial layers, especially layer 1. Indeed, area A1 sends axons to V1 where they connect to inhibitory interneurons (Iurilli *et al.*, 2012). As summarized by Meijer and authors in their paper (Meijer *et al.*, 2017),

auditory stimuli suppress VIP interneurons which inhibit SOM cells which in turn suppresses PV (Parvalbumin; GABAergic interneurons) cells and distal dendrites (involved in non-local synapses) of supragranular pyramidal cells (Gentet, 2012; Meijer *et al.*, 2017). This specific pathway is activated precisely in response only to non-visual inputs (Deneux *et al.*, 2018). Indeed, pyramidal cells are entrenched by inhibitory cells (Tremblay *et al.*, 2016). Authors (Deneux *et al.*, 2018) reported that the observed inhibitory mechanisms originated in a dark setup, and these results could be applied to the current investigation since sound was applied in darkness. However, it must be underlined that inhibition was not directly tested in the present investigation consequently the above suggestions necessitate experimental evidence.

Furthermore, there is classical cross-orientation inhibition that may be added to above inhibitory processes initiated in A1 (Morrone *et al.*, 1982; Alitto & Dan, 2010; Priebe, 2016). Such steps may further contribute to changing of preferred orientation that result in shifts of selectivity. On similar lines, it has been hypothesized that sound exerts a divisive or additive influence, resulting in a decline or enhancement of light responses (Pluta *et al.*, 2015). These results were observed in mice yet similar explanations could apply to cats.

4.8.5 Supramodal nature and cross-modal influences in the cortex

Our results demonstrate a new case of audio-visual communication, and further substantiate the observations made by previous investigations in cross-modal plasticity. Unlike the relatively slight modulation of firing rate of neurons detected in previous investigations in mice (Iurilli *et al.*, 2012; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016), we observed a much more vigorous response-change in our data, wherein V1 neurons experienced a complete shift in their orientation preference. This kind of modification was reported earlier in literature related to adaptation studies where neurons were only exposed to an adapting orientation (visual stimulus) and acquired newly preferred selectivity. These visual adaptation protocols pertain to the classical flow of information involving LGN to the input layer 4 of the V1 and then to layer 2/3 and finally to layer

5/6. In the current case, the visual adapter was absent, yet similar results were obtained. Indeed, in this case, it is the application of sound for several minutes that induced neurons to acquire a new preferred orientation. Though the principle underlying such interactions has not been fully discovered yet, the most suitable explanation that fits in with our results is the combination of cross-modal interactions and the supramodal nature of the visual cortex. The visual cortex is a stimulus-driven structure. Therefore, it exhibits a unique response pattern towards specific protocols and stimuli. It is hypothesized that, upon sensory activation, the visual cortex relies on the abstract representation of the sensory stimuli regardless of the sensory modality. Stimulus-specific reorganization of the cortex can be responsible for the recalibration of the sensory system. In the present study, healthy animals were monocularly stimulated. A supportive study (Muckli *et al.*, 2015) highlights that a significant source of information lies in the context of the stimuli. Muckli and colleagues state that any sensory stimulus involving a feature can potentially embody the global features of the stimuli that are enough to trigger a complex scene representation of the same sound stimulus in the visual cortex (Bar, 2004; Oliva & Torralba, 2007), especially when presented for a prolonged duration. Although these effects have been discussed mainly from imaging studies on humans, the underlying principle supports the suggestion of our data (Vogels, 1999; Muckli *et al.*, 2005; Vetter *et al.*, 2014; Muckli *et al.*, 2015).

Besides, from the spectrogram it can be noticed that the sound stimulus has a structure and a direction in its frequency modulation. The stimulus quite creates the illusion of the oriented gratings for the auditory neurons and due to the repetitive nature of the stimulus it also has specific time-frequency organization that is yet again equivalent of oriented gratings for the auditory neurons. Therefore, these embedded features of the sound seem potential to modulate the activity of V1 neurons.

4.9 Conclusion

The recent finding of the early involvement of the visual cortex in the integration of multimodal information has led to the testing of different stimuli towards non-corresponding primary sensory regions. During

experimentation in this direction, different research groups have discovered a slight modulation of response with respect to short sound exposure. Our data demonstrate that prolonged sound presentation (sound adaptation) entirely modifies the tuning properties of individual cells and consequently reorganizes the cortical orientation maps in V1. Our results further substantiate and support that primary visual cortex is indeed inherently multisensory in nature. Nevertheless, a crucial and detailed inspection is required to fully fathom the mechanisms of communication between the primary sensory areas.

4.10 Acknowledgments

NSERC Canada, Grant no 6943 supported this research. SM, NC, and VB designed the experiments. NC, VB, LB and SC participated in the experiments. NC wrote the paper and analyzed the data. JR greatly assisted with the optimization of the auditory stimulus, SM and JR contributed with comments that significantly improved the manuscript.

4.11 References

Alitto, H.J. & Dan, Y. (2010) Function of inhibition in visual cortical processing. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, **20**, 340-346.

Atallah, B.V., Bruns, W., Carandini, M. & Scanziani, M. (2012) Parvalbumin-expressing interneurons linearly transform cortical responses to visual stimuli. *Neuron*, **73**, 159-170.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Cattan, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2013) Fluoxetine and serotonin facilitate attractive-adaptation-induced orientation plasticity in adult cat visual cortex. *Eur J Neurosci*, **38**, 2065-2077.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Cattan, S., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2015) Reprogramming of orientation columns in visual cortex: a domino effect. *Sci Rep*, **5**, 9436.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2012a) Adaptation and Neuronal Network in Visual Cortex. *InTech Open*, doi: 10.5772/46011.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2012b) Adaptation-induced plasticity and spike waveforms in cat visual cortex. *Neuroreport*, **23**, 88-92.

Bar, M. (2004) Visual objects in context. Nat Rev Neurosci, 5, 617-629.

Bardy, C., Huang, J.Y., Wang, C., FitzGibbon, T. & Dreher, B. (2006) 'Simplification' of responses of complex cells in cat striate cortex: suppressive surrounds and 'feedback' inactivation. *The Journal of Physiology*, **574**, 731-750.

Barlow, H.B., Blakemore, C. & Pettigrew, J.D. (1967) The neural mechanism of binocular depth discrimination. *The Journal of Physiology*, **193**, 327-342.

Barth, A.L. & Poulet, J.F. (2012) Experimental evidence for sparse firing in the neocortex. *Trends Neurosci*, **35**, 345-355.

Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Brodeur, S., Chanauria, N., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2016) Network-selectivity and stimulus-discrimination in the primary visual cortex: cell-assembly dynamics. *Eur J Neurosci*, **43**, 204-219.

Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Chanauria, N., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2015) Stimulusdependent augmented gamma oscillatory activity between the functionally connected cortical neurons in the primary visual cortex. *Eur J Neurosci*, **41**, 1587-1596.

Bouchard, M., Gillet, P.C., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2008) Adaptation changes the spatial frequency tuning of adult cat visual cortex neurons. *Exp Brain Res*, **188**, 289-303.

Brady, D. (2011) Mechanisms of Cross-Modal Refinement by Visual Experience. *Doctoral dissertation, Harvard University.*

Budinger, E., Heil, P., Hess, A. & Scheich, H. (2006) Multisensory processing via early cortical stages: Connections of the primary auditory cortical field with other sensory systems. *Neuroscience*, **143**, 1065-1083.

Chabot, N., Charbonneau, V., Laramee, M.E., Tremblay, R., Boire, D. & Bronchti, G. (2008) Subcortical auditory input to the primary visual cortex in anophthalmic mice. *Neuroscience letters*, **433**, 129-134.

Chanauria, N., Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2016) Comparative effects of adaptation on layers II-III and V-VI neurons in cat V1. *Eur J Neurosci*, **44**, 3094-3104.

Clavagnier, S., Falchier, A. & Kennedy, H. (2004) Long-distance feedback projections to area V1: implications for multisensory integration, spatial awareness, and visual consciousness. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci*, **4**, 117-126.

Deneux, T., Kempf, A. & Bathellier, B. (2018) Context-dependent signaling of coincident auditory and visual events in primary visual cortex. *Nat Commun* (under consideration).

Denman, D.J. & Contreras, D. (2014) The structure of pairwise correlation in mouse primary visual cortex reveals functional organization in the absence of an orientation map. *Cereb Cortex*, **24**, 2707-2720.

Doron, N.N., Ledoux, J.E. & Semple, M.N. (2002) Redefining the tonotopic core of rat auditory cortex: physiological evidence for a posterior field. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, **453**, 345-360.

Dragoi, V., Rivadulla, C. & Sur, M. (2001) Foci of orientation plasticity in visual cortex. *Nature*, **411**, 80-86.

Dragoi, V., Sharma, J. & Sur, M. (2000) Adaptation-induced plasticity of orientation tuning in adult visual cortex. *Neuron*, **28**, 287-298.

Foxe, J.J. & Schroeder, C.E. (2005) The case for feedforward multisensory convergence during early cortical processing. *Neuroreport*, **16**, 419-423.

Frenkel, M.Y., Sawtell, N.B., Diogo, A.C., Yoon, B., Neve, R.L. & Bear, M.F. (2006) Instructive effect of visual experience in mouse visual cortex. *Neuron*, **51**, 339-349.

Fries, P., Nikolic, D. & Singer, W. (2007) The gamma cycle. Trends Neurosci, 30, 309-316.

Fritz, J., Shamma, S., Elhilali, M. & Klein, D. (2003) Rapid task-related plasticity of spectrotemporal receptive fields in primary auditory cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **6**, 1216-1223.

Gentet, L.J. (2012) Functional diversity of supragranular GABAergic neurons in the barrel cortex. *Front Neural Circuits*, **6**, 52.

Ghazanfar, A.A. & Schroeder, C.E. (2006) Is neocortex essentially multisensory? *Trends Cogn Sci*, 10, 278-285.

Ghisovan, N., Nemri, A., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2008) Visual cells remember earlier applied target: plasticity of orientation selectivity. *PLoS One*, **3**, e3689.

Ghisovan, N., Nemri, A., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2009) Long adaptation reveals mostly attractive shifts of orientation tuning in cat primary visual cortex. *Neuroscience*, **164**, 1274-1283.

Gielen, S.C., Schmidt, R.A. & Van den Heuvel, P.J. (1983) On the nature of intersensory facilitation of reaction time. *Perception & psychophysics*, **34**, 161-168.

Hall, A.J. & Lomber, S.G. (2008) Auditory cortex projections target the peripheral field representation of primary visual cortex. *Exp Brain Res*, **190**, 413-430.

Henry, G.H., Bishop, P.O., Tupper, R.M. & Dreher, B. (1973) Orientation specificity and response variability of cells in the striate cortex. *Vision Res*, **13**, 1771-1779.

Hershenson, M. (1962) Reaction time as a measure of intersensory facilitation. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, **63**, 289-293.

Ibrahim, L.A., Mesik, L., Ji, X.Y., Fang, Q., Li, H.F., Li, Y.T., Zingg, B., Zhang, L.I. & Tao, H.W. (2016) Cross-modality sharpening of visual cortical processing through layer-1-mediated inhibition and disinhibition. *Neuron*, **89**, 1031-1045.

Iurilli, G., Ghezzi, D., Olcese, U., Lassi, G., Nazzaro, C., Tonini, R., Tucci, V., Benfenati, F. & Medini, P. (2012) Sound-driven synaptic inhibition in primary visual cortex. *Neuron*, **73**, 814-828.

Izraeli, R., Koay, G., Lamish, M., Heicklen-Klein, A.J., Heffner, H.E., Heffner, R.S. & Wollberg, Z. (2002) Cross-modal neuroplasticity in neonatally enucleated hamsters: structure, electrophysiology and behaviour. *Eur J Neurosci*, **15**, 693-712.

Jeyabalaratnam, J., Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Angers, A. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2013) Adaptation shifts preferred orientation of tuning curve in the mouse visual cortex. *PLoS One*, **8**, e64294.

Kayser, C. & Logothetis, N.K. (2007) Do early sensory cortices integrate cross-modal information? *Brain Struct Funct*, **212**, 121-132.

Kayser, C., Petkov, C.I., Augath, M. & Logothetis, N.K. (2005) Integration of touch and sound in auditory cortex. *Neuron*, **48**, 373-384.

Kayser, C. & Remedios, R. (2012) Suppressive competition: how sounds may cheat sight. *Neuron*, **73**, 627-629.

Keller, G.B., Bonhoeffer, T. & Hubener, M. (2012) Sensorimotor mismatch signals in primary visual cortex of the behaving mouse. *Neuron*, **74**, 809-815.

Land, R., Engler, G., Kral, A. & Engel, A.K. (2012) Auditory evoked bursts in mouse visual cortex during isoflurane anesthesia. *PLoS One*, **7**, e49855.

Liang, M., Mouraux, A., Hu, L. & Iannetti, G.D. (2013) Primary sensory cortices contain distinguishable spatial patterns of activity for each sense. *Nat Commun*, **4**, 1979.

Liao, D.S., Krahe, T.E., Prusky, G.T., Medina, A.E. & Ramoa, A.S. (2004) Recovery of cortical binocularity and orientation selectivity after the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, **92**, 2113-2121.

Lutcke, H., Margolis, D.J. & Helmchen, F. (2013) Steady or changing? Long-term monitoring of neuronal population activity. *Trends Neurosci*, **36**, 375-384.

Macaluso, E. & Driver, J. (2005) Multisensory spatial interactions: a window onto functional integration in the human brain. *Trends Neurosci*, **28**, 264-271.

Maffei, L., Fiorentini, A. & Bisti, S. (1973) Neural correlate of perceptual adaptation to gratings. *Science*, **182**, 1036-1038.

Martinez, L.M., Wang, Q., Reid, R.C., Pillai, C., Alonso, J.M., Sommer, F.T. & Hirsch, J.A. (2005) Receptive field structure varies with layer in the primary visual cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **8**, 372-379.

Meijer, G.T., Montijn, J.S., Pennartz, C.M.A. & Lansink, C.S. (2017) Audiovisual modulation in mouse primary visual cortex depends on cross-modal stimulus configuration and congruency. *J Neurosci*, **37**, 8783-8796.

Moore, B.D.t., Alitto, H.J. & Usrey, W.M. (2005) Orientation tuning, but not direction selectivity, is invariant to temporal frequency in primary visual cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, **94**, 1336-1345.

Morrone, M.C., Burr, D.C. & Maffei, L. (1982) Functional implications of cross-orientation inhibition of cortical visual cells. I. Neurophysiological evidence. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, **216**, 335-354.

Muckli, L., De Martino, F., Vizioli, L., Petro, L.S., Smith, F.W., Ugurbil, K., Goebel, R. & Yacoub, E. (2015) Contextual feedback to superficial layers of V1. *Curr Biol*, **25**, 2690-2695.

Muckli, L., Kohler, A., Kriegeskorte, N. & Singer, W. (2005) Primary visual cortex activity along the apparent-motion trace reflects illusory perception. *PLoS Biol*, **3**, e265.

Muckli, L. & Petro, L.S. (2013) Network interactions: non-geniculate input to V1. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, **23**, 195-201.

Oliva, A. & Torralba, A. (2007) The role of context in object recognition. Trends Cogn Sci, 11, 520-527.

Piche, M., Chabot, N., Bronchti, G., Miceli, D., Lepore, F. & Guillemot, J.P. (2007) Auditory responses in the visual cortex of neonatally enucleated rats. *Neuroscience*, **145**, 1144-1156.

Pluta, S., Naka, A., Veit, J., Telian, G., Yao, L., Hakim, R., Taylor, D. & Adesnik, H. (2015) A direct translaminar inhibitory circuit tunes cortical output. *Nat Neurosci*, **18**, 1631-1640.

Poort, J., Khan, A.G., Pachitariu, M., Nemri, A., Orsolic, I., Krupic, J., Bauza, M., Sahani, M., Keller, G.B., Mrsic-Flogel, T.D. & Hofer, S.B. (2015) Learning enhances sensory and multiple non-sensory representations in primary visual cortex. *Neuron*, **86**, 1478-1490.

Priebe, N.J. (2016) Mechanisms of orientation selectivity in the primary visual cortex. *Annu Rev Vis Sci*, **2**, 85-107.

Ramoa, A.S., Mower, A.F., Liao, D. & Jafri, S.I. (2001) Suppression of cortical NMDA receptor function prevents development of orientation selectivity in the primary visual cortex. *J Neurosci*, **21**, 4299-4309.

Ringach, D.L., Shapley, R.M. & Hawken, M.J. (2002) Orientation selectivity in macaque V1: diversity and laminar dependence. *J Neurosci*, **22**, 5639-5651.

Schroeder, C.E. & Foxe, J.J. (2002) The timing and laminar profile of converging inputs to multisensory areas of the macaque neocortex. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res*, **14**, 187-198.

Schroeder, C.E., Smiley, J., Fu, K.G., McGinnis, T., O'Connell, M.N. & Hackett, T.A. (2003) Anatomical mechanisms and functional implications of multisensory convergence in early cortical processing. *Int J Psychophysiol*, **50**, 5-17.

Shuler, M.G. & Bear, M.F. (2006) Reward timing in the primary visual cortex. Science, 311, 1606-1609.

Stevenson, R.A., Wallace, M.T. & Altieri, N. (2014) The interaction between stimulus factors and cognitive factors during multisensory integration of audiovisual speech. *Front Psychol*, **5**, 352.

Ten Oever, S., van Atteveldt, N. & Sack, A.T. (2015) Increased stimulus expectancy triggers low-frequency phase reset during restricted vigilance. *J Cogn Neurosci*, **27**, 1811-1822.

Tremblay, R., Lee, S. & Rudy, B. (2016) GABAergic interneurons in the neocortex: From cellular properties to circuits. *Neuron*, **91**, 260-292.

van Atteveldt, N., Murray, M.M., Thut, G. & Schroeder, C.E. (2014) Multisensory integration: flexible use of general operations. *Neuron*, **81**, 1240-1253.

Vetter, P., Smith, F.W. & Muckli, L. (2014) Decoding sound and imagery content in early visual cortex. *Curr Biol*, **24**, 1256-1262.

Vogels, R. (1999) Categorization of complex visual images by rhesus monkeys. Part 2: single-cell study. *Eur J Neurosci*, **11**, 1239-1255.

Xu, N.L., Harnett, M.T., Williams, S.R., Huber, D., O'Connor, D.H., Svoboda, K. & Magee, J.C. (2012) Nonlinear dendritic integration of sensory and motor input during an active sensing task. *Nature*, **492**, 247-251.

CHAPTER 5: ARE SENSORY NEURONS IN THE CORTEX COMMITTED TO ORIGINAL TRIGGER FEATURES?

Nayan Chanauria, Rudy Lussiez, Afef Ouelhazi, Stéphane Molotchnikoff

¹Neurophysiology of Visual System, Département de Sciences Biologiques, Université de Montréal, CP

6128 Succursale Centre-Ville, Montréal, QC H3C 3J7, Canada

(This chapter is published in the open access book Sensory Systems, DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.74776)

https://www.intechopen.com/books/sensory-nervous-system/are-sensory-neurons-in-the-cortex-

committed-to-original-trigger-features-
5.1 Abstract

Sensory cortices are inherently dynamic and exhibit plasticity in response to a variety of stimuli. Few studies have revealed that depending upon the nature of stimuli, excitation of the corresponding sensory region also evokes a response from other neighboring connected areas. Yet, it's even more striking, when somatosensory areas undergo reorganization as a result of an intentional disturbance and further explored as a paradigm to understand neuroplasticity. In addition, it has also been proved that drugs can be used as a model to explore potential plasticity in sensory systems. To this aim, through electrophysiology in cats, we explored that visual neurons, throughout the cortical column, have a tendency to alter their inherent properties even when presented a non-visual stimulus. Furthermore, it was explored in mice, how the application of drugs (serotonin and ketamine) modulates potential plasticity within the visual system. Indeed, we found a shift in orientating tuning of neurons indicated by Gaussian tuning fits in both scenarios. These results together suggest that sensory cortices are capable of adapting to intense experiences by going through a re-calibration of corresponding or neighboring sensory area(s) to re-direct the sensory function and exhibit remarkable expansion of neuroplasticity within the brain.

Keywords: cortex, neuroplasticity, adaptation, orientation selectivity, tactile learning, cross-modal plasticity, ketamine, serotonin, reorganization, multisensory integration

5.2 Introduction

Brain's sensory systems translate raw elements of the external world into practical processable data adapted to sensory nervous system analyses. Forthcoming sensory stimuli trigger initial neural representations in the sensory structures that recurrently end in stimulus-specific modifications. Through different ascending and descending physiological mechanisms, subsequent nerve impulses are enrooted towards appropriate regions of the cortex. The regularity of these processes devises an organized circuitry of neuronal connections elicited by a variety of stimuli. Thus, it is the early sensory experience that guides the evolution of neural circuitry in the cortex.

5.3 Selectivity in Critical Period and Inhibition

During development, the brain undergoes intense episodes of augmented plasticity known as a critical period. The advent of the critical period has been fundamental to understanding brain development. Critical periods are recognized as the epochs during which developing brains mature in a dynamic yet invariable way by anomalous experience. Considering, inhibition makes the postnatal brain undergo permanent process; more often brain is referred to as 'plastic'. The critical period is characterized by a heightened increase in excitation and inhibition right after birth, leading to a large restructuring of neuronal networks, and decreasing alternatively with age. It has also been acknowledged that there are multiple critical periods than for higher complex functions or cognitive/executive functions. This maturation of cortical inhibition just after eye-opening is necessary for the establishment of experience-dependent ocular dominance plasticity in the visual cortex which relies on counteraction between two eyes to drive cortical responses. Moreover, it is presumed that critical period contributes to improving our ability to survive in the dynamic environment in later sensory experiences.

In general, sensory deprivation is associated with powerful cross-modal changes in the cortex which has been used as a paradigm to study neuroplasticity. Lack of sense of vision or hearing during early development may interfere with the calibration process that occurs during the critical period. It has been demonstrated by a number of studies in deaf and blind that cortex reorganizes itself as a result of the loss of sensory modality. This has also been found true in congenital blind and deaf.

5.3.1 Reorganisation of the cortex following sensory deprivation or sensory loss

The most surprising yet striking phenomenon in the cortex takes place during the critical period. It was demonstrated that during the critical period, auditory cortex can develop finely tuned maps for different orientations of visual stimuli when a rerouting of visual input was enforced to an otherwise de-afferent auditory cortex (Sur & Rubenstein, 2005). Another study by Sharma *et al.*, 2000 (Sharma *et al.*, 2000) examined and compared intrinsic connections in rewired A1 to normal A1 and normal V1. They found that diverting visual inputs to auditory cortex led to sharp orientation selectivity in rewired A1 and A1 maps are similar to V1 yet maps in A1 were not as clean as in normal V1. Further, it is also familiar now that during development, there is wide and unspecific sprouting of connections that are particularly strong for cortical-cortical connections (Innocenti & Price, 2005). In spite of having an individual skill associated to every recognized sensory area, nearby associative and auditory cortical areas respond to auditory motion stimuli, including the superior temporal sulcus cortex (STS), which might provide auditory input to the MT during development. Considering, in normal adult monkeys, STS has a columnar alignment that interleaves pure auditory, pure visual and multisensory neurons (Beauchamp *et al.*, 2004) it seems plausible that the auditory input within STS may spread to nearby MRT during development and these aberrant contacts may stabilize during the visual deprivation period.

5.3.1.1 Disappearing of cortical borders in the barrel cortex by tactile learning

In monkeys, other type of tactile learning was used to show whether or not it was possible to change tactile receptive fields in the somatosensory cortex (Clark *et al.*, 1988). In this study, authors wanted to simultaneously stimulate two adjacent fingers and see if the somatosensory cortex displayed any kind of adaptation or reorganization (Figure 5.1). To increase their chances to achieve synchronized stimulation of two adjacent fingers, they surgically fused them by connecting the skin, creating a syndactyly for digits 3 and 4 of owl adult monkeys. In (Clark *et al.*, 1988), the strict separation between fingers receptive fields disappeared, allowing them to merge where digits 3 and 4 representations in the cortex merged, to form a

new single receptive similar than that of a single unaltered finger. Stimulation of one of the two connected digits resulted in the activation of neurons in the previous finger receptive field, but also in the overlapping part of the newly formed cortical territory. Thus, these results suggest that the cortical map of specific body-surface is linked to the temporal correlation of afferent stimuli. Tactile learning is then a useful procedure to help organize the somatosensory cortex and maintain tactile memory over long periods of time.





Model of cortical reorganization of area 3b following synchronous-stimulation of two fingers. (A) Normal monkey hand (left) with associated cortical territory (right) in area 3b of the somatosensory cortex. (B) Fingers 3 and 4 were then surgically merged (left) to achieve synchronized stimulation of both fingers,

conducting to a reorganization of area 3b (right). Dotted area represents overlapping between fingers 3 and 4. (Model based on Clark et al., 1988)

5.3.1.2 Typical example: Reorganization of the somatosensory cortex following sensory loss by finger amputation

We now know that it is indeed possible to merge fingers' cortical receptive fields in the somatosensory cortex of the adult monkey, using synchronized stimulation of adjacent fingers. However, this experiment was conducted in a situation where no tactile receptors were eliminated. What would happen if the animal encountered some form of sensory loss on the tactile level? This was further explored by Merzenich and his colleagues (Merzenich et al., 1984), in an experiment which again involved adult owl monkeys. To test how the cortex would react to sensory loss, monkeys underwent surgical amputations of digit 3, or 2 and 3, and digital nerves were tied to counter their regeneration after the amputation (Figure 5.2). For digit-3 amputated monkeys, cortical mapping was realized before amputation, and 62 days post-surgery. Even though cortical territory for each finger was clearly defined before surgery, the area of the amputated digit was now used to represent adjacent fingers. Finger representations for finger 2 and 4 expended their territory inside the former digit-3 area, activating neurons when fingers were stimulated. As for digits 1 and 5 receptive fields, no changes were observed. As the rule for the brain, plasticity reduces with age, yet these results suggested that somatosensory cortex is capable of reorganizing its cortical territories in order to fully recover from the sensory loss, a beautiful proof of plasticity retained in adult monkeys. Furthermore, they mapped the cortical territories of remaining fingers for dual (digits 2 and 3) amputated monkeys. Just as digit-3 amputated specimens, the remaining fingers receptive fields expanded to the digit less cortical areas. However, in regions previously associated with fingers 2 and 3, it was found that some neurons were not activated by adjacent finger stimulation, rendering these cortical territories silent.





(A) Normal monkey hand (left) with associated cortical territory (right) in area 3b of the somatosensory cortex (B) After finger 3 was surgically amputated (left), area 3b of the somatosensory showed cortical reorganization (right) with fingers 2 and 4 territories expanding into the now deprived finger 3 territory. (Model based on Merzenich et al., 1984)

5.3.2 Congenital blindness

Reorganizing the somatosensory cortex was proved to be possible (Merzenich *et al.*, 1984; Clark *et al.*, 1988), but only within itself and with sensory loss occurring during adult life. In the study of Kupers *et al.*, 2006 (Kupers *et al.*, 2006), experiments were conducted on human late blinds (LB) and early blinds (EB). Human subjects were previously trained with a tongue display unit (TDU), which is a tactile vision sensory

substitution system (TVSS) (Bach-y-Rita & W. Kercel, 2003; Ptito *et al.*, 2005), showing that activation of occipital cortex could be achieved and increased using sensory substitution. However, it wasn't proved that activation of either cortex could be achieved without using sensory substitution. Subjects were then prepared for trans cranial magnetic stimulation of the occipital cortex (Ptito *et al.*, 2005), and were asked if they had any reaction. Some subjects affirmed to have experienced tactile sensations on the tongue following stimulation of occipital cortex. Other regions of the occipital region were then stimulated, each of them resulting in an evoked response on different areas of the tongue. Hence, these results proved that early sensory deprived cortices can be involved in cross-modal plasticity, following training with sensory substitution techniques.

5.3.3 Selectivity modified in adult visual and auditory cortices

For eons, it has been tested and verified that the structure and interneuronal connections of the central nervous system cannot be modified in adulthood. Yet, the past decade investigations carried out on invertebrates (Kandel, 2009) and vertebrates (Watroba *et al.*, 2001; Sur *et al.*, 2002; Basole *et al.*, 2003; Frenkel *et al.*, 2006; Kohn, 2007; Kokovay & Temple, 2007; McCoy *et al.*, 2009) have revealed that neurons may change their response property or stimulus selectivity exhibited since after birth following an appropriate experimental protocol. To mention a few cases, monocular deprivation produces an amblyopic condition that results in a loss of vision in the affected eye due to unbalanced synaptic drive in the visual cortex. Reversing the deprivation by closing the unaffected eye and stimulating the initially closed eye switches the effect. In this process, the synaptic equilibrium is reversed because the initially deprived eye is strengthened, and the companion eye is weakened. Ocular dominance can be shifted even in adult brains, meaning that neuronal networks maintain potential plasticity from an infant into adulthood. In the auditory system, stimulating neurons with narrow band stimuli excluding the preferred frequency induces responses outside the preferred frequency range (Gourevitch & Eggermont, 2008). Similarly, cerebral cortex neurons belonging to somatosensory barrels whose whiskers have been cut respond to intact whiskers, suggesting

an expansion of the latter's territory (Armstrong-James et al., 1994). The somatosensory cortex homunculus may be altered with both increased and decreased stimulation (Merzenich et al., 1984). Therefore, neurons in the adult cortex, following manipulation of inputs, display novel response properties that were not present after normal brain's maturation. A majority of investigations studying brain plasticity use a strategy based on the removal or weakening of sensory inputs, such as enucleating eyes, dark rearing, etc. in developing and immature animals. Conclusively, the neuronal plasticity is derived from an absence of excitation. Recording neuronal evoked action potentials in different regions of cortex have profited researchers to deeply explore and understand how separate sensory areas perform individually as well as part of the big sensory systems. It has been unveiled that cells in visual cortex (and elsewhere in cortex) respond to relatively narrow ranges of stimuli features such as the orientation of an elongated edge, direction of stimulus, a direction of whisker displacements etc. For instance, a typical plot of the response magnitude versus function of orientation reveals a Gaussian-type curve, the peak of which indicates the preferred orientation that generates the maximal number of action potentials. Consequently, cortical cells are exquisitely selective to restricted ranges of stimuli properties exhibiting the preferred or optimal stimulus, which usually are acquired during the critical period that follows the birth of the animal. More recently, a collection of published results showed that frequent or forced application of specific non-preferred trigger features, which evoke a feeble response; induce profound modifications of optimal properties exhibited since birth. Studies published in this direction have shown that adaptation diminished responses evoked by the initial optimal orientation, whereas responses evoked by the adapter were considerably augmented. Hence, the original optimal orientation evokes a much weaker response than the response produced by the adapting orientation (Dragoi et al., 2000; Kohn, 2007; Ghisovan et al., 2009; Nemri et al., 2009; Bachatene et al., 2012b; Cattan et al., 2014).

5.3.3.1 Cortical neurons exhibit neuroplasticity by acquiring new stimulus features following induction of non-preferred stimulus

Visual adaptation alters perception and tuning selectivity, and these modifications are quite selective suggesting a cortical reorganization of the primary sensory areas. Psychophysical studies revealed that adaptation permits isolating specific sensory channels responsible for eliciting responses induced by a narrow range of properties without affecting responses evoked by stimuli falling outside this range. For instance, adapting an observer to one particular spatial frequency results in a loss of sensitivity to that value of spatial frequency; for this reason, tuning curves present a dip corresponding to the particular band of the adapter (Bouchard *et al.*, 2008). In humans, frequent or prolonged exposure to one particular stimulus generally produces a change in the detectability of the target because there is a reduced perception to the test stimulus, that is, the threshold becomes elevated due to a selective loss of particular characteristics of the adapter (Clifford, 2002). Prolonged adaptation changes fMRI responses in V1 in an orientation-specific manner (Tootell *et al.*, 1998).

However, in various mammal's adaptation induces more versatile trends. At the single cell level, the effect of adaptation was investigated for several properties in a number of areas and quite a few species. Frenkel *et al.*, 2006 (Frenkel *et al.*, 2006) showed that repeated presentation of gratings oriented at an orientation to mice induces a specific response potentiating (SRP) to the test orientation. Jin *et al.*, 2005 (Jin *et al.*, 2005), described response suppression resulting in shifts of the peaks of tuning curves away from the adapter, referred often as repulsive shifts. As cortical cells respond well to motion this property was studied extensively. In primates, V4 adaptation confers a better directionality for cells normally poorly tuned to the direction (Tolias *et al.*, 2005). In MT of macaque Kohn and Movshon showed that adaptation of direction-tuning bandwidth (Kohn & Movshon, 2003; 2004). On the other hand, Yang and Lisberger in 2009 (Yang & Lisberger, 2009), reported data demonstrating that adaptation globally reduces the magnitude

and the width of direction- and speed-tuned curves. In the same direction, it has also been demonstrated that after monkeys learned to associate directions of motion with static shapes, the neurons of MT area exhibited unexpected selectivity for the static shape suggesting an acquisition of a novel visual property induced by the learning procedure (Schlack & Albright, 2007). In parallel, more studies in V1 showed that evoked discharges in response to the originally preferred stimuli are selectively reduced (Krekelberg *et al.*, 2006; Hietanen *et al.*, 2007; Priebe *et al.*, 2010) but Krekelberg *et al.*, 2006 showed that evoked discharges after adaptation are in a direction-dependent manner. Thus, the response enhancement to the adapter stands in contrast to earlier studies where it has been shown that when a neuron is adapted to a particular grating its sensitivity to that grating is reduced (Blakemore *et al.*, 1970; Levinson & Sekuler, 1976; Movshon & Lennie, 1979; Saul & Cynader, 1989).

A study (Jia *et al.*, 2010) carried out on mouse visual cortex and employing the double photon technique disclosed that a single dendritic branch of a cortical cell possesses a collection of synaptic connections for several orientations. In the same cell, these different inputs are located in close proximity to the dendritic tree. Repulsive shifts appear to be resulting from a differential weakening of synaptic drives activated by the adapter. The attractive shift required a different explanation. If one assumes that a limited, small area of a dendrite receives contacts from a large spectrum of properties, one group of inputs would dominate, thus creating a bias that carries the membrane potential across the action potential threshold. The excessive afferent activity ensuing from the lengthened application of a non-preferred stimulus transfers the bias in favor of the adaptor (Jia *et al.*, 2010). This produces attractive shifts such as described in the visual and auditory systems. The shifts of tuning curves whether in repulsive or attractive directions are the responses evoked by stimuli characteristics at distant flanks of the tuning curve are weaker. The response modulations are constrained most closely to the adapter and original optimal property, ruling out a sudden surge of excitability (Kohn & Movshon, 2003; Kohn, 2007; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009; Marshansky *et al.*, 2011). A second adaptation performed (many minutes sometimes up to two hours) after the recovery from the first

episode of adaptation, yields similar results (Bachatene *et al.*, 2013). Others showed that cortical cells discharge selectively to the null direction (classically a direction failing to excite the cell) if an appropriate electrical pulse is delivered while the stimulating bar sweeps the cell's receptive field. This emergence of responses to the null direction, may last several minutes and well after the conditioning electrical pulse is terminated, suggesting a substantial change of cellular property (Fregnac *et al.*, 2010). Another study in ferrets also explored the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity using intrinsic optical imaging. On comparing ferrets with cats, they found that ferret's critical period begins \sim 75 d which is actually 6-7 days earlier than a cat on conception. Moreover, ferret's LGN becomes laminated and extends axons into visual cortex \sim 1 week before the cat's LGN does. But overall, they found the critical period process quite similar yet the development in ferrets appears to be slightly more rapid than cats.

In line with previous reports, few studies from our laboratory through electrophysiology showed that layer 2/3 neurons exhibit attraction and repulsion by changing their orientation selectivity towards or away from adapting orientation or retaining or refracting their orientation tuning in some cases (Bachatene *et al.*, 2012b; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013). It was further confirmed by another study using optical imaging that following adaptation for 12 minutes the orientation maps are modified in response to the adapter (Cattan *et al.*, 2014) (Figure 5.3). A similar result was obtained in mice by Jeyadarshan *et al.*, 2013 (Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013). Further, an important study confirmed that a continuous adaptation on the recording site for 12min yields attractive and repulsive shifts wherein the shifts carry equivalent averages of shift in orientation tuning to averages of tuning of neurons recorded from another site away from receptive fields of target neurons. Authors called this as 'domino effect' as the re-orientation observed after adaptation was found to be guided by the imposed adapter and initiated itself at the site of recording and was followed systematically as a marker by neurons in other columns (Bachatene *et al.*, 2015c). Based on this observation and hypothesis Chanauria *et al.*, 2016 (Chanauria *et al.*, 2016) demonstrated that the typical behavioural response of visual neurons persists and can be observed in the layer 5/6 neurons too when recorded simultaneously with layer 2/3 neurons and further stressed that domino effect does not only exists in layer

2/3 neurons but inherently prevails within the neurons throughout the cortical column (Chanauria *et al.*, 2016).





Reorganization of orientation columns in cat primary visual cortex shown by optical imaging. At control, each orientation is evenly distributed in the camera-captured zone. However, the post-adaptation situation is no longer the case, as the adapting orientation took over the quasi-totality of the captured zone. After a recovery period, previous preferred orientation regains their control territory.

(S. Cattan unpublished material)

5.3.4 Organization of somatosensory cortex and trigger features

All sensory receptors input to the somatosensory cortex and are then used by brain to generate a response to the input stimuli by giving information about the environment or position of the body. However, sensory pathways do not only convey information to the somatosensory cortex, but instead relay the information to specific parts of the cortex (Penfield & Boldrey, 1937; Kell *et al.*, 2005; Cazala *et al.*, 2015). It has been shown that using somatotopic maps, a "Sensory Homonculus" can be created which shows the uneven distribution of cortical areas to different parts of the body. For example, face and hands areas display a bigger area distribution than legs and feet (Kell *et al.*, 2005). This was first demonstrated by Penfield and Boldrey (Penfield & Boldrey, 1937) using electrical stimulation of the brain during open surgery on consenting patients. Electrical stimulus was applied to a cortical region, and intensity was increased until a response was obtained. Even though this experiment was crucial in the understanding of somatotopic

mapping in the brain, it was none the less an invasive and risky experiment. As technology evolved, new tools came into existence and hardware got developed that was now capable of recreating the same experiments but non-invasively. Techniques like functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to display brain activity based on blood oxygenation difference became at disposal (Kell et al., 2005; Sanchez-Panchuelo et al., 2010; Cazala et al., 2015). The fMRI technique brought a better resolution to the somatotopic maps, showing that each cortical area is dedicated only to a specific part of the body, similarly to receptive fields in the visual cortex (Hubel & Wiesel, 1962b; Tusa et al., 1978; Tusa et al., 1979). The somatosensory cortex is organized in such a way that cortical territories are well-defined and region-specific with respect to body parts. However, some animals harbor some vibrissae, also called "whiskers". Since higher primates possess stimulus-specific cortical territories, it was hypothesized that lower vertebrates also embody the same somatotopic pattern. Indeed, studies conducted on mice proved that their somatosensory cortex is organized similarly to humans. For example cortical areas dedicated to forelimb or hindlimb (Maier et al., 1999) were found congruent in higher and lower vertebrates, An entire territory dedicated to whiskers inputs was also discovered (Lee & Erzurumlu, 2005). These inputs regions with respect to whiskers were called "barrel cortex", because each column in this barrel cortex area of somatosensory cortex was found associated to only one whisker. The barrel cortex occupies an estimated 70% of primary somatosensory cortex (S1) in mice (Lee & Erzurumlu, 2005). Thus, it is no wonder that mice use their whiskers, prior to their vision, to locate and identify objects by their shape (Krupa et al., 2001; Polley et al., 2005; Anjum et al., 2006; Mehta et al., 2007; Connor et al., 2010), but also by their texture (Lottem & Azouz, 2008; Boubenec et al., 2014). The somatosensory cortex is generally shaped to collect and analyze surround information from the environment, with specific structures depending of the species.

5.3.4.1 Whisking: Adaptation and tactile learning

It is convenient to study somatosensory cortex in rodents via the barrel cortices because each whisker is linked to a cortical column, making it "effortless" to identify which neurons will respond to the stimulation of a specific whisker (Woolsey & Van der Loos, 1970; Welker & Woolsey, 1974). In (de Kock & Sakmann, 2009b), the researchers investigated the correlation between spiking and whisking. In their study, neurons were recorded at different levels in the corresponding barrels of stimulated whiskers. It was found that during a whisking episode, neurons from supragranular layers (e.g. L2/3) had lower spiking frequencies than that of infragranular layers (e.g. L5), suggesting that infragranular neurons' spiking frequencies were correlated to whisker position. Once this direction was explored, de Kock and colleagues hypothesized that spiking episodes were correlated to the behavioral state of the rat. To test their hypothesis, they compared the spiking frequencies between three different "behaviors". Their results showed that spiking frequencies in non-whisking awake episodes were similar to whisking episodes under urethane anesthesia. However, when the rats were awake, spiking frequencies were independent between layers, with infragranular (L5) neurons spiking to higher frequencies than supragranular neurons. Moreover, infragranular neurons (e.g. L6 neurons) did not display significant changes between different behavioral states. Thus, they concluded that behavioral state influenced principally spiking frequencies in L5 neurons. To further confirm their observations, de Kock et al., 2009 (de Kock & Sakmann, 2009a) tried to observe cell-type frequencies correlation to a specific behavior state. By analyzing frequencies from supragranular pyramids, slendertufted and thick-tufted pyramids, L6 pyramids and granular spiny neurons, it was shown that mainly slender and thick tufted pyramids neurons recorded at 1,000-1,500 μ m – corresponding to L5- displayed significant changes in spiking frequencies for quiet (non-whisking) and whisking states.

5.3.4.2 Tactile learning

Rodents mainly use their whiskers to acquire information about their surrounding environment. Hence, their natural instinct is to explore new and unfamiliar components of their environment, to better get acquainted with their living space (Wu *et al.*, 2013). Wu *et al.*, based their study on this natural instinct (Wu *et al.*, 2013), and used it to investigate the short-term memory of the somatosensory cortex in mice. Their results proved that mice spent more time "exploring" the new panel than that of "exploring" the familiar panel, showed in their arena-based experimental set-up. These results suggested that the somatosensory cortex can retain short-term tactile memory by perceptual learning. To further investigate

the mechanisms invoked in this tactile memory, they set up the experiments in a way that only tactile stimuli were used by the animal to discriminate the two different textures (suppression of olfactory components, textureless grooved panels for the second trial). In this case, mouse didn't express memory in tactile less trial. Moreover, as whisker-less mice didn't show the same exploring pattern, their results also demonstrated that this tactile memory was vibrissae-based. With this study, by Wu *et al.*, 2013, (Wu *et al.*, 2013) uncovering the short-term tactile memory of the mice, it was then hypothesized that the effect of perceptual learning can be maintained for a much longer period (Pacchiarini *et al.*, 2017). With the same kind of experimental set-up, trials were separated by 24 hours instead of 5 minutes. After analysis, it was shown that mice spent an average of 65.20% with the novel gratings (Pacchiarini *et al.*, 2017), thus indicating that the perceptual-learning-acquired memory could be maintained for a 24hours period.

5.3.5 Multisensory integration and cross-modal plasticity

Multisensory stimulation can have a substantial impact on the basic visual perception. Non-visual input such as auditory stimuli can affect visual functioning in a myriad of ways. Numerous studies have demonstrated these alluring cross-modal relationships. For example, anatomical and electrophysiological approaches in non-human primates (Ghazanfar & Schroeder, 2006; Driver & Noesselt, 2008) have provided evidence that multisensory interactions can be observed at early primary unimodal stages of sensory processing (Adeli *et al.*, 2014). This body of evidence suggests that projections from the auditory cortex reach deeper layers of the visual cortex and vice versa. Another study by Muckli *et al.*, 2013 (Muckli & Petro, 2013) highlights the existence and importance of non-geniculate input to V1 by associated areas such as auditory cortex. Moreover, a fMRI report by Vetter *et al.*, 2014 (Vetter *et al.*, 2014) displayed through task-based approaches in blindfolded healthy adults that, by solely performing an audio task, a response in the visual cortex could be observed. Therefore, primary areas such as V1 and A1 showcase high multisensory interaction, predominantly a modulatory influence in response to a complementary stimulus. In a recent study, (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016) authors have shown that auditory stimulus sharpens the selectivity

of visual neurons. In the present investigation, through electrophysiological techniques, we examined the effect of sound on the simultaneously recorded visual cells from supra- and infragranular layers. An auditory stimulus was presented continuously and uninterruptedly for 12 min. And the recordings were performed in area 17 of the visual cortex in anaesthetized cats. The stimulus the effect of the sound stimulus was tested by comparing orientation tunings of neurons before and after the presentation of sound. Indeed, we noticed an intense modulation of response accompanied by a modification of orientation tuning of the neurons. Our data showed that, after 12 min presentation of the auditory stimulus, a population of visual cortical neurons experience modulation of excitation and inhibition and attain new orientation selectivity. In addition, few-layer II-III and V neurons lose their preference and become untuned. These results suggest that visual neurons in either layer change their properties on the application of an auditory stimulus which highlights the cross-modal interactions between visual and auditory systems and a robust reconfiguration of visual cortex induced by sound. An illustration is shown to explain the result obtained. The figure (Figure 5.4) explains the effect of sound on visual neurons. Sound acts as a non-visual input to the primary visual cortex. Here, instead of a traditional pathway being implicated, a non-geniculate route has been activated. New orientation selectivity is attained by the L2/3 and L5/6 neuron pair recorded from the same site after 12 minutes. The upper curves are L2/3 neuron whereas bottom curves are L5/6 curves. Control curves are shown in bold and dotted curves shown for post-adaptation with sound.

The possible explanation to these results could be simply attributed to direct anatomical connections between primary sensory areas within the cortex (Ghazanfar & Schroeder, 2006) or an indirect pathway involving arousal of a multisensory area as a mediator to facilitate the modulation of responses (Driver & Noesselt, 2008). These mediator areas could be pulvinar, superior colliculus or other thalamic nuclei that act as ports of entry of information to primary areas.



Simultaneously recorded L2/3 and L5/6 neuron pair



Illustration of Effect of a sound stimulus on a pair of simultaneously recorded neurons from L2/3 and L5/6 from a recording site. The bold curves indicate control tuning curves with respect to raw firing rates whereas the dotted curves represent raw firing rates. For clarity raw fits have been fitted with Gauss functions. Curves in upper and lower rows attribute to L2/3 and L5/6 neuron respectively. On the extreme right (above and below) are non-linear Gaussian fits plotted to infer the exact numerical values of orientation preferences. The superimposition clearly indicates that neuron pair that was similarly tuned initially attained a new selectivity after experience with sound stimulus for 12 minutes. Modulation of firing rate can be observed accompanied to the alteration in selectivity. A similar response shift, yet in opposite direction can be observed in L5/6 neuron. This indicates that neurons in a column may choose to show a similar response yet behave independently towards the same stimulus.

5.3.6 Possible mechanism underlying adaptation and plastic modifications

Recordings of electrical neuronal activity reveal modifications of neuronal properties following adaptation. Since response modifications come about rapidly within a time window of several minutes to a few hours, it seems reasonable to propose that the response alterations following adaptation are carried out by mechanistic processes directly available to neurons. Two-photon microscopy permits visualization of isolated dendritic branches with their spines in vivo. Jia et al., in 2010 (Jia et al., 2010) described in V1 that single dendritic branches are divided into several short segments, each selective to one particular orientation. Accordingly, synaptic inputs of different orientation preferences contact a single branch of a dendritic tree. Orientation-tuned neurons, therefore, process their characteristic firing pattern by integrating spatially distributed synaptic inputs responding to multiple orientations. It follows then that the most intensely stimulated dendritic segment drives the neuron above the firing threshold which attributes a novel preferred orientation corresponding to the adapter. Other studies suggest that dendritic structural modifications may happen at a relatively rapid pace. Yang et al., 2009 (Yang & Lisberger, 2009) have been able to follow identified dendritic spines over time while mice were submitted to new sensory experiences. The experiments revealed extensive spine remodeling that correlated with behavioral improvement after learning (Antonini & Stryker, 1993; Keck et al., 2011). Also, the remodeling of dendritic branches takes place within a few days following eye suture. Importantly, a small fraction of new spines produced by novel experience, together with most spines formed earlier during development and surviving experiencedependent elimination, are preserved and may provide a structural basis for memory retention throughout the entire life of an animal (Yang & Lisberger, 2009). A recent (Keck et al., 2011) study showed that spines and matching axonal boutons of inhibitory neurons undergo rapid changes following retinal lesions. In fact, the same authors suggested that the loss of sensory inputs to inhibitory neurons triggers the plastic dendritic transformation of excitatory cells. The above experiments suggest that daily sensory experience and learning leave small but permanent marks on cortical connections, implying that enduring memories may be associated with the synaptic formation. It may be worth adding that in 1949, Hebb wrote that "when one cell repeatedly assists in firing another, the axon of the first cell develops synaptic knobs." Nowadays, we may identify it as spine formation on dendrites following prolonged adaptation which produces a sustained, high firing rate in an afferent cell. Cortical orientation maps visualized with intrinsic optical imaging techniques revealed vanishing of pin-wheels without recovery. The very slow return to

preadaptation maps is attributed to structural modifications occurring in dendritic branches (Godde *et al.*, 2002).

5.4 Understanding at Population Level/ Interareal Explorations

In previous sections, we described changes of neuronal selectivity occurring at the single cell level brought about by adaptation. As cells acquire new optimal properties, it is reasonable to postulate that these changes are the consequences of a new equilibrium between excitatory and inhibitory relationships amid reciprocally connected neurons. In other words, adaptation affects a cell's population activity. Intrinsic optical imaging revealed that on the surface of the visual cortex orientation preference forms parallel slabs (Frostig et al., 1990; Bonhoeffer & Grinvald, 1991; Blasdel, 1992). These maps exhibit two fundamental features such as linear zones (with orientation remaining the same over these zones) or singularities and fractures (orientation preferences are changing abruptly over a short distance of cortical surface) (Swindale, 1998a). In addition, investigations have demonstrated that the layout of orientation preference maps is roughly scattered around pinwheel centers, rather than aligned in slabs (Maldonado et al., 1997; Godde et al., 2002). Within pinwheels, adjacent neurons at the center of pinwheels display large differences in orientation preference. For example, neurons with orthogonal orientations are in proximity (Maldonado et al., 1997; Basole et al., 2003). Such a display makes pinwheel areas particularly susceptible to adaptation since the convergence of a broad range of orientation preferences presents a large potential for reorganization because there are numerous mutual connections between cells directly or through inhibitory interneurons.

5.5 Modulation of Plasticity by Drugs Application

In parallel with physiological processes inducing plasticity, drugs and other substances which operate as a neurotransmitter or selective neurotransmitter reuptake inhibitor modulate visual plasticity (Mataga *et al.*,

1992). Indeed, some of them such as the protein Lynx 1decrease the level plasticity and provoke stability by locking the cortical network (Morishita *et al.*, 2010).

5.5.1 Effect of Serotonin and Fluoxetine on cortical plasticity

Fluoxetine, which is antidepressant and reacts with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), restores ocular- dominance plasticity in adult rats when they are treated in a long-term protocol (Maya Vetencourt et al., 2008; Maya Vetencourt et al., 2011). In line with the previously published data, it has been shown that after a treatment of ischemic stroke patient with Fluoxetine, there is a facilitation of the motor recovery compared to placebo subjects (Chollet et al., 2011). Similar to the antidepressant Fluoxetine, it has been shown that the neurotransmitter Serotonin increase the attractive- a shift of a peak of the orientation tuning curve following adaptation in primary visual cortex V1 in anesthetized adult cats. Most neurons will serve as a reference for the other cells then recovery loses their stability and substitutes their original preferred orientation by a new one in the direction of the adapter. Repulsive neurons expressed as another previous kind of behavior cells plasticity mostly in direction of the forced orientation. In this study, it has been shown that the larger attractive shifts of the peak of the orientation tuning curve (attractive to attractive) are stronger in case of serotonin application if compared to fluoxetine. Hence, this result suggests that for the group of cells that increased the attractive effect during adaptation with drug administration, the effect is due to direct serotoninergic actions, however, the non-significant attractive amplified effect of fluoxetine (SSRI) could be explained by an indirect weaker process such as inhibition of serotonin reuptake. This indirect path is potentiating after long-term chronic administration in rats (Maya Vetencourt *et al.*, 2008; Wang et al., 2008). In the same framework, Komlosi et al., 2012 (Komlosi et al., 2012) showed that the influence of fluoxetine on the polysynaptic transmission is relatively smaller than the serotonin action. In addition, it's shown that both drugs affect amply the shift magnitude but not the firing magnitude of neurons post-drug administration adaptation. In other words, serotonin and fluoxetine modulate the plasticity by acting on polysynaptic transmission which affects, for the most part, the selectivity range of a neuron rather

than its evoked discharge rate. Thus, these differential effects of both drugs can be explained by the saturation of the firing rates, so the strength of the evoked discharges remain fairly stable after application of drugs, while the increase in orientation- selectivity can be due to the ability of serotonin and fluoxetine to change the threshold of neurons. Therefore, neurons exhibit a higher firing rate with a new preferred orientation enhanced to the adapter. This explanation suggests that both drugs acted at synapse level causing a drift (displacement) towards the adaptor. Based on the fact that spontaneous activity remained unmodified after administration of both drugs, the previous idea seems to be supported. Furthermore, serotonin, as well as fluoxetine, has a partial effect on evoked response magnitude. Indeed, both of them significantly affect the response amplitude evoked by the adapter and the original preferred orientation but not those evoked by flank orientations that are not significantly changed.

Molecular processes are further developed below:

Overall, fluoxetine (SSRI) and serotonin (neurotransmitter) by acting in synaptic components promote sensitization of refractory cells (which maintain their preference after adaptation) and lead them to learn an unfamiliar stimulus, enhance the attractive effect of attractive cells, and contribute to increasing the plasticity for the repulsive cells. Training the neuron's ability shown in the adult primary visual cortex by experience drive synaptic reorganization can serve as a scaffold and contribute to cerebral pharmacological treatments or cognitive mechanisms such as learning or memory.

5.5.2 Effect of Ketamine on cortical plasticity

In a similar direction to previous reports from our laboratory, we sought to examine the effect of ketamine on the modulation of adaptation-induced orientation plasticity in the primary visual cortex of anesthetized mice. Ketamine is widely used in clinical medicine as short-acting dissociative anesthetic. The preliminary results show that post-adaptation firing rate is lower than that of control. However, when ketamine was applied, post-adaptation firing rate decreased less compared to control. As adaptation is a mechanism to

In the same framework, we aimed to investigate the effect of ketamine on the potential plasticity of neurons in V1 of anesthetized mice by comparing several parameters which are measured before and after the application of ketamine. Our data shows that the following ketamine, the majority of cells shifted their optimal orientation. The comparison of the mean of OSI between control and post drug application revealed a significant decrease in the OSI post ketamine which implies that an application of ketamine weakened the initial orientation selectivity of neurons in V1. However, the bandwidth of orientation tuning curves didn't display any significant modification between the two conditions (before and after ketamine application). The measure of the amplitude of the highest response displayed by the Gaussian function like show two populations of cells: ones had initially (in control condition) weak amplitudes but increase after ketamine application and the others had initially strong amplitudes but decrease after ketamine application (Figure 5.5). Thus, ketamine modulates downward or upward the initially highest amplitude Gaussian function like. However, we didn't know what factor this modulation is correlated. To assess and describe the variability of neurons response, a Fano Factor (FF) was calculated for each neuron by dividing the variance by the mean of firing rate of this neuron. The larger the Fano Factor is, the bigger is the variability of the neuronal response and vice versa. The comparison of evoked response variability before and after ketamine application shows that the value of the post ketamine FF decreases significantly, which is mean that ketamine declines the cells potential to reply variably at a big range of orientations. So, ketamine no only narrows the window of the variability of cells responses to stimuli but also weakened their orientation selectivity. Moreover, it was demonstrated that following ketamine application the FF value of spontaneous and evoked response remains similar while they were significantly different in absence of ketamine, which suggests that ketamine decreases the orientation selectivity of cells and brings their evoked activities in presence of stimuli closer to their spontaneous activities (Figure 5.5). The FF values of spontaneous responses calculate before and after ketamine application remain similar what reveals that ketamine doesn't affect the spontaneous response and its effect is not global but limited to evoked responses. In summary, ketamine causes orientation shifts, modulates the highest amplitude Gaussian function like, decreases the orientation selectivity and narrows the variability range of evoked responses by acting at synaptic transmission while modifying the synaptic functional domain. Globally ketamine underlines a kind of inhibitory effect on v1 potential plasticity. Molecular bases behind the cortex plasticity in general and how fluoxetine, serotonin, and Ketamine can modulate it, in particular, are discussed in the following section.



Figure 5.5

Effect of serotonin on the response of cells. A and B Amplified attractive effect of the drug: (A) Model of Gaussian fit of normalized responses of one neuron for control (bold) and post-adaptation (dot). Black arrow represents adapting orientation. Gaussian fits show shift of the tuning curve (attractive shift). (B)

Gaussian fit of normalized responses of the same neuron after recovery (bold) and after the second adaptation during serotonin application (dashed); the new attractive shift is bigger. C and D: Inversion of the repulsive shift by the drug. (C) Gaussian fit of normalized responses of one neuron for control (bold) and after the first adaptation process (dot). Black arrow represents adapting orientation. Gaussian fits show shift of the tuning curve (repulsive shift). (D) Gaussian fit of normalized responses of the same neuron after recovery (bold) and after the second adaptation during serotonin application (dashed). Note the inversion of repulsive shift after drug administration. (E) Gaussian fit of normalized responses of one neuron for control and post-adaptation conditions (bold and dot curves, respectively). Black arrow represents the adapter. Gaussian fits below show a non-significant shift after the first adaptation. (F) Gaussian fit of normalized responses of the same cell for recovery and second adaptation in the presence of serotonin (bold and dashed curves respectively). The tuning curve shifted toward the adapter in the presence of the drug.

5.5.3 Molecular mechanism of cortical plasticity and drugs pathways action

The studies on mammalian visual cortex have long been a field of discovery of mechanisms leading plasticity during development and adulthood because of the ease of its handling and measuring results at physiological, anatomical and molecular levels. Importantly, the experience-dependent plasticity derives from ancestral mechanisms occurs during development.

5.5.3.1 Molecular mechanisms of feed-forward plasticity

5.5.3.1.1 Glutamatergic receptors

Excitatory transmission is mediated by ionotropic glutamatergic channels receptor AMPA and NMDA, which contribute to regulating membrane depolarization and calcium permeability, through mGluR (metabotropic glutamate) receptors, which triggers downstream signaling cascades. Evidence exists that each of these receptor types may promote plasticity in visual cortex.

Frenkel *et al.*, 2006 (Frenkel *et al.*, 2006) have shown that a process similar to LTP (long-term potentiation) depending on NMDA receptor activation by repetitive activation leads to increased insertion of synaptic AMPA (α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid)receptor allowing strengthening of responses to repeated stimuli. This model of molecular plasticity is present both in juvenile and adult animals. The structure of NMDA receptors varies NR1 and either of NR2A or NR2B subunits and they regulate the membrane depolarization and calcium intracellular level. Therefore, the excitatory transmission mediated by glutamate-gated NMDA receptor is affected. Evidence exists that during postnatal development the ratio NR2A / NR2B transit from low to height value. Decreasing this ratio promotes plasticity by affecting the threshold for LTP. Since, it was shown that ketamine blocks the NMDA receptors

(Chen *et al.*, 2009), yielding to a decrease of plasticity. Indeed, ketamine is an NMDA non-competitive antagonist. When the NMDA receptor is active, ketamine binds to it by sealing the lumen of the channel. Therefore, it creates a physical obstacle to ion currents through the channel pore. When the channel closes ketamine become trapped (Beverly *et al.*, 1997). Because plasticity requires NMDA receptor activation, the deprivation decrease of this activity leads to a reduction in inhibition effect on plasticity. Contrary to the effect of ketamine, it was demonstrated that in adult rats, serotonin restores the NMDA- depending long-term potentiation. Metabotropic glutamate receptors are also involved in cortex plasticity independently of its subtype. It's worth noting that fluoxetine potentiates plasticity, by increasing glutamatergic synaptic transmission.

In the brain, AMPA receptors are primarily composed of GluR2 and either GluR1 or GluR3 subunits. Synaptic strength, resulting in LTP and by some effect plasticity, is significantly determined by AMPA receptor. Other finding shows that ketamine is a non- selective blocker of NMDA channel, it acts also on AMPA / Kainate receptors. Therefore, it seems that ketamine is a blocker of a two-ionotropic glutamate receptor channel-types in a concentration-dependent manner. This effect was determined by using whole cell patch clamp technique and mediated by pharmacologically isolated AMPA / Kainate receptor channels on membrane proprieties of pyramidal neurons of gerbil neocortex including the auditory cortex. Results show that ketamine depressed the amplitude of fast EPSPs mediated by AMPA / Kainate receptor channels. In addition, ketamine increased the resting input resistance RI. In accordance with Ohm's law, small increase in cellular resistance outweighed the impact on synaptic efficacy, resulting in a corresponding increase in membrane potential that was due in part to a partial blockade of AMPA / Kainate receptor channels. The functional consequence is that the reduction of fast synaptic current attenuates depolarizing shifts that contribute to voltage dependent release of magnesium to achieve the threshold for NMDA receptor channels open states.

5.5.3.1.2 Calcium: a second messenger

Glutamate-gated AMPA and NMDA receptors regulate intracellular calcium level. As a second messenger, calcium activates many intracellular signaling cascades particularly three critical kinases (ERK: called ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinases, PKA: protein kinase A, and ca MKII alpha: calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II alpha). These kinases may modulate synaptic strength and induce plasticity by phosphorylating plasticity-regulating molecules or mediating changes in target gene transcription synaptic signaling molecules by activating CREB (C-AMP Response Element-binding protein). CREB levels mediate by visual stimulation decrease with age, showing the involvement of other pathways promote plasticity in the adult cortex.

5.5.3.1.3 GABAergic inhibition and BDNF downstream events

An indirect consequence of adjustments of GABAergic (gamma-aminobutyric acid-mediated) circuitry could be implied in changes in visually evoked responses. It was found that the infusion of BDNF (Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor) during monocular deprivation probably reduced the GABAergic transmission and reinstalled plasticity. The same pathway is induced by chronic treatment of fluoxetine exhibits in rats. Indeed, fluoxetine decreases GABAergic inhibition and thereby increases BDNF expression. Serotonin transmission has the same effect, it potentiates the BDNF-trkB signaling path. Hence, fluoxetine and serotonin promote plasticity in adult rodents.

5.5.3.1.4 Structural plasticity

Several investigations demonstrate that sensory experience influences both structure and dynamics of dendritic spines which underlines a structural plasticity. In visual cortex, reducing the density of spines leads to a decrease in the deprived-eye drive. Moreover, the spine stabilization is induced by NMDA and AMPA synaptic activation. It appears that ketamine by blocking NMDA receptors increase spine dynamics (loss).

Several studies show that agonists of adrenergic and cholinergic systems facilitate the onset of ocular dominance plasticity. The effect of fluoxetine resulting in a restoration of ocular dominance plasticity

Neuromodulators have an effect on plasticity possibly to their ability to modulate thresholds for LTP/LTD induction by modifying the intracellular calcium concentration via second messenger pathways. Moreover, it seems that these neuromodulators systems selectively interact with growth factors to affect plastic changes. For instance, acetylcholine fibers host the majority of the receptors for the neurotrophin nerve growth factor. Therefore, this system may mediate the effects of the growth factor on ocular dominance plasticity.

serotoninergic system.

5.5.3.1.5 Contribution of neuromodulators to cortical plasticity in relation to feed-forward mechanisms

Adrenergic, cholinergic and serotoninergic systems are important for the basic function of visual cortex. Indeed, they control the morphological reorganization of the circuitry. For instance, the application of noradrenaline and serotonin modulates, in an age-dependent manner, the number of synapses. Interestingly, these systems facilitate the ocular dominance plasticity possibly by modulating thresholds for LTP/LTD induction resulting in modification of intracellular calcium concentration. Maya Vetencourt and co-authors (Maya Vetencourt *et al.*, 2008) showed that the administration of fluoxetine restores ocular dominance plasticity to adults, possibly due to a correlative reduction in inhibition.

Learning that preferential orientation of neurons may change following adaptation or could be modified by the use of certain compounds underlines plasticity within the adult cortex and reveals a glimmer of hope in the face of various unfortunate clinical situations. However, the mechanisms responsible for the constant changes in the adult brain are not fully elucidated that is why, the plasticity is a key property, that we should more investigate.

5.6 Conclusions

Senses make us alive by detecting a diverse set of external signals with incredible sensitivity and specificity. We are thus capable of detecting changes in our environments and adjusting our behavior appropriately. Sensory cortices are thus referred to as 'plastic' wherein changes across brain systems and related behaviors modulate as a function of the time and the nature of experience. Yet, there are missing links of knowledge with respect to unimodal sensory deprivation on the direct functioning of neighboring primary sensory areas and missing sensory modalities. Moreover, few cross-modal studies have opened gates towards the understanding of the interaction between multimodal sensory areas. Yet, there is a need to determine the multimodal nature of primary sensory areas and the extent to which the structural changes that can be observed ultimately leading to behavioral changes. Future studies implying high-resolution approach would be able to clarify the roles of these areas in compensatory sensory changes and brain reorganization. Still, summarizing from the discussion of the role of sensory areas and sensory regions exhibiting multisensory conduct is it not fair to ask; Is cortex essentially multisensory? Is cortex plastic or elastic? After describing different studies and results from our own and few other protocols we may suggest that the answer is indeed YES. Cortex is essentially multisensory! Moreover, the argument that brain is plastic or elastic is still yet to be further scrutinized. It may be concluded that external factors govern the dynamics of the brain and the extent and nature of experience at different stages of life could be the most deciding factor or brain plasticity.

5.7 References

Sur M, Rubenstein JL. Patterning and plasticity of the cerebral cortex. Science. 2005;310(5749):805-10.
Sharma J, Angelucci A, Sur M. Induction of visual orientation modules in auditory cortex. Nature.
2000;404(6780):841-7.

3. Innocenti GM, Price DJ. Exuberance in the development of cortical networks. Nature Reviews Neuroscience. 2005;6(12):955-65.

4. Beauchamp MS, Lee KE, Argall BD, Martin A. Integration of auditory and visual information about objects in superior temporal sulcus. Neuron. 2004;41(5):809-23.

5. Clark SA, Allard T, Jenkins WM, Merzenich MM. Receptive fields in the body-surface map in adult cortex defined by temporally correlated inputs. Nature. 1988;332(6163):444-5.

6. Merzenich MM, Nelson RJ, Stryker MP, Cynader MS, Schoppmann A, Zook JM. Somatosensory cortical map changes following digit amputation in adult monkeys. The Journal of comparative neurology. 1984;224(4):591-605.

7. Kupers R, Fumal A, de Noordhout AM, Gjedde A, Schoenen J, Ptito M. Transcranial magnetic stimulation of the visual cortex induces somatotopically organized qualia in blind subjects. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2006;103(35):13256-60.

8. Ptito M, Moesgaard SM, Gjedde A, Kupers R. Cross-modal plasticity revealed by electrotactile stimulation of the tongue in the congenitally blind. Brain. 2005;128(3):606-14.

9. Bach-y-Rita P, W. Kercel S. Sensory substitution and the human–machine interface. Trends in Cognitive Sciences. 2003;7(12):541-6.

10. Kandel ER. The biology of memory: a forty-year perspective. The Journal of neuroscience: the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2009;29(41):12748-56.

11. Basole A, White LE, Fitzpatrick D. Mapping multiple features in the population response of visual cortex. Nature. 2003;423(6943):986-90.

12. Frenkel MY, Sawtell NB, Diogo AC, Yoon B, Neve RL, Bear MF. Instructive effect of visual experience in mouse visual cortex. Neuron. 2006;51(3):339-49.

13. Kohn A. Visual adaptation: physiology, mechanisms, and functional benefits. Journal of neurophysiology. 2007;97(5):3155-64.

14. Kokovay E, Temple S. Taking neural crest stem cells to new heights. Cell. 2007;131(2):234-6.

15. McCoy PA, Huang HS, Philpot BD. Advances in understanding visual cortex plasticity. Current opinion in neurobiology. 2009;19(3):298-304.

 Sur M, Schummers J, Dragoi V. Cortical plasticity: time for a change. Current biology: CB. 2002;12(5): R168-70.

17. Watroba L, Buser P, Milleret C. Impairment of binocular vision in the adult cat induces plastic changes in the callosal cortical map. The European journal of neuroscience. 2001;14(6):1021-9.

18. Gourevitch B, Eggermont JJ. Spectro-temporal sound density-dependent long-term adaptation in cat primary auditory cortex. The European journal of neuroscience. 2008;27(12):3310-21.

19. Armstrong-James M, Diamond ME, Ebner FF. An innocuous bias in whisker use in adult rats modifies receptive fields of barrel cortex neurons. The Journal of neuroscience: the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 1994;14(11 Pt 2):6978-91.

20. Dragoi V, Sharma J, Sur M. Adaptation-induced plasticity of orientation tuning in adult visual cortex. Neuron. 2000;28(1):287-98.

21. Ghisovan N, Nemri A, Shumikhina S, Molotchnikoff S. Long adaptation reveals mostly attractive shifts of orientation tuning in cat primary visual cortex. Neuroscience. 2009;164(3):1274-83.

22. Nemri A, Ghisovan N, Shumikhina S, Molotchnikoff S. Adaptive behavior of neighboring neurons during adaptation-induced plasticity of orientation tuning in VI. BMC neuroscience. 2009; 10:147.

23. Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Adaptation-induced plasticity and spike waveforms in cat visual cortex. Neuroreport. 2012;23(2):88-92.

24. Cattan S, Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Jeyabalaratnam J, Milleret C, Molotchnikoff S. Comparative analysis of orientation maps in areas 17 and 18 of the cat primary visual cortex following adaptation. The European journal of neuroscience. 2014;40(3):2554-63.

25. Bouchard M, Gillet PC, Shumikhina S, Molotchnikoff S. Adaptation changes the spatial frequency tuning of adult cat visual cortex neurons. Experimental brain research. 2008;188(2):289-303.

26. Clifford CW. Perceptual adaptation: motion parallels orientation. Trends in cognitive sciences. 2002;6(3):136-43.

27. Tootell RB, Hadjikhani NK, Vanduffel W, Liu AK, Mendola JD, Sereno MI, et al. Functional analysis of primary visual cortex (V1) in humans. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1998;95(3):811-7.

28. Jin DZ, Dragoi V, Sur M, Seung HS. Tilt aftereffect and adaptation-induced changes in orientation tuning in visual cortex. Journal of neurophysiology. 2005;94(6):4038-50.

29. Tolias AS, Sultan F, Augath M, Oeltermann A, Tehovnik EJ, Schiller PH, et al. Mapping cortical activity elicited with electrical microstimulation using FMRI in the macaque. Neuron. 2005;48(6):901-11.

30. Kohn A, Movshon JA. Neuronal adaptation to visual motion in area MT of the macaque. Neuron. 2003;39(4):681-91.

31. Kohn A, Movshon JA. Adaptation changes the direction tuning of macaque MT neurons. Nature neuroscience. 2004;7(7):764-72.

32. Yang J, Lisberger SG. Relationship between adapted neural population responses in MT and motion adaptation in speed and direction of smooth-pursuit eye movements. Journal of neurophysiology. 2009;101(5):2693-707.

33. Schlack A, Albright TD. Remembering visual motion: neural correlates of associative plasticity and motion recall in cortical area MT. Neuron. 2007;53(6):881-90.

34. Hietanen MA, Crowder NA, Price NS, Ibbotson MR. Influence of adapting speed on speed and contrast coding in the primary visual cortex of the cat. The Journal of physiology. 2007;584(Pt 2):451-62.

35. Priebe NJ, Lampl I, Ferster D. Mechanisms of direction selectivity in cat primary visual cortex as revealed by visual adaptation. Journal of neurophysiology. 2010;104(5):2615-23.

36. Krekelberg B, van Wezel RJ, Albright TD. Adaptation in macaque MT reduces perceived speed and improves speed discrimination. Journal of neurophysiology. 2006;95(1):255-70.

37. Movshon JA, Lennie P. Pattern-selective adaptation in visual cortical neurones. Nature. 1979;278(5707):850-2.

38.Saul AB, Cynader MS. Adaptation in single units in visual cortex: the tuning of aftereffects in the temporal domain. Visual neuroscience. 1989;2(6):609-20.

39. Levinson E, Sekuler R. Adaptation alters perceived direction of motion. Vision research. 1976;16(7):779-81.

40. Blakemore C, Carpenter RH, Georgeson MA. Lateral inhibition between orientation detectors in the human visual system. Nature. 1970;228(5266):37-9.

41. Jia H, Rochefort NL, Chen X, Konnerth A. Dendritic organization of sensory input to cortical neurons in vivo. Nature. 2010;464(7293):1307-12.

42. Marshansky S, Shumikhina S, Molotchnikoff S. Repetitive adaptation induces plasticity of spatial frequency tuning in cat primary visual cortex. Neuroscience. 2011; 172:355-65.

43. Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Cattan S, Molotchnikoff S. Fluoxetine and serotonin facilitate attractiveadaptation-induced orientation plasticity in adult cat visual cortex. The European journal of neuroscience. 2013;38(1):2065-77.

44. Fregnac Y, Pananceau M, Rene A, Huguet N, Marre O, Levy M, et al. A Re-Examination of Hebbian-Covariance Rules and Spike Timing-Dependent Plasticity in Cat Visual Cortex in vivo. Frontiers in synaptic neuroscience. 2010; 2:147.

45. Jeyabalaratnam J, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Angers A, Molotchnikoff S. Adaptation shifts preferred orientation of tuning curve in the mouse visual cortex. PloS one. 2013; 8(5): e64294.

46. Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Cattan S, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Reprogramming of orientation columns in visual cortex: a domino effect. Scientific reports. 2015; 5:9436.

47. Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Comparative effects of adaptation on layers II-III and V-VI neurons in cat V1. The European journal of neuroscience. 2016;44(12):3094-104.

48. Kell CA, von Kriegstein K, Rösler A, Kleinschmidt A, Laufs H. The Sensory Cortical Representation of the Human Penis: Revisiting Somatotopy in the Male Homunculus. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2005;25(25):5984.

49. Cazala F, Vienney N, Stoléru S. The cortical sensory representation of genitalia in women and men: a systematic review. Socioaffective Neuroscience & Psychology. 2015; 5:10.3402/snp.v5.26428.

50. Penfield W, Boldrey E. SOMATIC MOTOR AND SENSORY REPRESENTATION IN THE CEREBRAL CORTEX OF MAN AS STUDIED BY ELECTRICAL STIMULATION1. Brain. 1937;60(4):389-443.

51. Sanchez-Panchuelo RM, Francis S, Bowtell R, Schluppeck D. Mapping Human Somatosensory Cortex in Individual Subjects With 7T Functional MRI. Journal of Neurophysiology. 2010;103(5):2544-56.

52. Tusa RJ, Palmer LA, Rosenquist AC. The retinotopic organization of area 17 (striate cortex) in the cat. The Journal of Comparative Neurology. 1978;177(2):213-35.

53. Tusa RJ, Rosenquist AC, Palmer LA. Retinotopic organization of areas 18 and 19 in the cat. The Journal of Comparative Neurology. 1979;185(4):657-78.

54. Hubel DH, Wiesel TN. Receptive fields, binocular interaction and functional architecture in the cat's visual cortex. The Journal of Physiology. 1962;160(1):106-54.

55. Maier DL, Mani S, Donovan SL, Soppet D, Tessarollo L, McCasland JS, et al. Disrupted cortical map and absence of cortical barrels in growth-associated protein (GAP)-43 knockout mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1999;96(16):9397-402.

56. Lee L-J, Erzurumlu RS. Altered Parcellation of Neocortical Somatosensory Maps in N-methyl-Daspartate Receptor-Deficient Mice. The Journal of comparative neurology. 2005;485(1):57-63.

57. Polley DB, Rickert JL, Frostig RD. Whisker-based discrimination of object orientation determined with a rapid training paradigm. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory. 2005;83(2):134-42.

58. Anjum F, Turni H, Mulder PGH, van der Burg J, Brecht M. Tactile guidance of prey capture in Etruscan shrews. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2006;103(44):16544-9.

59. Connor DH, Clack NG, Huber D, Komiyama T, Myers EW, Svoboda K. Vibrissa-Based Object Localization in Head-Fixed Mice. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2010;30(5):1947.

60. Mehta SB, Whitmer D, Figueroa R, Williams BA, Kleinfeld D. Active Spatial Perception in the Vibrissa Scanning Sensorimotor System. PLOS Biology. 2007;5(2): e15.

61. Krupa DJ, Matell MS, Brisben AJ, Oliveira LM, Nicolelis MAL. Behavioral Properties of the Trigeminal Somatosensory System in Rats Performing Whisker-Dependent Tactile Discriminations. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2001;21(15):5752.

62. Boubenec Y, Claverie LN, Shulz DE, Debrégeas G. An Amplitude Modulation/Demodulation Scheme for Whisker-Based Texture Perception. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2014;34(33):10832.

63. Lottem E, Azouz R. Dynamic Translation of Surface Coarseness into Whisker Vibrations. Journal of Neurophysiology. 2008;100(5):2852.

64. Woolsey TA, Van der Loos H. The structural organization of layer IV in the somatosensory region (SI) of mouse cerebral cortex: The description of a cortical field composed of discrete cytoarchitectonic units.Brain Research. 1970;17(2):205-42.

65. Welker C, Woolsey TA. Structure of layer IV in the somatosensory neocortex of the rat: Description and comparison with the mouse. The Journal of Comparative Neurology. 1974;158(4):437-53.

66. de Kock CPJ, Sakmann B. Spiking in primary somatosensory cortex during natural whisking in awake head-restrained rats is cell-type specific. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2009;106(38):16446-50.

67. de Kock CP, Sakmann B. Spiking in primary somatosensory cortex during natural whisking in awake head-restrained rats is cell-type specific. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2009;106(38):16446-50.

68. Wu H-PP, Ioffe JC, Iverson MM, Boon JM, Dyck RH. Novel, whisker-dependent texture discrimination task for mice. Behavioural Brain Research. 2013;237(Supplement C):238-42.

69. Pacchiarini N, Fox K, Honey RC. Perceptual learning with tactile stimuli in rodents: Shaping the somatosensory system. Learning & Behavior. 2017;45(2):107-14.

70. Ghazanfar AA, Schroeder CE. Is neocortex essentially multisensory? Trends in cognitive sciences. 2006;10(6):278-85.

71. Driver J, Noesselt T. Multisensory interplay reveals crossmodal influences on 'sensory-specific' brain regions, neural responses, and judgments. Neuron. 2008;57(1):11-23.

72. Adeli M, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Audiovisual correspondence between musical timbre and visual shapes. Frontiers in human neuroscience. 2014; 8:352.

73. Muckli L, Petro LS. Network interactions: non-geniculate input to V1. Current opinion in neurobiology.2013;23(2):195-201.

74. Vetter P, Smith FW, Muckli L. Decoding sound and imagery content in early visual cortex. Current biology : CB. 2014;24(11):1256-62.

75. Ibrahim LA, Mesik L, Ji XY, Fang Q, Li HF, Li YT, et al. Cross-Modality Sharpening of Visual Cortical Processing through Layer-1-Mediated Inhibition and Disinhibition. Neuron. 2016;89(5):1031-45.

76. Antonini A, Stryker MP. Rapid remodeling of axonal arbors in the visual cortex. Science. 1993;260(5115):1819-21.

77. Keck T, Scheuss V, Jacobsen RI, Wierenga CJ, Eysel UT, Bonhoeffer T, et al. Loss of sensory input causes rapid structural changes of inhibitory neurons in adult mouse visual cortex. Neuron. 2011;71(5):869-82.

78. Godde B, Leonhardt R, Cords SM, Dinse HR. Plasticity of orientation preference maps in the visual cortex of adult cats. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2002;99(9):6352-7.

79. Blasdel GG. Differential imaging of ocular dominance and orientation selectivity in monkey striate cortex. The Journal of neuroscience: the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 1992;12(8):3115-38.
80. Frostig RD, Lieke EE, Ts'o DY, Grinvald A. Cortical functional architecture and local coupling between neuronal activity and the microcirculation revealed by in vivo high-resolution optical imaging of intrinsic signals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1990;87(16):6082-6.

81. Bonhoeffer T, Grinvald A. Iso-orientation domains in cat visual cortex are arranged in pinwheel-like patterns. Nature. 1991;353(6343):429-31.

82. Swindale NV. Cortical organization: modules, polymaps and mosaics. Current biology: CB. 1998;8(8):R270-3.

83. Maldonado PE, Godecke I, Gray CM, Bonhoeffer T. Orientation selectivity in pinwheel centers in cat striate cortex. Science. 1997;276(5318):1551-5.

84. Mataga N, Imamura K, Watanabe Y. L-threo-3,4-dihydroxyphenylserine enhanced ocular dominance plasticity in adult cats. Neuroscience letters. 1992;142(2):115-8.

85. Morishita H, Miwa JM, Heintz N, Hensch TK. Lynx1, a cholinergic brake, limits plasticity in adult visual cortex. Science. 2010;330(6008):1238-40.

86. Maya Vetencourt JF, Sale A, Viegi A, Baroncelli L, De Pasquale R, O'Leary OF, et al. The antidepressant fluoxetine restores plasticity in the adult visual cortex. Science. 2008;320(5874):385-8.

87. Maya Vetencourt JF, Tiraboschi E, Spolidoro M, Castren E, Maffei L. Serotonin triggers a transient epigenetic mechanism that reinstates adult visual cortex plasticity in rats. The European journal of neuroscience. 2011;33(1):49-57.

88. Chollet F, Tardy J, Albucher JF, Thalamas C, Berard E, Lamy C, et al. Fluoxetine for motor recovery after acute ischaemic stroke (FLAME): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. The Lancet Neurology. 2011;10(2):123-30.

89. Wang C, Liu JL, Sang HF, Lu Y, Dong HL, Xiong LZ. Therapeutic time window of flurbiprofen axetil's neuroprotective effect in a rat model of transient focal cerebral ischemia. Chinese medical journal. 2008;121(24):2572-7.

90. Komlosi G, Molnar G, Rozsa M, Olah S, Barzo P, Tamas G. Fluoxetine (prozac) and serotonin act on excitatory synaptic transmission to suppress single layer 2/3 pyramidal neuron-triggered cell assemblies in the human prefrontal cortex. The Journal of neuroscience: the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2012;32(46):16369-78.

91. Chen X, Shu S, Bayliss DA. HCN1 channel subunits are a molecular substrate for hypnotic actions of ketamine. The Journal of neuroscience: the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2009;29(3):600-9.

92. Beverly CM, Walters MD, Weber AM, Piedmonte MR, Ballard LA. Prevalence of hydronephrosis in patients undergoing surgery for pelvic organ prolapse. Obstetrics and gynecology. 1997;90(1):37-41.

CHAPTER 6: CROSS-CORRELATION REVEALS SYNCHRONY WITHIN ADAPTED SUPRA AND INFRAGRANULAR LAYERS IN CAT V1

Nayan Chanauria¹, Vishal Bharmauria², Afef Ouelhazi¹, Lyes Bachatene³, Jean Rouat⁴, Stéphane Molotchnikoff¹

¹Neurophysiology of Visual System, Département de Sciences Biologiques, Université de Montréal, CP 6128 Succursale Centre-Ville, Montréal, QC H3C 3J7, Canada

²The Visuomotor Neuroscience Lab, Centre for Vision Research, Faculty of Health, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada

³Department of Nuclear Medicine and Radiobiology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences (CHUS),

SNAIL, Sherbrooke Neuro Analysis and Imaging Lab, University of Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

⁴Departement de Génie Électrique et Génie Informatique, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

(This article is under preparation)

6.1 Abstract

A characteristic feature of the visual cortex is its laminar organization. Each of these columns is divided into supra (upper) and infragranular (lower) layers wherein neurons have similar orientation selectivity. V1 neurons are highly plastic and change their orientation tuning peaks either towards or away from the adapter exhibiting attractive or repulsive shifts. Previous studies have shown in supragranular layers that following adaptation entire orientation map is re-organized, however no reports have shown in what way neurons in deeper layers form functional links with superficial layer neurons in response to adaptation. The cortical columns consist of layers and the extensive connectivity between these layers makes the cortical columns dynamic. We hypothesize that not only the neurons specific to a layer change their tuning properties, but neurons in the entire column connects functionally to process the adapter, leading to whole cortex reprogramming. To this aim, we simultaneously recorded layer 2/3 and 5/6 neurons in conventionally prepared anesthetized cats by lowering a multielectrode in V1 at depths of 300-500µm and 1000-1200µm. Cross-correlations were computed within and between the spike trains of neuron pairs of layers 2/3 and 5/6 to disclose functional connections between these layers and observe how adaptation affects this functional connectivity. Our data shows that the proportion of supra and infragranular layer neuron pairs exhibiting positive cross-correlations is relatively small. Conversely, neurons within the same layers show frequent positive cross-correlation. Furthermore, the mean strength of overall connections in all the three cases: within supragranular neurons, within infragranular neurons and between supra and infragranular neurons, remains the same. This suggests that connections between the supra and infragranular layer neurons are more specific and time correlated.

6.2 Introduction

Ever since the pivotal investigations of Hubel and Wiesel in 1962, it has been extensively established that the visual cortex is organized into columnar domains of orientation selectivity. A majority of neurons in a vertical column are selective to the same axis of orientation when presented within their respective receptive fields (RFs). When an electrode is lowered in the cortex in an oblique direction, the preferred neuronal orientation rotates systematically by about 16.5° for every 0.09 mm of the recording tip as it traverses orientation column to the next. Such a systematic sequence of columns predicts the subsequent orientation pattern (Blasdel & Salama, 1986; Blasdel, 1992). This organization depends on the notion that a columnar organization is an outcome of the segregated architecture of inter-neuronal connections leading to a relatively inflexible layout of the striate organization. For instance, neurons in the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) aligned along an axis connected to a single cortical cell give rise to the orientation selectivity. The structural organization of cerebral cortex rests on the six cortical layers that can be differentiated based on cell-types, circuits and functional selectivity of activity (Armstrong *et al.*, 1992; Thomson *et al.*, 2003; Douglas & Martin, 2004).

Coordinated activity across cortical layers critically underlies both local processing within cortical areas and directed interactions with other cortical and sub-cortical areas. The interlaminar circuitry of connections between neurons is highly complex. According to the most simplified version of the excitatory axonal projections and activations (Douglas & Martin, 1994; Douglas and Martin, 2004) layer 4 is the main recipient of thalamic sensory inputs that communicates the stimulus-evoked activity to supragranular layer 2/3, which in turn relay information to infragranular layers layer 5/6.

Lately, another model of evoked activity has been proposed that challenges the classical model. According to the latter, the thalamus directly projects sensory information to both layer 4 and infragranular layers (Constantinople and Bruno, 2013). It has also been shown that layer 5/6 cells respond to sensory stimulation

even before layer 2/3 neurons do (Thomson, 2010). Therefore, there is definitely an important role for infragranular layers in stimulus-evoked activity.

On adapting, neurons change their orientation tuning peaks either towards or away from the adapter exhibiting attractive or repulsive shifts (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009; Bachatene *et al.*, 2012). These are classic behavioral response towards the non-preferred orientation known as adapter.

In the sensory cortex, time correlated co-ordinated firing between neurons occurring at millisecondscales leads to the formation of functionally emergent circuits (Singer, 1999; Barthó *et al.*, 2004; Fujisawa *et al.*, 2008; Buzsáki, 2010; Molotchnikoff & Rouat, 2012; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2014; Bachatene *et al.*, 2015). Depending on the organization of the selectivity of neurons for a specific feature, e.g. oriented stimuli in the primary visual cortex (V1), higher mammals exhibit a well-established columnar organization, wherein local neurons have differential selectivity for orientations (Harris and Mrsic-Flogel, 2013).

Cross-correlogram is an effective way to study synchrony between the neural spike trains (Perkel *et al.*, 1967, König *et al.*, 1995; Barthó *et al.*, 2004; Fujisawa *et al.*, 2008). Thus, we implemented cross correlograms within a \pm 5-ms quasi-synchrony window to explore functional connectivity within the neurons down the column. Using cross-correlograms, our lab has already shown that co-active neurons in layer 2/3 form cell-assemblies in response to differently oriented stimulus by framing a specific functional connectome in relation to a specific stimulus (Bretzner *et al.*, 2001; Duret *et al.*, 2006; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2012; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2015). We found that similarly tuned cells form functional connections and show positive cross-correlation. Layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons synchronize their action potentials in response to the adapter and show sharp peaks straddling zero in cross-correlograms.

6.3 Materials and methods

6.3.1 Ethical approval

Electrophysiological recordings were performed in the area 17 of five adult domestic cats (Felis catus) of either sex. The animal surgery and electrophysiological recordings were performed in accord with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. The same were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Montreal. Animals were supplied by the Division of Animal Resources of the University of Montreal. Experiments were carried out by the guidelines approved by the NIH in the USA, the Canadian Council on Animal Care, and the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of University of Montreal (CDEA) regarding the care and use of animals for experimental procedures.

6.3.2 Anesthesia and surgery

Firstly, the cats were sedated with acepromazine maleate [1 mg/kg, intra-muscular (i.m.), Atravet; Wyeth-Ayerst, Guelph, ON, Canada] and atropine sulfate (0.04 mg/kg, i.m., Atrosa; Rafter, Calgary, AB, Canada). Then, the animals were anesthetized with ketamine hydrochloride (25 mg/kg, i.m., Rogarsetic; Pfizer, Kirkland, QC, Canada). When ready, a surgery was performed on the animals to prepare them for the stereotaxic apparatus. Anesthesia was maintained during the surgery with isoflurane ventilation (2%, AErrane; Baxter, Toronto, ON, Canada). Following surgery, cats were paralyzed by perfusion of gallamine triethiodide (40 mg/kg, intravenous, Flaxedil; Sigma Chemical, St Louis, MO, USA) and fixed in a stereotaxic apparatus. The cats were artificially ventilated with O₂/N₂O (30: 70) mixture containing isoflurane (0.5%). Paralysis was maintained by perfusion of gallamine triethiodide (10 mg/kg/h) in 5% dextrose lactated Ringer's nutritive solution throughout the experiment.

Lidocaine hydrochloride (2%; Xylocaine, AstraZeneca, Mississauga, ON, Canada) was injected subcutaneously as a local anesthetic during the surgery. A tracheotomy was performed for artificial ventilation. The cephalic vein in the forelimb was cannulated to insert the catheter for initiating an i.v. line. Xylocaine gel (5%; Astra Pharma, Mississauga, ON, Canada) was applied on the pressure points to reduce pain and sensation. Anesthesia levels were ensured throughout the experiment by monitoring the EEG, the electrocardiogram, and the expired CO₂. The end-tidal CO₂ partial pressure was kept constant between 25 and 30 mmHg. A heating pad was placed beneath the cat to maintain a body temperature of 37.5 °C. To prevent any bacterial infection, Tribrissen (30 mg/kg/day, subcutaneous; Schering-Plough, Pointe-Claire, QC, Canada) and Duplocillin (0.1 mL/kg, intra-muscular; Intervet, Withby, ON, Canada) were administered to the animals. A craniotomy $(1 \times 1 \text{ cm})$ was performed over the primary visual cortex (area 17/18, Horsley-Clarke co-ordinates P0–P6; L0–L6). The underlying dura was removed, and the electrode was lowered in area 17. The pupils were dilated with atropine sulfate (1%; Isopto-Atropine, Alcon, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and the nictitating membranes were retracted with phenylephrine hydrochloride (2.5%; Mydfrin, Alcon). Plano contact lenses with artificial pupils (5 mm diameter) were placed on the cat's eyes to prevent the cornea from drying (University of Montreal, PQ, Canada). The cats were sacrificed using a lethal dose of pentobarbital sodium (100 mg/kg; Somnotol, MTC Pharmaceuticals, Cambridge, ON, Canada) by an intravenous injection when the experiment was over.

6.3.3 Electrophysiological recording and Single unit isolation

Multiunit activity in the primary visual cortex was recorded using a tungsten multichannel depth electrode $(0.1-0.8 \text{ M}\Omega \text{ at } 1 \text{ KHz}; \text{Alpha Omega Co. USA Inc.})$. The recordings were performed in either hemisphere of the cat's brain. The electrode consisted of four microelectrodes in a linear array (inter-electrode spacing 500 µm) enclosed in stainless steel tubing. The signal from the microelectrodes was amplified, band-pass filtered (300 Hz–3 KHz), digitized, and recorded with a 0.05 ms temporal resolution (Spike2, CED,

Cambridge, UK). Recordings were done at an average cortical depths of 300-500 and $1000-1200 \ \mu m$ simultaneously from both sites.

The multiunit activity of neurons was recorded simultaneously from layers 2/3 and 5/6. Spike sorting was done offline using Spike2 package, CED (Cambridge, England) to isolate single units. The single units were discriminated based upon the spike waveforms, principal component analysis (PCA), and auto correlograms (ACG).

6.3.4 Visual stimulation and adaptation protocol

Stimulation was performed monocularly. After clearly detectable activity was obtained, the multiunit receptive fields (RF) were mapped by using a hand-held ophthalmoscope (Barlow *et al.*, 1967). Receptive field edges were determined by moving a light bar from the periphery toward the center until a response was evoked. Visual stimuli were generated with a VSG 2/5 graphic board (Cambridge Research Systems, Rochester, England) and displayed on a 21-inch Monitor (Sony GDM-F520 Trinitron, Tokyo, Japan) placed 57 cm from the cat's eyes, with 1024×768 pixels, running at 100 Hz frame refresh. Stimuli were drifting sine-wave gratings covering the excitatory RF (Maffei *et al.*, 1973). The receptive fields were located centrally within a 15° radius from the fovea. Contrast and mean luminance were set at 80% and 40 cd/m2, respectively. Optimal spatial and temporal frequencies were set at 0.24 cycles/deg and in the range 1.0–2.0 Hz (at these values V1 neurons are driven maximally) by sine-wave drifting gratings (Bardy *et al.*, 2006).

After manually mapping the receptive fields, eight different orientations were presented randomly one-by-one within the receptive fields of the neurons. Eight oriented sine-wave drifting gratings were presented in a random order ranging from 0° to 157.5° at regular intervals of 22.5°. Each orientation was presented in a block of 25 trials (each trial lasted 4.1 s) with varying inter-stimulus (1–3 s) intervals during which no stimulus was presented. Thus, the presentation of one oriented drifting grating lasted ~180 s (including all trials and inter-stimulus intervals). Once the control orientation tuning curves were

characterized, an adapting oriented stimulus (non-optimal orientation) was presented continuously for 12 min within the receptive fields of neurons. The adapting stimulus was a drifting grating whose orientation was chosen based on the multiunit activity values obtained at control conditions and was generally set within 22.5°–67.5° of the neurons' preferred orientations. No recordings were performed during this adaptation period. Immediately after the adaptation procedure, recordings were performed starting with the adaptor orientation and initially preferred orientation followed by recording of remaining orientations in a random fashion. Finally, the tuning curves were computed as below.

6.3.5 Data Analysis: Gaussian tuning fits and cross-correlation analysis

Once single cells were sorted out off-line from multi-unit activity accumulated during data acquisition, Gaussian tuning curves were constructed from raw data. We fitted our raw data with the Gaussian function to determine the precise preferred orientation of neurons. Then shifts in orientation preference were measured. We used the following Gaussian function:



where y_0 is the offset, X_c is the center, w is the width, and A represents the area under the Gaussian fit. The shifts of peaks of tuning curves between pre- and post-adaptation conditions were calculated from the Gaussian fits using the following formula:

$$Shift = |Xc post - Xc pre|$$

where Xc is the central value derived from the Gaussian fit.

Cross-correlograms were computed between the spike trains of all the possible neuron-pairs at all the presented orientations to reveal the firing of one neuron (target) at a specific time-frame in relation to the firing of another neuron (reference). Then, bin counts were divided by the number of reference events to

normalize the counts per bin into probabilities. The bin-width was set at 1 ms. A statistical threshold of 95% for the significance of the bins was chosen and the probability of the neuron firing in a bin was computed as follows (Abeles, 1892).

Considering, the spike train is a Poisson train, the probability (P) of the neuron to fire in the small bin of the size b is:

$$P = F*b$$
 and $F = N/T$

where 'F' is the neuron frequency, 'T' is the total time interval, and 'N' is the number of spikes in that interval.

Raw CCGs were shift-corrected to eliminate the putative significant peaks due to the simultaneous stimulation of both cells (Perkel *et al.*, 1967). It is also to be noted that when two cells recorded from the same tip displayed synchronized their firing, their respective waveforms possibly will sum up. Therefore, the shape of the resultant waveform is rejected as it falls outside the range of the template. In the present case, 'synchrony' of spikes from the same tip is excluded from the analysis.

6.4 Results

The objective of the current investigation is to examine the functional connectivity between simultaneously recorded neurons from superficial and deeper layers when adapted. In the current study, 296 pairs of layers 2/3 neurons, 248 pairs of layers 5/6 neurons and 296 pairs of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 were investigated from 20 recording sites. Neuron were classified into connected and unconnected pairs. Further, connected pairs were segregated into unidirectional, bidirectional and synchronized pairs. Neuron pairs that were untuned and unconnected have not been included to generate the figures.

6.4.1 Similar mean amplitude of shift observed in layer V and layer II-III neurons

Figure 6.1 shows a comparison of the mean amplitude of shift. Through this comparison, we wanted to see the orientation tuning change pattern within the superficial layers and deeper layers. The shifts have been further classified into attractive and repulsive. The results show a significant difference between layer 2/3 attractive and repulsive shifts as compared to layer 5/6. However, it is to be highlighted that mean amplitude for attractive and repulsive shifts across layers remains comparable.



Figure 6.1 A comparison of the mean amplitude of shift of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6.

The mean of amplitude of shift L2/3 for attractive shifts was

found the highest (t-test, p-value = 0.0870, L2/3 Att vs L2/3 Rep)

6.4.2 Deducing the orientation selectivity among neurons of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 by exploring the clusters

In this study, we define a cluster as a group of layer II/III and V/VI neurons recorded from the same site at the same time. The neurons in a cluster were analysed by plotting their orientation selectivity values at

control and post-adaptation conditions and calculating the means of the both followed by a comparison of the same. Clusters containing neurons which were untuned in control or post-adaptation conditions were not included in the figure generation. The colored sphere depicts neurons' orientation selectivity values. Red color displays values of orientation tuning for layer II/III neurons whereas green color displays layer V/VI neurons (Figure 6.2). The mean tuning of each cluster is shown at control and post-adaptation conditions. This analysis may suggest the global shift in tuning of simultaneously recorded layer II/III and layer V/VI neurons as a result of adaptation (Figure 6.2 A). The figure suggests that layer II/III and V/VI clusters were presumably closely tuned to an orientation before adaptation. Following adaptation clusters acquires a new orientation column tuning (Figure 6.2 B). In the clusters, neurons which are similarly tuned in both layers at control conditions approach the same orientation spread (range) post-adaptation. In few clusters, even if the neurons are not similarly tuned at the beginning they still achieve similar selectivity range post-adaptation. This reflects upon the tendency of layer II-III and layer V/VI neurons together to attaining new selectivity after 12 minutes of adaptation. This gives the suggestion of the whole orientation column acquiring the new selectivity.





A graphical representation of the cluster analysis performed to examine the neurons in layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 (A) Each cluster refers to neurons simultaneously recorded from one electrode penetration down the column. Each cluster is broken down into individual neurons and their orientation tuning values

are plotted at control and post-adaptation conditions (B) Comparison of mean of preferred orientations at control and post-adaptation conditions for all clusters

6.4.3 Proportion of connections decrease following adaptation

Figure 6.3 shows functional connections revealed at ±5 ms in the cross correlogram. For layer II/III and layer V/VI the connections have been further differentiated into unidirectional and bidirectional. However, synchrony was ignored for the neurons recorded at same depth. A reduction in the proportion of bidirectional connections was found in layer II/III. Additionally, average number of intralayer and interlayer connections decrease signifying fewer connections. Furthermore, novel functional connections were found in layer V/VI.





Proportion of connections at a time window of ± 5 ms classified into unidirectional, bidirectional and synchrony. (A) The ratio of unidirectional connections in layer 2/3 was found insignificant (z-test, P =

0.48) and bidirectional connections was found significant (z-test, P = 0.002) (B) The ratio of unidirectional (z-test, P = 0.53) and bidirectional (z-test, P > 0.05) connections in layer 5/6 was found insignificant (C) The ratio of unidirectional connections in layer 2/3 was found insignificant (z-test, P =

0.60) and bidirectional connections was found significant (z-test, P > 0.05). The synchronized connections between layers was also found non-significant (z-test, P > 0.05)

6.4.4 Strength of connections in layer 2/3, layer 5/6 and between layer 2/3 and layer 5/6

Figure 6.4 shows comparison of the average probability of connection strength calculated by crosscorrelograms. This value can be anything between 0 and 1. From the figure it can be observed that even though fewer connections exist between the neuron pairs of layers 2/3 and layer 5/6 (interlayer), the mean of strength of connections remains similar as no statistical difference is noted. This highlights the existence of a homeostatic interplay responsible for maintaining the overall balance in a V1 column.



Figure 6.4

Strength of connections in layer 2/3, layer 5/6 and between layer 2/3 and layer 5/6

The strengths between all the six groups was found insignificant using repeated-measures ANOVA.

6.4.5 Typical example of a cross-correlogram between a layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons pair

Figure 6.4 shows an example of cross-correlogram analysis of a layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons pair before adaptation and after adaptation. The sharp peak at zero in the cross-correlogram indicates synchrony. This means that neurons firing is synchronised towards the stimuli. In part a it can be clearly seen that both cells of layer 2/3 make a positive cross-correlation with layer 5/6 neurons. This is depicted by the sharp peak above the confidence line (in red). These cell pairs have been recorded simultaneously and adapted with a 22° grating for 12 min. Following the adaptation process, the same pairs were observed at the adapting orientation i.e. 22°. The neuron pair still retained the peaks above the confidence line indicating positive cross-correlation.



Figure 6.5

A typical example of a cross-correlogram between a layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons pair. (a) Crosscorrelogram between layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neuron at their optimal orientation (b) Cross correlogram of the same neuron pair after adaptation at adapting orientation.

6.5 Discussion

In cats, V1 neurons are organised into homogeneous populations with similar response properties; yet, they exhibit abundant anatomical and functional connections with neurons in adjacent columns (DeAngelis *et al.*, 1999; Kisvárday *et al.*, 2000; Binzegger *et al.*, 2004; Stepanyants *et al.*, 2008; Martin & Schröder, 2013).

Synchronous spike trains within sensory systems have been known to play a key role in stimulus discrimination in the primary visual cortex (Samonds *et al.*, 2003), and are critical for inter-neuronal synaptic drives in vivo (Reid and Alonso, 1995; Alonso *et al.*, 1996; Reid, 2012; Denman and Contreras, 2014) as they provide highly efficient cues in establishing functional connections (Reid & Alonso, 1995; Reid, 2001). In cross-correlograms, the peak-position and the peak-strength quantify the time-correlated spiking of two neurons and reveal the level of functional connectivity between the two. Direct functional connections may be related to the increase in the firing probability of the target neuron in relation to the reference cell (Perkel *et al.*, 1967; Konig *et al.*, 1995; Bartho *et al.*, 2004; Fujisawa *et al.*, 2008; Reid, 2012; Bharmauria *et al.*, 2014; Denman and Contreras, 2014).

Stimulus features influence the correlation in firing between neurons (Gray *et al.*, 1990; Kohn & Smith, 2005; Ko *et al.*, 2013; Denman and Contreras, 2014). In columnar-organized cortices, neurons are clustered within cortical domains and connected. This connectivity is observed to be stronger between neurons sharing similar optimal tuning-properties (Alonso *et al.*, 1996; Csicsvari *et al.*, 1998; Alloway and Roy, 2002; Bartho *et al.*, 2004; Yoshimura *et al.*, 2005) and depends on optimal orientation and stimulus contrast (Kohn & Smith, 2005), stimulus direction (Bair *et al.*, 2001).

After adaptation, the impact of an applied orientation takes over the cell's excitability causing the emergence of a novel optimal orientation. This happens due to a specific excitatory drive, wherein one input

dominates over other inputs, thus, driving the synaptic strength above threshold that provides the cell its orientation selectivity.

In conclusion, neurons in a V1 column have numerous ways to harmonize the process of remembering the imprint of past stimulus and learning to respond to new imposed stimuli. These assorted changes in neuronal responses post-adaptation raise possibilities of existence of diverse courses which neurons choose to combat plasticity.

CHAPTER 7: GENERAL DISCUSSION

7.1 Methodological considerations

7.1.1 State of the animal

Anesthetized animals have been widely used as models to study the brain. Anesthesia affects the frequency of neuronal firing (Barth & Poulet, 2012). A study particularly relevant to sound adaptation experiments (Land *et al.*, 2012) revealed that isoflurane affects cross-modal processing in the visual and auditory cortices of mice. It was demonstrated that isoflurane hinders the inhibitory control of neuronal firing in the auditory cortex. This observation might complicate the conventional processing of auditory-visual projections. It is questionable that shifts in tuning curves reported in the present study are attributed to this phenomenon. We argue that the effects observed in the mentioned study (Land *et al.*, 2012) are due to an intentional modulation in the levels of isoflurane during the recordings. In the sound adaptation experiments, all the animals were prepared identically and, isoflurane levels were kept steady throughout the entire experiment.

7.1.2 Adaptation protocol duration

In our experiments, a continuous adaptation was performed for several minutes. Some authors argue that this kind of adaptation does not emulate natural conditions but employs stimuli of very short durations frequently presented to approach the conditions of natural visual fixations (Muller *et al.*, 1999; Patterson *et al.*, 2013). However, long adaptation is more potent in inducing plasticity and, consequently, stronger variations in neuronal responses. Others consider that response modulations of preferred orientations post-adaptation reveal after-effects (Benucci *et al.*, 2013). However, adaptation effects are constrained roughly around the original preferred orientation and the newly acquired orientation — responses at the original preferred orientation decline, while cells start responding to the novel optimal orientation with increased discharges (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009; Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013). Such dual effect is

difficult to reconcile with global aftereffects. Since after-effects are generally rapid (almost immediate), it unlikely produces the described changes in orientation selectivity following adaptation. As neuronal connections are dynamic, adaptation may lead to a transition of a neuronal network to a different equilibrium, reflecting new background conditions as a consequence of adaptation. For this reason, we believe that adaptive processes can be recorded either during or after adaptation.

Also, for the sound adaptation experiments, the choice of stimulus duration (12 min) could be of concern. It was essential that the stimulus we chose was able to stimulate the auditory cortex with varying frequencies for a prolonged duration that could further impact the visual cortex. Recent literature showing the effect of the auditory stimulus on visual neurons used a shorter length of sounds that only induced modulation of the firing rate. Hence, it became of utmost interest to detect responses of visual neurons in response to a longer duration sound. From the previous studies from our lab demonstrated that 12 min duration is enough to entirely change the tuning properties of neurons we used a sound stimulus for 12 min.

7.1.3 Spike sorting

The sorting of spikes from the multiunit activity is most crucial and initial part of separating neurons. Indeed, up-to-date technology allows researchers to isolate more than one neuron from a microelectrode. However, it is quite essential to determine the validity of a neuron because of the overlapping spikes and the bursting of neurons (Rey *et al.*, 2015). To further confirm that every sorted spike was unique, auto correlograms (ACG) and principal component analysis (PCA) were computed (Csicsvari *et al.*, 1998; Bartho *et al.*, 2004; Fujisawa *et al.*, 2008). No events at zero-time lag indicated by an empty period in the ACG authenticated the refractory period of a neuron, whereas the PCA analysis ascertained a separate cluster corresponding to a spike within a Mahalanobis distance of 2.5.

7.2 Visual adaptation in simultaneously recorded layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons

In the first part of the investigation, it was revealed that simultaneously recorded layers 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons exhibited comparable attractive and repulsive shifts amplitudes and values of orientation selectivity. Collectively, from the results by (Bachatene *et al.*, 2015c) and the results of the first part of this investigation (Chapter 3), we suggest that supra- and infragranular layer neurons change their selectivity in response to adaptation. Chapter 3 revolves around the interaction of supra-and infragranular neurons in a column. Further, this study also puts forth the implication of specific feedforward and feedback pathways between supra- and infragranular neurons that may be responsible for the reprogramming of orientation columns in V1 (Bachatene *et al.*, 2015c) as a result of functional associations.

Neurons in the primary visual cortex are fundamentally selective to stimulus properties such as orientation (Hubel & Wiesel, 1959; 1968). When presented with a preferred stimulus inside the receptive field of neurons, cells respond optimally. When presented with a range of orientations, it is characteristic to obtain an ideal Gaussian fit of the tuning curve for a neuron that reveals the preferred orientation. Such tuning properties are established during the critical period that follows birth (Chiu & Weliki, 2003; Tanaka *et al.*, 2009). Several studies have demonstrated that depending upon the duration of stimuli (frequent or prolonged presentation of a non-preferred orientation) induces modifications of the tuning curves of neurons (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009; Bachatene *et al.*, 2012b; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013; Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013; Cattan *et al.*, 2014; Bachatene *et al.*, 2015c). The non-preferred stimulus to which a neuron generally responds poorly is called a visual adapter, and the process of presenting this non-preferred stimulus to the neurons and training them to learn to respond to the adapter is referred to as adaptation. In other words, adaptation is a phenomenon of the 'forced' application of a non-preferred orientation, the peak of a neuron's tuning curve shifts either

towards the adapting orientation (attractive shifts) or away from it (repulsive shifts). Neurons could also stay unaffected to the adapter and resist a significant change. Similar results have been obtained for other features such as spatial frequency (Marshansky *et al.*, 2011) the direction of motion (Kohn & Movshon, 2004) and speed (Movshon, 1975).

Interestingly, nowadays it is acknowledged that the adaptation-induced plasticity occurs in adults too. Indeed, a fully mature brain can also undergo intense modification of tuning properties beyond the critical period just after birth. V1 neurons are selective for stimuli features such as orientation, spatial frequency, direction, and speed (Hubel & Wiesel, 1959; 1968; Movshon, 1975; Dragoi et al., 2000; Kohn & Movshon, 2004: Marshansky et al., 2011), but can modify their selectivity to functionally reorganize the visual cortex to an "adapted cortex" after stimulation. The primary visual neurons being organized into cortical domains exhibiting specific connectivity (Hubel & Wiesel, 1959; Stratford et al., 1996; Yoshimura et al., 2000). Visual training acts on the spiking activity of neuronal populations (Dragoi et al., 2000; Kohn & Movshon, 2004; Ghisovan et al., 2009; Bachatene et al., 2012b; Bachatene et al., 2013; Patterson et al., 2013) and dynamically modulates the functional interactions between neurons. The primary visual cortex can recalibrate its input towards the adaptation process and reconfigure information processing. This reorganization of neuronal connections results in modified neuronal connectivity after an experience that facilitated the plasticity (Fahle, 2004). Many studies demonstrating neuronal connectivity have shown that neuronal coupling is related to the stimuli preference of neurons. Neurons sharing similar preferred features exhibit heightened connectivity (Stepanyants et al., 2008; Ko et al., 2011). In the primary visual cortex, cells sharing similar orientation selectivity are grouped into orientation columns, and neurons in the column can be evoked by a feature (Hubel & Wiesel, 1959; 1968; Csicsvari et al., 1998; Alloway & Roy, 2002; Bartho et al., 2004; Yoshimura et al., 2005). Therefore, following a plastic modification, the neurons change their selectivity (Dragoi et al., 2000; Ghisovan et al., 2009; Bachatene et al., 2012b) and the cortex is reorganized (Dragoi et al., 2000; Godde et al., 2002). However, the mechanisms underlying the specific circuitry between simultaneously recorded layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons following visual adaptation are yet unknown.

7.2.1 How layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons work in parallel with each other?

In the past, numerous studies have mostly focused on investigating the effects of visual adaptation on layers 2/3 neurons (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013; Jeyabalaratnam *et al.*, 2013; Cattan *et al.*, 2014; Bachatene *et al.*, 2015c). To the best of our knowledge, there is only one report (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000) demonstrating recordings between depths 500 and 1500 µm of cortical column. The recorded neurons also displayed a shift in orientation tuning in response to the adapter. However, no report has simultaneously explored the effects of adaptation on layers 2/3 and 5/6 neurons. Considering the extensive connectivity (Jiang *et al.*, 2013; DeNardo *et al.*, 2015; Lee *et al.*, 2015) between supra- and infragranular neurons and column descending from layer 2/3 to layer 5/6 we hypothesized that adaptation leads to complete cortex reorganization. Therefore, it is of interest to simultaneously examine the effects of adaptation on both layers 2/3 and 5/6.

In this part of the thesis, we revealed that infragranular layers 5/6 neurons also show these classical shifts in orientation selectivity in comparison with layers 2/3 neurons towards adaptation. It is generally observed that neurons recorded from a microelectrode modify their orientation selectivity in a similar direction because they share stimulus-response properties. Dragoi and co-authors (Dragoi *et al.*, 2000) have shown that neuronal shifts are independent of cortical depth. Through anatomical pieces of evidence, it can be suggested that neurons sharing orientation preference are mostly connected and are present in close vicinity in the orientation domains. Whereas neurons situated closer to pinwheels are connected with neurons having a wide range of orientation preference (Maldonado *et al.*, 1997; Schummers *et al.*, 2004). Supragranular and infragranular neurons were recorded simultaneously using an electrode that penetrated the orientation columns parallelly. It was observed that a group of neurons recorded from an electrode penetration (cluster) displayed specific properties. For example, some clusters (~40 %) exhibited

homogeneous behaviour showing only attractive shifts, whereas others behaved heterogeneous (~60 %) by displaying both attraction and repulsion. This observation explains the significant variance of the shift amplitudes. The OSI was comparable for both layers 2/3 and 5/6. The dynamic changes of individual cells during adaptation mechanism may explain the need of only a few neurons that can encode the occurrence of events in the environment, and this plasticity may be a fundamental property of the cortical function.

In conclusion, neurons in an orientation column share stimulus properties and mostly respond in a similar pattern towards visual adapter. The cortical column is considered as the functional unit of the visual cortex. Because of the imposition of the adapter for a prolonged duration, neurons in a column collaborate and act together in harmony in the cortical column. During the adaptation process, a tilt effect is observed from one orientation column to others. Due to this tilt effect down the column, the whole cortex is systematically reprogrammed during the adaptation process.

7.2.2 Adaptation mechanisms

The possible underlying mechanism of adaptation is based on the transient changes happening at the synapse level. These changes are dependent on the duration of adaptation (Kohn, 2007; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009). In general, adaptation involves a decrease in response to the initially preferred orientation and an increase in the response toward the dominant orientation. The decrease in the firing rate following adaptation is attributed to the change in membrane properties of V1 cells such as hyperpolarization (Carandini & Ferster, 1997) or synaptic depression or slow hyperpolarizing of Na⁺ channels (Sanchez-Vives & McCormick, 2000; Sanchez-Vives *et al.*, 2000a; b). The ratio of inhibition and excitation creates and maintains the equilibrium by recurrently modulating the response gain in local cortical circuits (Ben-Yishai *et al.*, 1995; Douglas *et al.*, 1995; Somers *et al.*, 1995). Other disinhibitory mechanisms may also be implicated in maintaining homeostasis during the adaptation process. A neuron's single dendritic branch receives synaptic inputs from differently tuned neurons. This triggers a response in the neuron to a wide range of inputs by making synaptic associations. The recurrent dominant input drives the corresponding

synapses that eventually initiates a new optimal selectivity for the neuron (Jia *et al.*, 2010; Bachatene *et al.*, 2013; Wertz *et al.*, 2015). Thus, an adjustment between the excitation and inhibition following the adaptation duration facilitates the neurons to acquire a new selectivity. Regarding the direction of shifts, a proper explanation is revealed in the literature. The repulsive shift is a consequence of a default reaction towards adaptation whereas an attractive shift is the outcome of a differential decrease in response to the initially preferred orientation, while orientations far from the adapter in the tuning curve remaining relatively unchanged. Therefore, attractive shifts are the outcome of dual modulation of responses, a push-pull mechanism that simultaneously diminishes reactions to the original preferred orientation and increases neuronal discharge to the orientations close to the adapter. Consequently, the final response obtained is an amplification of ratios of excitatory and inhibitory inputs. As similar results are observed in supra- and infragranular layers, it is reasonable to conclude that in both layers excitatory and inhibitory populations share same mechanisms (Kohn & Movshon, 2004; Ghisovan *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, the excitatory and inhibitory loops are also implicated in the recalibration of neuronal selectivity (Froemke, 2015; Froemke & Schreiner, 2015).

The classical pathway of neuronal information in the visual cortex initiates at layer four neurons which are the receiving ends of the information coming from the thalamus (LGN). Then layer 4 neurons pass the information to layers 2/3 neurons. Furthermore, the information is conveyed to infragranular layers 5/6 neurons (Kapfer *et al.*, 2007; Otsuka & Kawaguchi, 2009; Apicella *et al.*, 2012; Jiang *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, several studies demonstrate that there is extensive anatomical connectivity between layers 2/3 and 5/6 neurons (Lowenstein & Somogyi, 1991; Thomson & Bannister, 2003). Therefore, the existing interneuronal relationships between the layers of the cortex lay the foundation for modification of orientation tuning.

7.3 How prolonged auditory stimulation can affect the primary visual cortex neurons?

In this part of the investigation, it was revealed that a non-visual input induced an entire shift of orientation tuning that can be firmly attributed to the repetition of sound stimulus for 12min. As a result, a pattern of response enhancement and suppression was observed that brought about the change in the orientation tuning properties of individual neurons in supra and infragranular layers of V1. The results indicate that supra and infragranular layers of V1. The results indicate that supra and dynamically integrate embedded representations of a non-visual stimulus. Besides being a reminiscent of the remarkable plasticity of visual neurons this part of the thesis is suggestive of the multisensory properties of the visual neurons.

The cortex remains intriguing. Despite years of investigation, both the purpose and underlying principles of the cerebral cortex are unclear. It is still mystifying how neurons in different neighbouring regions, can engage together and change the properties of the neurons. It is the robust yet fragile combination of both the cellular properties and architecture of the cortex that suggest a powerful functioning of the cortex. Sensory cortices respond fundamentally to the domain-specific information through their primary routes. However, sensory cortices may often process information from the other sensory area via cortical feedback and top-down pathways (Ghazanfar & Schroeder, 2006). These interactions between different sensory cortices seen explicitly in the primary visual cortex, challenge the classical theory of restricted multisensory processing to only higher cortex (Iurilli *et al.*, 2012). Auditory and visual cortices are often used as models to understand the multisensory function of the cortex. Instead of extensive experimentation in this area, it is not revealed completely how sensory areas display multisensory effects. There could be many reasons behind the multisensory association between the auditory and visual cortices.

perceptual processing for optimized response. The processing of embedded representation in the auditory signals suggests that besides the spatial localization of auditory signals in the visual cortex, auditory representations also help to anticipate the type of visual input (Vetter *et al.*, 2014). Recently, a relevant mechanistic theory of how the active dendritic properties of pyramidal neurons provided an insight into audio and visual signals interaction in V1 (Larkum, 2013). Also, it is assumed that some early visual cortex activity might be of assistance to perception other than just function. It has been observed that when human subjects sleep or daydreams, we still observe activation patterns in the early visual cortex, but this activation alone cannot be understood to facilitate perception. Thus, it could be suggested that the early visual cortex is a privileged area serving internal visual representations and that other senses such as audition can modulate this.

Indeed, from the mentioned literature we got an insight into the processing of sensory information across different species but cats. The question remains unanswered in cats whether visual neurons can respond to a repetitive auditory stimulus. These results introduce another dimension to understanding the audio-visual communication in the cortex. The observations made by recent investigators to understand cross-modal plasticity involved a slight modulation of the firing rate of neurons (Iurilli *et al.*, 2012; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2016). These observations were done in mice where the cortical organization is 'salt and pepper.' Whereas in our investigation in cats, we observed a much more intense response-change in our data, wherein V1 neurons experienced a complete shift in their orientation preference. Here, the non-preferred stimulus traditionally referred to as visual adapter is completely absent and is replaced by exposure to a sound stimulus imposed in isolation for several minutes uninterruptedly. Since orientation selectivity is an inherent property of visual cortical neurons and is established at the cortical level, the thalamic inputs are aligned upon the cortical recipient neurons, the changes of orientation selectivity are unlikely to happen at thalamic levels. Therefore, the repeated stimulation in the present study facilitated visual neurons in surpassing a threshold that may be was required to trigger substantial visual input to reach V1. Mechanistically, it is quite logical since layer 2/3 of V1 constitute of pyramidal neurons that receive direct inputs from the auditory cortex. In addition, from the visual adaptation studies from our lab, 12 min time has been proved enough to modify the tuning properties of a neuron.

Similarly, in the present study, 12 min time was enough to encode the raw embedded visual representations within the audio stimulus. It has been known for many years now that visual cortex is a stimulus-driven structure (Doron *et al.*, 2002; Izraeli *et al.*, 2002; Piche *et al.*, 2007; Chabot *et al.*, 2008). The non-visual information in the stimulus can transmit from non-visual sensory structures to the visual cortex by direct corticoccipital pathways and circumvent the higher order cortex.

Further, in this situation, the nonvisual signals do not undergo a modulation but only translate the stimulus-driven information. Xu and co-authors (Xu *et al.*, 2012) suggested that functional mixing of inputs from two different sources could allow for facilitative non-linear interactions within individual dendrites that may lead to the bias towards horizontal orientations. This non-linearity may clarify a preference towards the horizontal orientations. Therefore, an evident response bias towards horizontal orientation for layer 2/3 neurons was observed unlike in layer 5/6.

7.3.1 Possible mechanism of auditory modulation in primary visual cortex

The critical question of how sound mechanistically changes remain unanswered in cats. However, studies from other animal models will be discussed here to help build the possible underlying mechanism in cats. Also, the communication between functional auditory responses and their representations in the early visual cortex is unknown. Therefore, this thesis is a significant contribution in developing ideas to explore in this direction and strategizing the ideas to design protocols. Few studies in rodents offered insights into the auditory driven embedded information carried by the visual responses. Larkum and authors in 2013 (Larkum, 2013) demonstrated the dendritic gating of inputs to pyramidal neurons by feedback pathways. Collectively, the rodent data extensively lead to the fact that layer 5 neurons are involved in this sort of computation. The feedforward and feedback inputs arrive at discrete compartments of layer 5 pyramidal

neurons. The apical dendrites of layer 5 neurons receive the feedback and are critical for context-dependent gating of feedforward inputs. In somatosensory cortices, long-range feedback input to layer 1 has been found. The inputs are found near a second spike initiation zone, supporting calcium spikes, in the apical tuft of layer 5 pyramidal neurons of sensory cortices (Schiller *et al.*, 1997; Larkum & Zhu, 2002; Kuhn *et al.*, 2008) and suggest triggering top-down control on sensory processes. Contingent upon the fact that the second spike initiation zone receives coincident depolarization and a back-propagated spike from the cell soma, Ca^{2+} spikes triggering at the top of the apical dendrite, can transform a single somatic output spike into a 10 ms burst containing two to four spikes (Larkum *et al.*, 2001). This concludes that both dendritic tuft and somatic inputs are critical for the strength of feedback that can generate cell bursts. This interplay of feedforward and feedback signals integrated within individual pyramidal neurons (Larkum *et al.*, 1999) projects an idea of how the sensory cortices strategize to process the internal representations of real-world stimuli. Further, it is difficult to gain next level understanding into mechanisms about auditory modulation in the visual cortex since there are no investigations that record visual cortical neurons with visual inputs arriving at the soma and auditory-driven feedback to the tuft dendrites).

As mentioned before, presumably auditory modulation of visual cortex occurs via feedback inputs. Feedbacks could be initiating at auditory cortex to the early visual cortex onto the apical tuft dendrites in layer 1 of the early visual cortex. In mouse, such feedback-modulated circuits for perception have been observed between mouse motor and somatosensory cortices (Manita *et al.*, 2015). These projections between the two cortices also suggest that longer range connections between the auditory and visual cortices could conceivably support a similar process. This seems accurate since we also observed a stronger response in superficial layers of the cortex (layer 2/3) rather than layer 5/6 neurons. It was observed in our data that layer 2/3 neurons exhibited a response bias towards horizontal orientations after sound was presented. Of course, the reason for preference is not these feedbacks but if the response change index in compared, it is evident from the results that layer 5/6 experienced less response change than layer 2/3

neurons. Other questions concern the presence of such a mechanism in primates (especially humans). There is a definite need for advanced technologies and suitable paradigms, yet this thesis initiates new questions and unveils a new understanding in the audio-visual recognition. Most importantly, in the present study, the constant feedforward input was missing because of the absence of the visual adapter therefore how top-down signals in visual cortex function in the lack of feedforward input?

7.3.2 Circuits and mechanisms underlying cross-modal plasticity

The auditory adaptation of visual neurons; this part of the thesis was performed in the complete absence of visual input. Considering that cross-modal processing has generally been observed in the deprivation of a sensory system, our experiment set up to an extent emulate this aspect of processing. Therefore, it is essential to discuss. In our experiments, for a prolonged duration visual stimulus was cut off during the 12 min while only the sound was being presented to the visual neurons. Consequently, it is important to consider how cross-modal plasticity may be brought about shifts in the tuning curves of the neurons. Recent studies show that a primary sensory cortex can be under inhibitory (Kawashima *et al.*, 1995; Woodruff *et al.*, 1997; O'Leary *et al.*, 2002; Petkov *et al.*, 2004; Johnson & Zatorre, 2006) or excitatory cross-modal influence.

While the phenomenon of cross-modal plasticity has been known for some time, the circuit and signalling mechanisms underlying the concept remain largely unknown. The early blinds have thicker visual cortices as compared to the late blinds, suggesting reduced trimming during the critical developmental period (Jiang *et al.*, 2009). Whether this reflects intra- or intermodal connections is unclear, as they could not be differentiated. Dynamic modelling of fMRI, an indirect method of linking activity across brain regions, has supported direct auditory-visual intracortical connections (Klinge *et al.*, 2010). However, another study suggested indirect intracortical connections as the primary pathway for somatosensory-visual interactions (Fujii *et al.*, 2009). Animal studies provide support for peculiar structural connectivity after sensory deprivation. Early bilateral retinal ablation in monkeys (Rakic *et al.*, 1991) and

opossums (Kahn & Krubitzer, 2002) leads to a novel cytoarchitectonic area between primary and secondary visual cortices with a unique laminar structure and neurons that respond to auditory and somatosensory stimuli. Animals that are anophthalmic (Doron & Wollberg, 1994; Laemle *et al.*, 2006) have aberrant projections from subcortical auditory structures to the visual cortex, although this claim is sometimes disputed (Chabot *et al.*, 2008). Retinal projections rerouted to thalamic somatosensory (Frost & Metin, 1985) early in life form functional visual maps in primary somatosensory or auditory cortex.

Similarly, congenitally deaf mice have retinal projections to auditory thalamus and brainstem (Hunt *et al.*, 2005). In these studies, it is unclear if cross-modal projections are initially present and later pruned with normal visual experience or whether ectopic outgrowth occurs due to a lack of coherent visual activity. Very few anatomical studies support the prior idea. Cross-modal connections have been found between auditory and visual cortices in kittens reared in a normal light environment (Dehay *et al.*, 1988; Innocenti *et al.*, 1988). This input is pruned to low but still existent levels in adulthood (Hall & Lomber, 2008). In rats, a transient connection between auditory thalamus and primary somatosensory cortex has been reported, and which could be stabilized by whisker deprivation (Nicolelis *et al.*, 1991). Using enucleated mice as animal models, several studies have pointed out that there are direct as well as indirect pathways between visual and auditory cortices (Chabot *et al.*, 2007; Chabot *et al.*, 2008; Laramee *et al.*, 2011; Charbonneau *et al.*, 2012).

In conclusion, contrary to the traditional functional descriptions of V1 that are based only on visual processes, a part of this thesis demonstrated how auditory signals could modulate processing in V1 in healthy animals too. This part of the thesis also revealed that besides performing modality specific tasks primary visual cortex also exhibits multisensory properties when evoked indirectly. Our results are highly suggestive of cross-influence between primary visual cortex and primary auditory cortex. Our results may serve as a key contribution to strategize future experimentation in this direction.

7.4 What can we learn from the comparisons between 12 min of visual and 12 min of auditory adaptation of primary visual neurons?

Adaptation phenomena are widespread in the sensory systems and each sensory system reacts specifically to the adapting stimulus. Fundamentally, the visual cortex has been considered as a stimulus-driven structure, i.e., depending upon the input, sensory modality displays varied responses. Interestingly, recently animal and human studies have unveiled that the visual cortex responds to non-visual stimuli too. Primarily, it was commonly observed in individuals with congenitally visual deprivation indicating the supramodal nature of the functional representation in the visual cortex. However, recently this has come up as a common phenomenon during experimentation to explore multisensory properties of the cortex and cross-modal processing of the stimuli in the cortex.

It has been reported from visual adaptation studies that on imposing a non-visual stimulus or visual adapter, the tuning properties of the visual neurons could be modified for a duration of time. Considering the columnar architecture of the primary visual cortex (V1) we tested the responses of neurons in layer 5/6 in comparison to layer 2/3 neurons in response to 12 min visual adaptation. Many times, it has been suggested that columnar organization is a processing unit rather than an anatomically based structure. A recent study by (Bachatene *et al.*, 2015c) brought up a fundamental observation regarding the process of visual adaptation in the hyper column. During the adaptation process for a duration, neurons in V1 or area 17 shift the peak of their orientation tuning curve either in the direction of the adapter (attractive shift) or away from the adapter (repulsive shift). Based on the direction of the shift, the newly acquired optimal orientation process may be represented twice inside the hypercolumn. Therefore, the emergence of a novel preferred orientation creates an orientation hole since the original axis is now deleted.

Consequently, an array of questions arise that without-a-doubt insist on revaluating the processing inside the hypercolumns at the adapted and non-adapted sites. They strongly suggested that orientation selectivity is a rapidly variable feature that is adjusted by the behaviour of specific neurons surrounding the tested neurons. Most importantly they concluded their remarks by saying that orientation columns are beyond their anatomy and are functionally dynamic units. In the first part of this thesis where visual adaptation experiments were done, and neurons were recorded from adapted layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons simultaneously it was observed that neurons in a column behave similarly and produce tuning curve attractive or repulsive shifts depending upon the direction from the adapter. In the third part of the thesis where auditory stimulation experiments were performed, the shifts could not be categorized as attractive or repulsive due to the absence of visual adapter. However, a shift in the tuning curve was observed in a large proportion of neurons. This indicates that visual neurons can respond to a variety of sensory stimuli. To conclude this result showed that visual neurons process both visual and non-visual information and display multisensory properties.

In the visual adaptation study, $\sim 14\%$ of the total neurons deflected away from the adapter and showed repulsive behaviour. Further, $\sim 5\%$ of neurons refracted the visual adapter meaning neurons that did not display a significant shift in the orientation tuning following adaption. Bachatene and co-authors (Bachatene *et al.*, 2015c) demonstrated that within the dynamic interplay of neurons experiencing adaptation, neighbouring neurons might wire together to shift their responses in conjunction with each other toward the adapter whereas a minority may deflect away (repulsion) to participate in the conservation of the columnar dogma. In another opinion article (Bharmauria and Bachatene, 2016), the authors explained that neurons showing refractory behaviour set the reference for the adapted cells to undergo the adaptation and return to their original optimal orientation once the adaptation effect diminishes. It is due to this reference set by refractory neurons; other columns would systematically tilt to following the adjacent column eventually without leaving an orientation hole. Thus, repulsive neurons hold equal importance as attractive neurons in response to visual adaptation. In the sound adaptation experiment, visual neurons are continuously stimulated by an auditory adapter that does not provide any visual stimulation.

Not even 1% of the neurons were found showing refractory behaviour. Since the visual adapter was completely absent, there was no need to have a set reference to process the tilt effect and to return to original optimal selectivity once the adaptation paradigm is over. However, the surprising observation was that even though visual neurons in the sound adaptation experiment did not have any set reference, most neurons recovered back to their original optimal state. Thus, the whole concept of the domino effect as an underlying principle of visual adaptation is left unexplained. This comparison raises the question of whether visual cortex follows any fundamental guiding principles related to specific processes. Also, another important observation was made. The visual cortex neurons are perhaps extremely plastic, more than they have been yet explored. The visual cortex responds accurately to the type of inputs provided. In other words, it seems that visual cortex evokes a customized response for every input stimulus. A study in monkeys (Shtoyerman *et al.*, 2000) revealed that orientation columns are perhaps a functional structure rather than anatomical. It seems to be initially constructed by parallel segregation of input fibres originating from the retina, and then from the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN). These results may appear intriguing since orientation columns in the visual cortex functions in a myriad of ways to process external signals.

Further, the most striking observation was the bias towards horizontal orientations in the visual neurons when adapted with sound. Layer 2/3 neurons showed a clear bias towards horizontal orientation after experience with the sound. This was not observed in layer 2/3 neurons when adapted with the visual adapter. This suggests that visual cortex is implicating novel pathways to process the auditory stimuli which are different from the mechanisms employed to process visual adaptation. This suggests that layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 neurons show a unique response pattern due to functional wiring of neurons towards the processing of adapter and behave as separate units in response to an adapted stimulus.

Collectively, all the observations reflect upon the mystic nature of the cortex and highlights that individual cortical neurons hold the capacity to undergo modification and process the imposed stimulus. Undoubtedly, this discussion raises many relevant points related to cortical sensory processing that can further be explored.
CHAPTER 8: FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Although numerous studies have highlighted the multisensory nature of the cortex, there remains a need to determine the exact mechanisms underlying the multisensory aspect of the cortex and how primary areas interact in different stimulus conditions to generate a structural change that ultimately leads to behavioural change.

Through this thesis, we have tried to understand the response of individual neurons in primary visual cortex towards different sensory stimuli. Our results suggest that visual cortex can process a visual stimulus as well as an auditory stimulus that highlights the potential multisensory nature of primary visual cortex.

To gain in-depth knowledge, a similar protocol, presenting the same sound but for different time durations would be ideal for exposing the underlying mechanistic details of the sound impacting V1 neurons. Similar experiments could be repeated on rodents (salt and pepper primary visual cortex) to compare the results across species. Moreover, a non-repetitive sound could also be introduced to the protocol to observe if there is a difference in response. Certainly, external factors govern the dynamics of the cerebral cortex. The type of incoming stimuli accompanied by the strength of its stimulation is crucial for developing plasticity.

This thesis indeed evokes many potential experiments that may unveil new characteristics of visual cortex by merely changing the outside environment.

In future, application of high-resolution approaches such as intrinsic optical imaging and fMRI in conjunction with electrophysiological techniques would be necessary to elucidate various roles (unimodal and multimodal) of sensory areas in the cerebral cortex. Using laminar fMRI, the fundamental mechanisms and the neuronal pathways underlying multisensory interaction and interareal communication can be

investigated in the human brain. This is highly relevant as predictions from different animal models can not be directly applied on human brain as there may be differences across species that exist. It will be important to combine laminar fMRI with standards that combine the information of behavior e.g if supragranular layers of V1 do mediate the integration of information from other senses (e.g. A1), the modulation of fMRI activity in supragranular V1 should be exploited to develop protocols that will help to understand interareal communication.

In summary, it is now possible to move beyond a simple description of cortex in terms of individual neurons and the connections between them for richer understanding of features of the cortex specially the compartments spanning several layers. There is a considerable knowledge of properties of neurons in each layer to be understand their dendritic properties and interactions with the location of synaptic inputs. In future, using different techniques, it is essential to investigate the synaptic features of neurons in each layer in order to understand the layering of the cortex and how sensory cortex interacts with each other.

CHAPTER 9: CONCLUSIONS

Humans' being is because of the sensory involvement. Our senses gather external information with unbelievable sensitivity and specificity and regulate our behaviour accordingly. This type of processing needs tremendous precision and coordination of all sensory systems especially visual system as it dominates over other senses and much more capable of collecting outside information.

The main result of the current thesis is that V1 neurons exhibit unique behaviour to different sensory stimuli. The visual cortex might have an additional role besides the general processing of visual stimuli. Individual neurons undergo an alteration of their orientation tuning properties, by building new orientation maps when exposed to a repetitive visual or repetitive sound stimulus. The visual neurons may have demonstrated multisensory properties when stimulated indirectly through neighbouring sensory region. The results obtained in this thesis propose and highlight the potential plasticity of the sensory systems and the consequent response towards stimuli.

The results from this thesis suggest that whole sensory cortex is multisensory and positively initiates new lines of thought in the area in addition to the present literature on multisensory integration and cross-modal plasticity.

As researchers there is an opportunity for us to embrace the technological development, take the research to next level to help us anticipate that many advancements in our understanding of human brain function will be gained from studying different animal models in its fully healthy state.

CHAPTER 10: REFERENCES

Adams, D.L., Sincich, L.C. & Horton, J.C. (2007) Complete pattern of ocular dominance columns in human primary visual cortex. *J Neurosci*, **27**, 10391-10403.

Adeli, M., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2014) Audiovisual correspondence between musical timbre and visual shapes. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, **8**, 352.

Alitto, H.J. & Dan, Y. (2010) Function of inhibition in visual cortical processing. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, **20**, 340-346.

Alivisatos, A.P., Chun, M., Church, G.M., Greenspan, R.J., Roukes, M.L. & Yuste, R. (2012) The brain activity map project and the challenge of functional connectomics. *Neuron*, **74**, 970-974.

Alloway, K.D. & Roy, S.A. (2002) Conditional cross-correlation analysis of thalamocortical neurotransmission. *Behavioural brain research*, **135**, 191-196.

Alvarez V, Sabatini, B. (2007). Anatomical and Physiological Plasticity of Dendritic Spine. Annual Review of Neuroscience. 30: 79–97. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.30.051606.094222

Anjum, F., Turni, H., Mulder, P.G.H., van der Burg, J. & Brecht, M. (2006) Tactile guidance of prey capture in Etruscan shrews. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **103**, 16544-16549.

Antonini, A. & Stryker, M.P. (1993) Rapid remodeling of axonal arbors in the visual cortex. *Science*, **260**, 1819-1821.

Apicella, A.J., Wickersham, I.R., Seung, H.S. & Shepherd, G.M.G. (2012) Laminarly Orthogonal Excitation of Fast-Spiking and Low-Threshold-Spiking Interneurons in Mouse Motor Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **32**, 7021-7033.

Armstrong-James, M., Diamond, M.E. & Ebner, F.F. (1994) An innocuous bias in whisker use in adult rats modifies receptive fields of barrel cortex neurons. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, **14**, 6978-6991.

Atallah, B.V., Bruns, W., Carandini, M. & Scanziani, M. (2012) Parvalbumin-expressing interneurons linearly transform cortical responses to visual stimuli. *Neuron*, **73**, 159-170.

Atilgan, H., Town, S.M., Wood, K.C., Jones, G.P., Maddox, R.K., Lee, A.K.C. & Bizley, J.K. (2018) Integration of Visual Information in Auditory Cortex Promotes Auditory Scene Analysis through Multisensory Binding. *Neuron*, **97**, 640-655 e644.

Atwal, J.K., Pinkston-Gosse, J., Syken, J., Stawicki, S., Wu, Y., Shatz, C. & Tessier-Lavigne, M. (2008) PirB is a functional receptor for myelin inhibitors of axonal regeneration. *Science*, **322**, 967-970.

Bach-y-Rita, P. & W. Kercel, S. (2003) Sensory substitution and the human-machine interface. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7, 541-546.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Cattan, S., Chanauria, N., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2015a) Electrophysiological and firing properties of neurons: Categorizing soloists and choristers in primary visual cortex. *Neuroscience letters*, **604**, 103-108.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Cattan, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2013) Fluoxetine and serotonin facilitate attractive-adaptation-induced orientation plasticity in adult cat visual cortex. *The European journal of neuroscience*, **38**, 2065-2077.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Cattan, S., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2015b) Modulation of functional connectivity following visual adaptation: homeostasis in V1. *Brain research*, **1594**, 136-153.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Cattan, S., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2015c) Reprogramming of orientation columns in visual cortex: a domino effect. *Sci Rep*, **5**, 9436.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2012a) Adaptation and Neuronal Network in Visual Cortex.

Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2012b) Adaptation-induced plasticity and spike waveforms in cat visual cortex. *Neuroreport*, **23**, 88-92.

Bair, W., Cavanaugh, J.R. & Movshon, J.A. (2003) Time course and time-distance relationships for surround suppression in macaque V1 neurons. *J Neurosci*, **23**, 7690-7701.

Bar, M. (2004) Visual objects in context. Nat Rev Neurosci, 5, 617-629.

Bardy, C., Huang, J.Y., Wang, C., FitzGibbon, T. & Dreher, B. (2006) 'Simplification' of responses of complex cells in cat striate cortex: suppressive surrounds and 'feedback' inactivation. *The Journal of physiology*, **574**, 731-750.

Barkat, T.R., Polley, D.B. & Hensch, T.K. (2011) A critical period for auditory thalamocortical connectivity. *Nat Neurosci*, **14**, 1189-1194.

Barlow, H.B., Blakemore, C. & Pettigrew, J.D. (1967) The neural mechanism of binocular depth discrimination. *The Journal of physiology*, **193**, 327-342.

Barth, A.L. & Poulet, J.F. (2012) Experimental evidence for sparse firing in the neocortex. *Trends Neurosci*, **35**, 345-355.

Bartho, P., Hirase, H., Monconduit, L., Zugaro, M., Harris, K.D. & Buzsaki, G. (2004) Characterization of neocortical principal cells and interneurons by network interactions and extracellular features. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **92**, 600-608.

Basole, A., White, L.E. & Fitzpatrick, D. (2003) Mapping multiple features in the population response of visual cortex. *Nature*, **423**, 986-990.

Bear, M.F., Paradiso, M.A., Schwartz, M., Nelson, S.B., Carnes, K.M. & Daniels, J.D. (1983) Two methods of catecholamine depletion in kitten visual cortex yield different effects on plasticity. *Nature*, **302**, 245-247.

Beauchamp, M.S., Lee, K.E., Argall, B.D. & Martin, A. (2004) Integration of auditory and visual information about objects in superior temporal sulcus. *Neuron*, **41**, 809-823.

Ben-Yishai, R., Bar-Or, R.L. & Sompolinsky, H. (1995) Theory of orientation tuning in visual cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **92**, 3844-3848.

Benucci, A., Saleem, A.B. & Carandini, M. (2013) Adaptation maintains population homeostasis in primary visual cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **16**, 724-729.

Beverly, C.M., Walters, M.D., Weber, A.M., Piedmonte, M.R. & Ballard, L.A. (1997) Prevalence of hydronephrosis in patients undergoing surgery for pelvic organ prolapse. *Obstetrics and gynecology*, **90**, 37-41.

Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Brodeur, S., Chanauria, N., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2016) Network-selectivity and stimulus-discrimination in the primary visual cortex: cell-assembly dynamics. *Eur J Neurosci*, **43**, 204-219.

Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Chanauria, N., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2015) Stimulusdependent augmented gamma oscillatory activity between the functionally connected cortical neurons in the primary visual cortex. *Eur J Neurosci*, **41**, 1587-1596.

Binzegger, T., Douglas, R.J. & Martin, K.A. (2004) A quantitative map of the circuit of cat primary visual cortex. *J Neurosci*, **24**, 8441-8453.

Blake, R. (1979) The visual system of the cat. Perception & psychophysics, 26, 423-448.

Blakemore, C., Carpenter, R.H. & Georgeson, M.A. (1970) Lateral inhibition between orientation detectors in the human visual system. *Nature*, **228**, 37-39.

Blasdel, G.G. (1992) Differential imaging of ocular dominance and orientation selectivity in monkey striate cortex. *J Neurosci*, **12**, 3115-3138.

Blasdel, G.G. & Salama, G. (1986) Voltage-sensitive dyes reveal a modular organization in monkey striate cortex. *Nature*, **321**, 579-585.

Bonhoeffer, T. & Grinvald, A. (1991) Iso-orientation domains in cat visual cortex are arranged in pinwheellike patterns. *Nature*, **353**, 429-431.

Bonhoeffer, T. & Grinvald, A. (1993) The layout of iso-orientation domains in area 18 of cat visual cortex: optical imaging reveals a pinwheel-like organization. *J Neurosci*, **13**, 4157-4180.

Born, R.T. & Bradley, D.C. (2005) Structure and function of visual area MT. Annual review of neuroscience, 28, 157-189.

Boubenec, Y., Claverie, L.N., Shulz, D.E. & Debrégeas, G. (2014) An Amplitude Modulation/Demodulation Scheme for Whisker-Based Texture Perception. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **34**, 10832.

Bouchard, M., Gillet, P.C., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2008) Adaptation changes the spatial frequency tuning of adult cat visual cortex neurons. *Exp Brain Res*, **188**, 289-303.

Braddick, O.J., O'Brien, J.M., Wattam-Bell, J., Atkinson, J., Hartley, T. & Turner, R. (2001) Brain areas sensitive to coherent visual motion. *Perception*, **30**, 61-72.

Brady, D. (2011) Mechanisms of Cross-Modal Refinement by Visual Experience.

Brosch, M., Selezneva, E. & Scheich, H. (2005) Nonauditory events of a behavioral procedure activate auditory cortex of highly trained monkeys. *J Neurosci*, **25**, 6797-6806.

Brown, S.P. & Hestrin, S. (2009) Intracortical circuits of pyramidal neurons reflect their long-range axonal targets. *Nature*, **457**, 1133-1136.

Budinger, E., Heil, P., Hess, A. & Scheich, H. (2006) Multisensory processing via early cortical stages: Connections of the primary auditory cortical field with other sensory systems. *Neuroscience*, **143**, 1065-1083.

Butts, D.A. & Goldman, M.S. (2006) Tuning curves, neuronal variability, and sensory coding. *PLoS Biol*, **4**, e92.

Buzsaki, G. (2010) Neural syntax: cell assemblies, synapsembles, and readers. Neuron, 68, 362-385.

Cain N, Iyer R, Koch C, Mihalas S. The Computational Properties of a Simplified Cortical Column Model. PLoS Comput Biol. 2016;12(9): e1005045. pmid:27617444

Carandini, M. & Ferster, D. (1997) A tonic hyperpolarization underlying contrast adaptation in cat visual cortex. *Science*, **276**, 949-952.

Carrillo-Reid, L., Miller, J.E., Hamm, J.P., Jackson, J. & Yuste, R. (2015) Endogenous sequential cortical activity evoked by visual stimuli. *J Neurosci*, **35**, 8813-8828.

Cattan, S., Bachatene, L., Bharmauria, V., Jeyabalaratnam, J., Milleret, C. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2014) Comparative analysis of orientation maps in areas 17 and 18 of the cat primary visual cortex following adaptation. *Eur J Neurosci*, **40**, 2554-2563.

Cazala, F., Vienney, N. & Stoléru, S. (2015) The cortical sensory representation of genitalia in women and men: a systematic review. *Socioaffective Neuroscience & Psychology*, **5**, 10.3402/snp.v3405.26428.

Chabot, N., Charbonneau, V., Laramee, M.E., Tremblay, R., Boire, D. & Bronchti, G. (2008) Subcortical auditory input to the primary visual cortex in anophthalmic mice. *Neuroscience letters*, **433**, 129-134.

Chabot, N., Robert, S., Tremblay, R., Miceli, D., Boire, D. & Bronchti, G. (2007) Audition differently activates the visual system in neonatally enucleated mice compared with anophthalmic mutants. *Eur J Neurosci*, **26**, 2334-2348.

Chanauria, N., Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Rouat, J. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2016) Comparative effects of adaptation on layers II-III and V-VI neurons in cat V1. *The European journal of neuroscience*, **44**, 3094-3104.

Charbonneau, V., Laramee, M.E., Boucher, V., Bronchti, G. & Boire, D. (2012) Cortical and subcortical projections to primary visual cortex in anophthalmic, enucleated and sighted mice. *Eur J Neurosci*, **36**, 2949-2963.

Chen, X., Shu, S. & Bayliss, D.A. (2009) HCN1 channel subunits are a molecular substrate for hypnotic actions of ketamine. *J Neurosci*, **29**, 600-609.

Chollet, F., Tardy, J., Albucher, J.F., Thalamas, C., Berard, E., Lamy, C., Bejot, Y., Deltour, S., Jaillard, A., Niclot, P., Guillon, B., Moulin, T., Marque, P., Pariente, J., Arnaud, C. & Loubinoux, I. (2011) Fluoxetine for motor recovery after acute ischaemic stroke (FLAME): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *The Lancet. Neurology*, **10**, 123-130.

Clark, S.A., Allard, T., Jenkins, W.M. & Merzenich, M.M. (1988) Receptive fields in the body-surface map in adult cortex defined by temporally correlated inputs. *Nature*, **332**, 444-445.

Clavagnier, S., Falchier, A. & Kennedy, H. (2004) Long-distance feedback projections to area V1: implications for multisensory integration, spatial awareness, and visual consciousness. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci*, **4**, 117-126.

Clifford, C.W. (2002) Perceptual adaptation: motion parallels orientation. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, **6**, 136-143.

Connor, D.H., Clack, N.G., Huber, D., Komiyama, T., Myers, E.W. & Svoboda, K. (2010) Vibrissa-Based Object Localization in Head-Fixed Mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **30**, 1947.

Cruikshank, S.J., Ahmed, O.J., Stevens, T.R., Patrick, S.L., Gonzalez, A.N., Elmaleh, M. & Connors, B.W. (2012) Thalamic control of layer 1 circuits in prefrontal cortex. *J Neurosci*, **32**, 17813-17823.

Csicsvari, J., Hirase, H., Czurko, A. & Buzsaki, G. (1998) Reliability and state dependence of pyramidal cell-interneuron synapses in the hippocampus: an ensemble approach in the behaving rat. *Neuron*, **21**, 179-189.

da Costa, N. M., and Martin, K. A. (2010). Whose cortical column would that be? Front. Neuroanat. 4:16. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2010.00016

de Kock, C.P. & Sakmann, B. (2009a) Spiking in primary somatosensory cortex during natural whisking in awake head-restrained rats is cell-type specific. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, **106**, 16446-16450.

de Kock, C.P.J. & Sakmann, B. (2009b) Spiking in primary somatosensory cortex during natural whisking in awake head-restrained rats is cell-type specific. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **106**, 16446-16450.

Dehay, C., Kennedy, H. & Bullier, J. (1988) Characterization of transient cortical projections from auditory, somatosensory, and motor cortices to visual areas 17, 18, and 19 in the kitten. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **272**, 68-89.

DeNardo, L.A., Berns, D.S., DeLoach, K. & Luo, L. (2015) Connectivity of mouse somatosensory and prefrontal cortex examined with trans-synaptic tracing. *Nat Neurosci*, **18**, 1687-1697.

Deneux, T., Kempf, A. & Bathellier, B. (2018) Context-dependent signaling of coincident auditory and visual events in primary visual cortex. *bioRxiv*.

Denman, D.J. & Contreras, D. (2014) The structure of pairwise correlation in mouse primary visual cortex reveals functional organization in the absence of an orientation map. *Cereb Cortex*, **24**, 2707-2720.

DiCarlo, J.J., Zoccolan, D. & Rust, N.C. (2012) How does the brain solve visual object recognition? *Neuron*, **73**, 415-434.

Doron, N. & Wollberg, Z. (1994) Cross-modal neuroplasticity in the blind mole rat Spalax ehrenbergi: a WGA-HRP tracing study. *Neuroreport*, **5**, 2697-2701.

Doron, N.N., Ledoux, J.E. & Semple, M.N. (2002) Redefining the tonotopic core of rat auditory cortex: physiological evidence for a posterior field. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **453**, 345-360.

Douglas, R.J., Koch, C., Mahowald, M., Martin, K.A. & Suarez, H.H. (1995) Recurrent excitation in neocortical circuits. *Science*, **269**, 981-985.

Dragoi, V., Rivadulla, C. & Sur, M. (2001) Foci of orientation plasticity in visual cortex. *Nature*, **411**, 80-86.

Dragoi, V., Sharma, J. & Sur, M. (2000) Adaptation-induced plasticity of orientation tuning in adult visual cortex. *Neuron*, **28**, 287-298.

Dreher, B., Fukada, Y. & Rodieck, R.W. (1976) Identification, classification and anatomical segregation of cells with X-like and Y-like properties in the lateral geniculate nucleus of old-world primates. *The Journal of physiology*, **258**, 433-452.

Driver, J. & Noesselt, T. (2008) Multisensory interplay reveals crossmodal influences on 'sensory-specific' brain regions, neural responses, and judgments. *Neuron*, **57**, 11-23.

Dur-e-Ahmad, M., Imran, M. & Gul, A. (2011) Calcium dynamics in dendritic spines: a link to structural plasticity. *Math Biosci*, **230**, 55-66.

Ebrahimi, S. & Okabe, S. (2014) Structural dynamics of dendritic spines: molecular composition, geometry and functional regulation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1838**, 2391-2398.

Essen, D.C. & Zeki, S.M. (1978) The topographic organization of rhesus monkey prestriate cortex. *The Journal of physiology*, **277**, 193-226.

Fagiolini, M., Fritschy, J.M., Low, K., Mohler, H., Rudolph, U. & Hensch, T.K. (2004) Specific GABAA circuits for visual cortical plasticity. *Science*, **303**, 1681-1683.

Fagiolini, M. & Hensch, T.K. (2000) Inhibitory threshold for critical-period activation in primary visual cortex. *Nature*, **404**, 183-186.

Fagiolini, M., Katagiri, H., Miyamoto, H., Mori, H., Grant, S.G., Mishina, M. & Hensch, T.K. (2003) Separable features of visual cortical plasticity revealed by N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor 2A signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **100**, 2854-2859.

Fahle, M. (2004) Perceptual learning: a case for early selection. J Vis, 4, 879-890.

Feldman, D.E., Brainard, M.S. & Knudsen, E.I. (1996) Newly learned auditory responses mediated by NMDA receptors in the owl inferior colliculus. *Science*, **271**, 525-528.

Feldmeyer, D. (2012) Excitatory neuronal connectivity in the barrel cortex. Front Neuroanat, 6, 24.

Felleman, D.J. & Van Essen, D.C. (1991) Distributed hierarchical processing in the primate cerebral cortex. *Cereb Cortex*, **1**, 1-47.

Fitzpatrick, D., Itoh, K. & Diamond, I.T. (1983) The laminar organization of the lateral geniculate body and the striate cortex in the squirrel monkey (Saimiri sciureus). *J Neurosci*, **3**, 673-702.

Foxe, J.J., Morocz, I.A., Murray, M.M., Higgins, B.A., Javitt, D.C. & Schroeder, C.E. (2000) Multisensory auditory-somatosensory interactions in early cortical processing revealed by high-density electrical mapping. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res*, **10**, 77-83.

Foxe, J.J. & Schroeder, C.E. (2005) The case for feedforward multisensory convergence during early cortical processing. *Neuroreport*, **16**, 419-423.

Fregnac, Y., Pananceau, M., Rene, A., Huguet, N., Marre, O., Levy, M. & Shulz, D.E. (2010) A Re-Examination of Hebbian-Covariance Rules and Spike Timing-Dependent Plasticity in Cat Visual Cortex in vivo. *Frontiers in synaptic neuroscience*, **2**, 147.

Frenkel, M.Y., Sawtell, N.B., Diogo, A.C., Yoon, B., Neve, R.L. & Bear, M.F. (2006) Instructive effect of visual experience in mouse visual cortex. *Neuron*, **51**, 339-349.

Frick, A., Feldmeyer, D., Helmstaedter, M. & Sakmann, B. (2008) Monosynaptic connections between pairs of L5A pyramidal neurons in columns of juvenile rat somatosensory cortex. *Cereb Cortex*, **18**, 397-406.

Fries, P., Nikolic, D. & Singer, W. (2007) The gamma cycle. Trends Neurosci, 30, 309-316.

Fritz, J., Shamma, S., Elhilali, M. & Klein, D. (2003) Rapid task-related plasticity of spectrotemporal receptive fields in primary auditory cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **6**, 1216-1223.

Froemke, R.C. (2015) Plasticity of cortical excitatory-inhibitory balance. *Annual review of neuroscience*, **38**, 195-219.

Froemke, R.C. & Schreiner, C.E. (2015) Synaptic plasticity as a cortical coding scheme. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, **35**, 185-199.

Frost, D.O. & Metin, C. (1985) Induction of functional retinal projections to the somatosensory system. *Nature*, **317**, 162-164.

Frostig, R.D., Lieke, E.E., Ts'o, D.Y. & Grinvald, A. (1990) Cortical functional architecture and local coupling between neuronal activity and the microcirculation revealed by in vivo high-resolution optical imaging of intrinsic signals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **87**, 6082-6086.

Fujii, T., Tanabe, H.C., Kochiyama, T. & Sadato, N. (2009) An investigation of cross-modal plasticity of effective connectivity in the blind by dynamic causal modeling of functional MRI data. *Neurosci Res*, **65**, 175-186.

Fujisawa, S., Amarasingham, A., Harrison, M.T. & Buzsaki, G. (2008) Behavior-dependent short-term assembly dynamics in the medial prefrontal cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **11**, 823-833.

G. Thickbroom, F. Mastaglia. Plasticity in neurological disorders and challenges for non-invasive brain stimulation Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation, 6(2009), p. 4

Gentet, L.J. (2012) Functional diversity of supragranular GABAergic neurons in the barrel cortex. *Front Neural Circuits*, **6**, 52.

Ghazanfar, A.A. & Schroeder, C.E. (2006) Is neocortex essentially multisensory? *Trends Cogn Sci*, 10, 278-285.

Ghisovan, N., Nemri, A., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2008) Visual cells remember earlier applied target: plasticity of orientation selectivity. *PLoS One*, **3**, e3689.

Ghisovan, N., Nemri, A., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2009) Long adaptation reveals mostly attractive shifts of orientation tuning in cat primary visual cortex. *Neuroscience*, **164**, 1274-1283.

Gielen, S.C., Schmidt, R.A. & Van den Heuvel, P.J. (1983) On the nature of intersensory facilitation of reaction time. *Perception & psychophysics*, **34**, 161-168.

Gilbert, C.D. & Wiesel, T.N. (1979) Morphology and intracortical projections of functionally characterised neurones in the cat visual cortex. *Nature*, **280**, 120-125.

Gilbert CD, Wiesel TN.Columnar specificity of intrinsic horizontal and corticocortical connections in cat visual cortex. Journal of Neuroscience 1989

Godde, B., Leonhardt, R., Cords, S.M. & Dinse, H.R. (2002) Plasticity of orientation preference maps in the visual cortex of adult cats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **99**, 6352-6357.

Gourevitch, B. & Eggermont, J.J. (2008) Spectro-temporal sound density-dependent long-term adaptation in cat primary auditory cortex. *The European journal of neuroscience*, **27**, 3310-3321.

Hall, A.J. & Lomber, S.G. (2008) Auditory cortex projections target the peripheral field representation of primary visual cortex. *Exp Brain Res*, **190**, 413-430.

Hanover, J.L., Huang, Z.J., Tonegawa, S. & Stryker, M.P. (1999) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor overexpression induces precocious critical period in mouse visual cortex. *J Neurosci*, **19**, RC40.

Harris, K.D. & Mrsic-Flogel, T.D. (2013) Cortical connectivity and sensory coding. Nature, 503, 51-58.

Hartline, P.H., Kass, L. & Loop, M.S. (1978) Merging of modalities in the optic tectum: infrared and visual integration in rattlesnakes. *Science*, **199**, 1225-1229.

Hasegawa, S., Sakuragi, S., Tominaga-Yoshino, K. & Ogura, A. (2015) Dendritic spine dynamics leading to spine elimination after repeated inductions of LTD. *Sci Rep*, **5**, 7707.

Hellwig, B. (2000) A quantitative analysis of the local connectivity between pyramidal neurons in layers 2/3 of the rat visual cortex. *Biol Cybern*, **82**, 111-121.

Hendry, S.H. & Yoshioka, T. (1994) A neurochemically distinct third channel in the macaque dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus. *Science*, **264**, 575-577.

Henry, G.H., Bishop, P.O., Tupper, R.M. & Dreher, B. (1973) Orientation specificity and response variability of cells in the striate cortex. *Vision Res*, **13**, 1771-1779.

Hensch, T.K., Fagiolini, M., Mataga, N., Stryker, M.P., Baekkeskov, S. & Kash, S.F. (1998a) Local GABA circuit control of experience-dependent plasticity in developing visual cortex. *Science*, **282**, 1504-1508.

Hensch, T.K., Gordon, J.A., Brandon, E.P., McKnight, G.S., Idzerda, R.L. & Stryker, M.P. (1998b) Comparison of plasticity in vivo and in vitro in the developing visual cortex of normal and protein kinase A RIbeta-deficient mice. *J Neurosci*, **18**, 2108-2117.

Hensch, T.K. & Stryker, M.P. (1996) Ocular dominance plasticity under metabotropic glutamate receptor blockade. *Science*, **272**, 554-557.

Herkenham, M. (1980) Laminar organization of thalamic projections to the rat neocortex. *Science*, **207**, 532-535.

Hershenson, M. (1962) Reaction time as a measure of intersensory facilitation. *Journal of experimental psychology*, **63**, 289-293.

Heywood, C.A., Gadotti, A. & Cowey, A. (1992) Cortical area V4 and its role in the perception of color. *J Neurosci*, **12**, 4056-4065.

Hietanen, M.A., Crowder, N.A., Price, N.S. & Ibbotson, M.R. (2007) Influence of adapting speed on speed and contrast coding in the primary visual cortex of the cat. *The Journal of physiology*, **584**, 451-462.

Horton, J.C. & Hocking, D.R. (1996) An adult-like pattern of ocular dominance columns in striate cortex of newborn monkeys prior to visual experience. *J Neurosci*, **16**, 1791-1807.

Hubel, D.H. & Wiesel, T.N. (1959) Receptive fields of single neurones in the cat's striate cortex. *The Journal of physiology*, **148**, 574-591.

Hubel, D.H. & Wiesel, T.N. (1962a) Receptive fields, binocular interaction and functional architecture in the cat's visual cortex. *The Journal of physiology*, **160**, 106-154.

Hubel, D.H. & Wiesel, T.N. (1962b) Receptive fields, binocular interaction and functional architecture in the cat's visual cortex. *The Journal of Physiology*, **160**, 106-154.

Hubel, D.H. & Wiesel, T.N. (1965) Receptive Fields and Functional Architecture in Two Nonstriate Visual Areas (18 and 19) of the Cat. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **28**, 229-289.

Hubel, D.H. & Wiesel, T.N. (1968) Receptive fields and functional architecture of monkey striate cortex. *The Journal of physiology*, **195**, 215-243.

Hubel, D.H., Wiesel, T.N. & LeVay, S. (1977) Plasticity of ocular dominance columns in monkey striate cortex. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, **278**, 377-409.

Hunt, D.L., King, B., Kahn, D.M., Yamoah, E.N., Shull, G.E. & Krubitzer, L. (2005) Aberrant retinal projections in congenitally deaf mice: how are phenotypic characteristics specified in development and evolution? *Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol*, **287**, 1051-1066.

Ibrahim, L.A., Mesik, L., Ji, X.Y., Fang, Q., Li, H.F., Li, Y.T., Zingg, B., Zhang, L.I. & Tao, H.W. (2016) Cross-Modality Sharpening of Visual Cortical Processing through Layer-1-Mediated Inhibition and Disinhibition. *Neuron*, **89**, 1031-1045.

Innocenti, G.M., Berbel, P. & Clarke, S. (1988) Development of projections from auditory to visual areas in the cat. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **272**, 242-259.

Innocenti, G.M. & Price, D.J. (2005) Exuberance in the development of cortical networks. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **6**, 955-965.

Issa, N.P., Trepel, C. & Stryker, M.P. (2000) Spatial frequency maps in cat visual cortex. *J Neurosci*, **20**, 8504-8514.

Iurilli, G., Ghezzi, D., Olcese, U., Lassi, G., Nazzaro, C., Tonini, R., Tucci, V., Benfenati, F. & Medini, P. (2012) Sound-driven synaptic inhibition in primary visual cortex. *Neuron*, **73**, 814-828.

Izraeli, R., Koay, G., Lamish, M., Heicklen-Klein, A.J., Heffner, H.E., Heffner, R.S. & Wollberg, Z. (2002) Cross-modal neuroplasticity in neonatally enucleated hamsters: structure, electrophysiology and behaviour. *Eur J Neurosci*, **15**, 693-712.

Jeffries, A.M., Killian, N.J. & Pezaris, J.S. (2014) Mapping the primate lateral geniculate nucleus: a review of experiments and methods. *J Physiol Paris*, **108**, 3-10.

Jeyabalaratnam, J., Bharmauria, V., Bachatene, L., Cattan, S., Angers, A. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2013) Adaptation shifts preferred orientation of tuning curve in the mouse visual cortex. *PloS one*, **8**, e64294.

Jia, H., Rochefort, N.L., Chen, X. & Konnerth, A. (2010) Dendritic organization of sensory input to cortical neurons in vivo. *Nature*, **464**, 1307-1312.

Jiang, H., Lepore, F., Ptito, M. & Guillemot, J.P. (1994) Sensory modality distribution in the anterior ectosylvian cortex (AEC) of cats. *Exp Brain Res*, **97**, 404-414.

Jiang, J., Zhu, W., Shi, F., Liu, Y., Li, J., Qin, W., Li, K., Yu, C. & Jiang, T. (2009) Thick visual cortex in the early blind. *J Neurosci*, **29**, 2205-2211.

Jiang, W., Wallace, M.T., Jiang, H., Vaughan, J.W. & Stein, B.E. (2001) Two cortical areas mediate multisensory integration in superior colliculus neurons. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **85**, 506-522.

Jiang, X., Shen, S., Cadwell, C.R., Berens, P., Sinz, F., Ecker, A.S., Patel, S. & Tolias, A.S. (2015) Principles of connectivity among morphologically defined cell types in adult neocortex. *Science*, **350**.

Jiang, X., Wang, G., Lee, A.J., Stornetta, R.L. & Zhu, J.J. (2013) The organization of two new cortical interneuronal circuits. *Nat Neurosci*, **16**, 210-218.

Jin, D.Z., Dragoi, V., Sur, M. & Seung, H.S. (2005) Tilt aftereffect and adaptation-induced changes in orientation tuning in visual cortex. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **94**, 4038-4050.

Johnson, J.A. & Zatorre, R.J. (2006) Neural substrates for dividing and focusing attention between simultaneous auditory and visual events. *Neuroimage*, **31**, 1673-1681.

Jung, C.K. & Herms, J. (2014) Structural dynamics of dendritic spines are influenced by an environmental enrichment: an in vivo imaging study. *Cereb Cortex*, **24**, 377-384.

Kahn, D.M. & Krubitzer, L. (2002) Massive cross-modal cortical plasticity and the emergence of a new cortical area in developmentally blind mammals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*, **99**, 11429-11434.

Kandel, E.R. (2009) The biology of memory: a forty-year perspective. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, **29**, 12748-12756.

Kapadia, M.K., Westheimer, G. & Gilbert, C.D. (1999) Dynamics of spatial summation in primary visual cortex of alert monkeys. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **96**, 12073-12078.

Kapfer, C., Glickfeld, L.L., Atallah, B.V. & Scanziani, M. (2007) Supralinear increase of recurrent inhibition during sparse activity in the somatosensory cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **10**, 743-753.

Kasai, H., Fukuda, M., Watanabe, S., Hayashi-Takagi, A. & Noguchi, J. (2010) Structural dynamics of dendritic spines in memory and cognition. *Trends Neurosci*, **33**, 121-129.

Kasamatsu, T. & Pettigrew, J.D. (1976) Depletion of brain catecholamines: failure of ocular dominance shift after monocular occlusion in kittens. *Science*, **194**, 206-209.

Kaschube, M., Schnabel, M., Lowel, S., Coppola, D.M., White, L.E. & Wolf, F. (2010) Universality in the evolution of orientation columns in the visual cortex. *Science*, **330**, 1113-1116.

Kawashima, R., Roland, P.E. & O'Sullivan, B.T. (1995) Functional anatomy of reaching and visuomotor learning: a positron emission tomography study. *Cereb Cortex*, **5**, 111-122.

Kayser, C. & Logothetis, N.K. (2007) Do early sensory cortices integrate cross-modal information? *Brain Struct Funct*, **212**, 121-132.

Kayser, C., Petkov, C.I., Augath, M. & Logothetis, N.K. (2005) Integration of touch and sound in auditory cortex. *Neuron*, **48**, 373-384.

Kayser, C. & Remedios, R. (2012) Suppressive competition: how sounds may cheat sight. *Neuron*, **73**, 627-629.

Keck, T., Scheuss, V., Jacobsen, R.I., Wierenga, C.J., Eysel, U.T., Bonhoeffer, T. & Hubener, M. (2011) Loss of sensory input causes rapid structural changes of inhibitory neurons in adult mouse visual cortex. *Neuron*, **71**, 869-882.

Kell, C.A., von Kriegstein, K., Rösler, A., Kleinschmidt, A. & Laufs, H. (2005) The Sensory Cortical Representation of the Human Penis: Revisiting Somatotopy in the Male Homunculus. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **25**, 5984.

Keller, G.B., Bonhoeffer, T. & Hubener, M. (2012) Sensorimotor mismatch signals in primary visual cortex of the behaving mouse. *Neuron*, **74**, 809-815.

Kellner, Y., Fricke, S., Kramer, S., Iobbi, C., Wierenga, C.J., Schwab, M.E., Korte, M. & Zagrebelsky, M. (2016) Nogo-A controls structural plasticity at dendritic spines by rapidly modulating actin dynamics. *Hippocampus*, **26**, 816-831.

King, A.J., Hutchings, M.E., Moore, D.R. & Blakemore, C. (1988) Developmental plasticity in the visual and auditory representations in the mammalian superior colliculus. *Nature*, **332**, 73-76.

Kisvarday, Z.F., Cowey, A. & Somogyi, P. (1986) Synaptic relationships of a type of GABAimmunoreactive neuron (clutch cell), spiny stellate cells and lateral geniculate nucleus afferents in layer IVC of the monkey striate cortex. *Neuroscience*, **19**, 741-761.

Kisvárday ZF, Eysel UT.Cellular organization of reciprocal patchy networks in layer III of cat visual cortex area 17. Neuroscience 1992 462275286doi:C

Klinge, C., Eippert, F., Roder, B. & Buchel, C. (2010) Corticocortical connections mediate primary visual cortex responses to auditory stimulation in the blind. *J Neurosci*, **30**, 12798-12805.

Knudsen, E.I. (1983) Early auditory experience aligns the auditory map of space in the optic tectum of the barn owl. *Science*, **222**, 939-942.

Knudsen, E.I. (1998) Capacity for plasticity in the adult owl auditory system expanded by juvenile experience. *Science*, **279**, 1531-1533.

Knudsen, E.I. & Knudsen, P.F. (1985) Vision guides the adjustment of auditory localization in young barn owls. *Science*, **230**, 545-548.

Ko, H., Hofer, S.B., Pichler, B., Buchanan, K.A., Sjostrom, P.J. & Mrsic-Flogel, T.D. (2011) Functional specificity of local synaptic connections in neocortical networks. *Nature*, **473**, 87-91.

Koestinger, G., Martin, K.A.C. & Rusch, E.S. (2018) Translaminar circuits formed by the pyramidal cells in the superficial layers of cat visual cortex. *Brain Struct Funct*, **223**, 1811-1828.

Kohn, A. (2007) Visual adaptation: physiology, mechanisms, and functional benefits. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **97**, 3155-3164.

Kohn, A. & Movshon, J.A. (2003) Neuronal adaptation to visual motion in area MT of the macaque. *Neuron*, **39**, 681-691.

Kohn, A. & Movshon, J.A. (2004) Adaptation changes the direction tuning of macaque MT neurons. *Nat Neurosci*, **7**, 764-772.

Kokovay, E. & Temple, S. (2007) Taking neural crest stem cells to new heights. Cell, 131, 234-236.

Komlosi, G., Molnar, G., Rozsa, M., Olah, S., Barzo, P. & Tamas, G. (2012) Fluoxetine (prozac) and serotonin act on excitatory synaptic transmission to suppress single layer 2/3 pyramidal neuron-triggered cell assemblies in the human prefrontal cortex. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, **32**, 16369-16378.

Kozlov, A.S. & Gentner, T.Q. (2016) Central auditory neurons have composite receptive fields. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, **113**, 1441-1446.

Krekelberg, B., van Wezel, R.J. & Albright, T.D. (2006) Adaptation in macaque MT reduces perceived speed and improves speed discrimination. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **95**, 255-270.

Krupa, D.J., Matell, M.S., Brisben, A.J., Oliveira, L.M. & Nicolelis, M.A.L. (2001) Behavioral Properties of the Trigeminal Somatosensory System in Rats Performing Whisker-Dependent Tactile Discriminations. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **21**, 5752.

Kuhn, B., Denk, W. & Bruno, R.M. (2008) In vivo two-photon voltage-sensitive dye imaging reveals topdown control of cortical layers 1 and 2 during wakefulness. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, **105**, 7588-7593.

Kujovic, M., Zilles, K., Malikovic, A., Schleicher, A., Mohlberg, H., Rottschy, C., Eickhoff, S.B. & Amunts, K. (2013) Cytoarchitectonic mapping of the human dorsal extrastriate cortex. *Brain Struct Funct*, **218**, 157-172.

Kupers, R., Fumal, A., de Noordhout, A.M., Gjedde, A., Schoenen, J. & Ptito, M. (2006) Transcranial magnetic stimulation of the visual cortex induces somatotopically organized qualia in blind subjects. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **103**, 13256-13260.

Laemle, L.K., Strominger, N.L. & Carpenter, D.O. (2006) Cross-modal innervation of primary visual cortex by auditory fibers in congenitally anophthalmic mice. *Neuroscience letters*, **396**, 108-112.

Land, R., Engler, G., Kral, A. & Engel, A.K. (2012) Auditory evoked bursts in mouse visual cortex during isoflurane anesthesia. *PLoS One*, 7, e49855.

Laramee, M.E., Kurotani, T., Rockland, K.S., Bronchti, G. & Boire, D. (2011) Indirect pathway between the primary auditory and visual cortices through layer V pyramidal neurons in V2L in mouse and the effects of bilateral enucleation. *Eur J Neurosci*, **34**, 65-78.

Larkum, M. (2013) A cellular mechanism for cortical associations: an organizing principle for the cerebral cortex. *Trends Neurosci*, **36**, 141-151.

Larkum, M.E. & Zhu, J.J. (2002) Signaling of layer 1 and whisker-evoked Ca2+ and Na+ action potentials in distal and terminal dendrites of rat neocortical pyramidal neurons in vitro and in vivo. *J Neurosci*, **22**, 6991-7005.

Larkum, M.E., Zhu, J.J. & Sakmann, B. (1999) A new cellular mechanism for coupling inputs arriving at different cortical layers. *Nature*, **398**, 338-341.

Larkum, M.E., Zhu, J.J. & Sakmann, B. (2001) Dendritic mechanisms underlying the coupling of the dendritic with the axonal action potential initiation zone of adult rat layer 5 pyramidal neurons. *The Journal of physiology*, **533**, 447-466.

Lee, A.J., Wang, G., Jiang, X., Johnson, S.M., Hoang, E.T., Lanté, F., Stornetta, R.L., Beenhakker, M.P., Shen, Y. & Julius Zhu, J. (2015) Canonical Organization of Layer 1 Neuron-Led Cortical Inhibitory and Disinhibitory Interneuronal Circuits. *Cerebral Cortex*, **25**, 2114-2126.

Lee, L.-J. & Erzurumlu, R.S. (2005) Altered Parcellation of Neocortical Somatosensory Maps in N-methyl-D-aspartate Receptor-Deficient Mice. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **485**, 57-63.

Lefort, S., Tomm, C., Floyd Sarria, J.C. & Petersen, C.C. (2009) The excitatory neuronal network of the C2 barrel column in mouse primary somatosensory cortex. *Neuron*, **61**, 301-316.

Levinson, E. & Sekuler, R. (1976) Adaptation alters perceived direction of motion. *Vision research*, 16, 779-781.

Liang, M., Mouraux, A., Hu, L. & Iannetti, G.D. (2013) Primary sensory cortices contain distinguishable spatial patterns of activity for each sense. *Nat Commun*, **4**, 1979.

Liao, D.S., Krahe, T.E., Prusky, G.T., Medina, A.E. & Ramoa, A.S. (2004) Recovery of cortical binocularity and orientation selectivity after the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **92**, 2113-2121.

Linkenhoker, B.A., von der Ohe, C.G. & Knudsen, E.I. (2005) Anatomical traces of juvenile learning in the auditory system of adult barn owls. *Nat Neurosci*, **8**, 93-98.

Loop, M.S. & Bruce, L.L. (1978) Cat color vision: the effect of stimulus size. Science, 199, 1221-1222.

Lottem, E. & Azouz, R. (2008) Dynamic Translation of Surface Coarseness Into Whisker Vibrations. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, **100**, 2852.

Lowenstein, P.R. & Somogyi, P. (1991) Synaptic organization of cortico-cortical connections from the primary visual cortex to the posteromedial lateral suprasylvian visual area in the cat. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **310**, 253-266.

Lutcke, H., Margolis, D.J. & Helmchen, F. (2013) Steady or changing? Long-term monitoring of neuronal population activity. *Trends Neurosci*, **36**, 375-384.

Macaluso, E. & Driver, J. (2005) Multisensory spatial interactions: a window onto functional integration in the human brain. *Trends Neurosci*, **28**, 264-271.

Maffei, L., Fiorentini, A. & Bisti, S. (1973) Neural correlate of perceptual adaptation to gratings. *Science*, **182**, 1036-1038.

Maier, D.L., Mani, S., Donovan, S.L., Soppet, D., Tessarollo, L., McCasland, J.S. & Meiri, K.F. (1999) Disrupted cortical map and absence of cortical barrels in growth-associated protein (GAP)-43 knockout mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **96**, 9397-9402.

Major, G., Larkum, M.E. & Schiller, J. (2013) Active properties of neocortical pyramidal neuron dendrites. *Annual review of neuroscience*, **36**, 1-24.

Maldonado, P.E., Godecke, I., Gray, C.M. & Bonhoeffer, T. (1997) Orientation selectivity in pinwheel centers in cat striate cortex. *Science*, **276**, 1551-1555.

Manita, S., Suzuki, T., Homma, C., Matsumoto, T., Odagawa, M., Yamada, K., Ota, K., Matsubara, C., Inutsuka, A., Sato, M., Ohkura, M., Yamanaka, A., Yanagawa, Y., Nakai, J., Hayashi, Y., Larkum, M.E. & Murayama, M. (2015) A Top-Down Cortical Circuit for Accurate Sensory Perception. *Neuron*, **86**, 1304-1316.

Marshansky, S., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2011) Repetitive adaptation induces plasticity of spatial frequency tuning in cat primary visual cortex. *Neuroscience*, **172**, 355-365.

Martinez, L.M., Wang, Q., Reid, R.C., Pillai, C., Alonso, J.M., Sommer, F.T. & Hirsch, J.A. (2005) Receptive field structure varies with layer in the primary visual cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **8**, 372-379.

Mataga, N., Imamura, K. & Watanabe, Y. (1992) L-threo-3,4-dihydroxyphenylserine enhanced ocular dominance plasticity in adult cats. *Neuroscience letters*, **142**, 115-118.

Mataga, N., Mizuguchi, Y. & Hensch, T.K. (2004) Experience-dependent pruning of dendritic spines in visual cortex by tissue plasminogen activator. *Neuron*, **44**, 1031-1041.

Mataga, N., Nagai, N. & Hensch, T.K. (2002) Permissive proteolytic activity for visual cortical plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **99**, 7717-7721.

Maya Vetencourt, J.F., Sale, A., Viegi, A., Baroncelli, L., De Pasquale, R., O'Leary, O.F., Castren, E. & Maffei, L. (2008) The antidepressant fluoxetine restores plasticity in the adult visual cortex. *Science*, **320**, 385-388.

Maya Vetencourt, J.F., Tiraboschi, E., Spolidoro, M., Castren, E. & Maffei, L. (2011) Serotonin triggers a transient epigenetic mechanism that reinstates adult visual cortex plasticity in rats. *The European journal of neuroscience*, **33**, 49-57.

McCoy, P.A., Huang, H.S. & Philpot, B.D. (2009) Advances in understanding visual cortex plasticity. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, **19**, 298-304.

McGee, A.W., Yang, Y., Fischer, Q.S., Daw, N.W. & Strittmatter, S.M. (2005) Experience-driven plasticity of visual cortex limited by myelin and Nogo receptor. *Science*, **309**, 2222-2226.

Mehta, S.B., Whitmer, D., Figueroa, R., Williams, B.A. & Kleinfeld, D. (2007) Active Spatial Perception in the Vibrissa Scanning Sensorimotor System. *PLOS Biology*, **5**, e15.

Meijer, G.T., Montijn, J.S., Pennartz, C.M.A. & Lansink, C.S. (2017) Audiovisual Modulation in Mouse Primary Visual Cortex Depends on Cross-Modal Stimulus Configuration and Congruency. *J Neurosci*, **37**, 8783-8796.

Melchitzky, D.S., Gonzalez-Burgos, G., Barrionuevo, G. & Lewis, D.A. (2001) Synaptic targets of the intrinsic axon collaterals of supragranular pyramidal neurons in monkey prefrontal cortex. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **430**, 209-221.

Meredith, M.A. & Stein, B.E. (1983) Interactions among converging sensory inputs in the superior colliculus. *Science*, **221**, 389-391.

Merzenich, M.M., Nelson, R.J., Stryker, M.P., Cynader, M.S., Schoppmann, A. & Zook, J.M. (1984) Somatosensory cortical map changes following digit amputation in adult monkeys. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **224**, 591-605. Miller, J.E., Ayzenshtat, I., Carrillo-Reid, L. & Yuste, R. (2014) Visual stimuli recruit intrinsically generated cortical ensembles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **111**, E4053-4061.

Moore, B.D.t., Alitto, H.J. & Usrey, W.M. (2005) Orientation tuning, but not direction selectivity, is invariant to temporal frequency in primary visual cortex. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **94**, 1336-1345.

Moran, J. & Desimone, R. (1985) Selective attention gates visual processing in the extrastriate cortex. *Science*, **229**, 782-784.

Morishita, H., Miwa, J.M., Heintz, N. & Hensch, T.K. (2010) Lynx1, a cholinergic brake, limits plasticity in adult visual cortex. *Science*, **330**, 1238-1240.

Morrone, M.C., Burr, D.C. & Maffei, L. (1982) Functional implications of cross-orientation inhibition of cortical visual cells. I. Neurophysiological evidence. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, **216**, 335-354.

Mountcastle, V.B. (1978) Brain mechanisms for directed attention. J R Soc Med, 71, 14-28.

Mountcastle, V.B. (1997) The columnar organization of the neocortex. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, **120** (Pt 4), 701-722.

Movshon, J.A. (1975) The velocity tuning of single units in cat striate cortex. *The Journal of physiology*, **249**, 445-468.

Movshon, J.A. & Lennie, P. (1979) Pattern-selective adaptation in visual cortical neurones. *Nature*, **278**, 850-852.

Muckli, L., De Martino, F., Vizioli, L., Petro, L.S., Smith, F.W., Ugurbil, K., Goebel, R. & Yacoub, E. (2015) Contextual Feedback to Superficial Layers of V1. *Curr Biol*, **25**, 2690-2695.

Muckli, L., Kohler, A., Kriegeskorte, N. & Singer, W. (2005) Primary visual cortex activity along the apparent-motion trace reflects illusory perception. *PLoS Biol*, **3**, e265.

Muckli, L. & Petro, L.S. (2013) Network interactions: non-geniculate input to V1. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, **23**, 195-201.

Muller, J.R., Metha, A.B., Krauskopf, J. & Lennie, P. (1999) Rapid adaptation in visual cortex to the structure of images. *Science*, **285**, 1405-1408.

Nemri, A., Ghisovan, N., Shumikhina, S. & Molotchnikoff, S. (2009) Adaptive behavior of neighboring neurons during adaptation-induced plasticity of orientation tuning in VI. *BMC neuroscience*, **10**, 147.

Nicolelis, M.A., Chapin, J.K. & Lin, R.C. (1991) Neonatal whisker removal in rats stabilizes a transient projection from the auditory thalamus to the primary somatosensory cortex. *Brain research*, **567**, 133-139.

Niell, C.M. & Stryker, M.P. (2008) Highly selective receptive fields in mouse visual cortex. *J Neurosci*, **28**, 7520-7536.

Nowak, L.G., Azouz, R., Sanchez-Vives, M.V., Gray, C.M. & McCormick, D.A. (2003) Electrophysiological classes of cat primary visual cortical neurons in vivo as revealed by quantitative analyses. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **89**, 1541-1566.

O'Leary, D.S., Block, R.I., Koeppel, J.A., Flaum, M., Schultz, S.K., Andreasen, N.C., Ponto, L.B., Watkins, G.L., Hurtig, R.R. & Hichwa, R.D. (2002) Effects of smoking marijuana on brain perfusion and cognition. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **26**, 802-816.

Ohki, K., Chung, S., Ch'ng, Y.H., Kara, P. & Reid, R.C. (2005) Functional imaging with cellular resolution reveals precise micro-architecture in visual cortex. *Nature*, **433**, 597-603.

Oliva, A. & Torralba, A. (2007) The role of context in object recognition. Trends Cogn Sci, 11, 520-527.

Oray, S., Majewska, A. & Sur, M. (2004) Dendritic spine dynamics are regulated by monocular deprivation and extracellular matrix degradation. *Neuron*, **44**, 1021-1030.

Otsuka, T. & Kawaguchi, Y. (2009) Cortical Inhibitory Cell Types Differentially Form Intralaminar and Interlaminar Subnetworks withExcitatory Neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **29**, 10533-10540.

Pacchiarini, N., Fox, K. & Honey, R.C. (2017) Perceptual learning with tactile stimuli in rodents: Shaping the somatosensory system. *Learning & Behavior*, **45**, 107-114.

Patterson, C.A., Wissig, S.C. & Kohn, A. (2013) Distinct effects of brief and prolonged adaptation on orientation tuning in primary visual cortex. *J Neurosci*, **33**, 532-543.

Penfield, W. & Boldrey, E. (1937) SOMATIC MOTOR AND SENSORY REPRESENTATION IN THE CEREBRAL CORTEX OF MAN AS STUDIED BY ELECTRICAL STIMULATION1. *Brain*, **60**, 389-443.

Petkov, C.I., Kang, X., Alho, K., Bertrand, O., Yund, E.W. & Woods, D.L. (2004) Attentional modulation of human auditory cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **7**, 658-663.

Piche, M., Chabot, N., Bronchti, G., Miceli, D., Lepore, F. & Guillemot, J.P. (2007) Auditory responses in the visual cortex of neonatally enucleated rats. *Neuroscience*, **145**, 1144-1156.

Pluta, S., Naka, A., Veit, J., Telian, G., Yao, L., Hakim, R., Taylor, D. & Adesnik, H. (2015) A direct translaminar inhibitory circuit tunes cortical output. *Nat Neurosci*, **18**, 1631-1640.

Polley, D.B., Rickert, J.L. & Frostig, R.D. (2005) Whisker-based discrimination of object orientation determined with a rapid training paradigm. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, **83**, 134-142.

Poort, J., Khan, A.G., Pachitariu, M., Nemri, A., Orsolic, I., Krupic, J., Bauza, M., Sahani, M., Keller, G.B., Mrsic-Flogel, T.D. & Hofer, S.B. (2015) Learning Enhances Sensory and Multiple Non-sensory Representations in Primary Visual Cortex. *Neuron*, **86**, 1478-1490.

Popovitchenko, T. & Rasin, M.R. (2017) Transcriptional and Post-Transcriptional Mechanisms of the Development of Neocortical Lamination. *Front Neuroanat*, **11**, 102.

Priebe, N.J. (2016) Mechanisms of Orientation Selectivity in the Primary Visual Cortex. *Annu Rev Vis Sci*, **2**, 85-107.

Priebe, N.J., Lampl, I. & Ferster, D. (2010) Mechanisms of direction selectivity in cat primary visual cortex as revealed by visual adaptation. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **104**, 2615-2623.

Prusky, G.T., West, P.W. & Douglas, R.M. (2000) Experience-dependent plasticity of visual acuity in rats. *Eur J Neurosci*, **12**, 3781-3786.

Ptito, M., Giguere, J.F., Boire, D., Frost, D.O. & Casanova, C. (2001) When the auditory cortex turns visual. *Prog Brain Res*, **134**, 447-458.

Ptito, M., Moesgaard, S.M., Gjedde, A. & Kupers, R. (2005) Cross-modal plasticity revealed by electrotactile stimulation of the tongue in the congenitally blind. *Brain*, **128**, 606-614.

Rakic, P., Suner, I. & Williams, R.W. (1991) A novel cytoarchitectonic area induced experimentally within the primate visual cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **88**, 2083-2087.

Ramoa, A.S., Mower, A.F., Liao, D. & Jafri, S.I. (2001) Suppression of cortical NMDA receptor function prevents development of orientation selectivity in the primary visual cortex. *J Neurosci*, **21**, 4299-4309.

Ramón y Cajal, S. (1923) Recuerdos de mi vida. Impr. de J. Pueyo, Madrid,.

Renger, J.J., Hartman, K.N., Tsuchimoto, Y., Yokoi, M., Nakanishi, S. & Hensch, T.K. (2002) Experiencedependent plasticity without long-term depression by type 2 metabotropic glutamate receptors in developing visual cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **99**, 1041-1046.

Rey, H.G., Pedreira, C. & Quian Quiroga, R. (2015) Past, present and future of spike sorting techniques. *Brain Res Bull*, **119**, 106-117.

Ringach, D.L., Shapley, R.M. & Hawken, M.J. (2002) Orientation selectivity in macaque V1: diversity and laminar dependence. *J Neurosci*, **22**, 5639-5651.

Roe, A.W., Pallas, S.L., Hahm, J.O. & Sur, M. (1990) A map of visual space induced in primary auditory cortex. *Science*, **250**, 818-820.

Roeser, T. & Baier, H. (2003) Visuomotor behaviors in larval zebrafish after GFP-guided laser ablation of the optic tectum. *J Neurosci*, **23**, 3726-3734.

Rubio-Garrido, P., Perez-de-Manzo, F., Porrero, C., Galazo, M.J. & Clasca, F. (2009) Thalamic input to distal apical dendrites in neocortical layer 1 is massive and highly convergent. *Cereb Cortex*, **19**, 2380-2395.

Salin, P.A., Kennedy, H. & Bullier, J. (1995) Spatial reciprocity of connections between areas 17 and 18 in the cat. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, **73**, 1339-1347.

Sanchez-Panchuelo, R.M., Francis, S., Bowtell, R. & Schluppeck, D. (2010) Mapping Human Somatosensory Cortex in Individual Subjects With 7T Functional MRI. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, **103**, 2544-2556.

Sanchez-Vives, M.V. & McCormick, D.A. (2000) Cellular and network mechanisms of rhythmic recurrent activity in neocortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **3**, 1027-1034.

Sanchez-Vives, M.V., Nowak, L.G. & McCormick, D.A. (2000a) Cellular mechanisms of long-lasting adaptation in visual cortical neurons in vitro. *J Neurosci*, **20**, 4286-4299.

Sanchez-Vives, M.V., Nowak, L.G. & McCormick, D.A. (2000b) Membrane mechanisms underlying contrast adaptation in cat area 17 in vivo. *J Neurosci*, **20**, 4267-4285.

Saul, A.B. & Cynader, M.S. (1989) Adaptation in single units in visual cortex: the tuning of aftereffects in the temporal domain. *Visual neuroscience*, **2**, 609-620.

Schiller, J., Schiller, Y., Stuart, G. & Sakmann, B. (1997) Calcium action potentials restricted to distal apical dendrites of rat neocortical pyramidal neurons. *The Journal of physiology*, **505** (**Pt 3**), 605-616.

Schlack, A. & Albright, T.D. (2007) Remembering visual motion: neural correlates of associative plasticity and motion recall in cortical area MT. *Neuron*, **53**, 881-890.

Schroeder, C.E. & Foxe, J.J. (2002) The timing and laminar profile of converging inputs to multisensory areas of the macaque neocortex. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res*, **14**, 187-198.

Schroeder, C.E., Smiley, J., Fu, K.G., McGinnis, T., O'Connell, M.N. & Hackett, T.A. (2003) Anatomical mechanisms and functional implications of multisensory convergence in early cortical processing. *Int J Psychophysiol*, **50**, 5-17.

Schummers, J., Marino, J. & Sur, M. (2004) Local networks in visual cortex and their influence on neuronal responses and dynamics. *J Physiol Paris*, **98**, 429-441.

Schwab, M.E. (2010) Functions of Nogo proteins and their receptors in the nervous system. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **11**, 799-811.

Schwindel, C.D., Ali, K., McNaughton, B.L. & Tatsuno, M. (2014) Long-term recordings improve the detection of weak excitatory-excitatory connections in rat prefrontal cortex. *J Neurosci*, **34**, 5454-5467.

Sengpiel, F., Stawinski, P. & Bonhoeffer, T. (1999) Influence of experience on orientation maps in cat visual cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, **2**, 727-732.

Sharma, J., Angelucci, A. & Sur, M. (2000) Induction of visual orientation modules in auditory cortex. *Nature*, **404**, 841-847.

Shatz, C.J. & Stryker, M.P. (1978) Ocular dominance in layer IV of the cat's visual cortex and the effects of monocular deprivation. *The Journal of physiology*, **281**, 267-283.

Sherrington, C.S. (1906) Observations on the scratch-reflex in the spinal dog. *The Journal of physiology*, **34**, 1-50.

Sholl, D.A. (1956) The measurable parameters of the cerebral cortex and their significance in its organization. *Prog Neurobiol*, 324-333.

Shtoyerman, E., Arieli, A., Slovin, H., Vanzetta, I. & Grinvald, A. (2000) Long-term optical imaging and spectroscopy reveal mechanisms underlying the intrinsic signal and stability of cortical maps in V1 of behaving monkeys. *J Neurosci*, **20**, 8111-8121.

Shuler, M.G. & Bear, M.F. (2006) Reward timing in the primary visual cortex. Science, 311, 1606-1609.

Singer, W. (2013) Cortical dynamics revisited. Trends Cogn Sci, 17, 616-626.

Somers, D.C., Nelson, S.B. & Sur, M. (1995) An emergent model of orientation selectivity in cat visual cortical simple cells. *J Neurosci*, **15**, 5448-5465.

Sprague, J.M. (1972) The superior colliculus and pretectum in visual behavior. *Invest Ophthalmol*, **11**, 473-482.

Stein, B.E., Clamann, H.P. & Goldberg, S.J. (1980) Superior colliculus: control of eye movements in neonatal kittens. *Science*, **210**, 78-80.

Stepanyants, A., Hirsch, J.A., Martinez, L.M., Kisvarday, Z.F., Ferecsko, A.S. & Chklovskii, D.B. (2008) Local potential connectivity in cat primary visual cortex. *Cereb Cortex*, **18**, 13-28.

Stevenson, R.A., Wallace, M.T. & Altieri, N. (2014) The interaction between stimulus factors and cognitive factors during multisensory integration of audiovisual speech. *Front Psychol*, **5**, 352.

Stratford, K.J., Tarczy-Hornoch, K., Martin, K.A., Bannister, N.J. & Jack, J.J. (1996) Excitatory synaptic inputs to spiny stellate cells in cat visual cortex. *Nature*, **382**, 258-261.

Sur, M. & Rubenstein, J.L. (2005) Patterning and plasticity of the cerebral cortex. Science, 310, 805-810.

Sur, M., Schummers, J. & Dragoi, V. (2002) Cortical plasticity: time for a change. *Current biology : CB*, **12**, R168-170.

Swindale, N.V. (1997) Visual cortex: a cat's-eye view of the visual system. Curr Biol, 7, R387-389.

Swindale, N.V. (1998a) Cortical organization: modules, polymaps and mosaics. Curr Biol, 8, R270-273.

Swindale, N.V. (1998b) Orientation tuning curves: empirical description and estimation of parameters. *Biol Cybern*, **78**, 45-56.

Syken, J., Grandpre, T., Kanold, P.O. & Shatz, C.J. (2006) PirB restricts ocular-dominance plasticity in visual cortex. *Science*, **313**, 1795-1800.

Symonds, L.L. & Rosenquist, A.C. (1984) Corticocortical connections among visual areas in the cat. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **229**, 1-38.

Tanaka, S., Tani, T., Ribot, J., O'Hashi, K. & Imamura, K. (2009) A postnatal critical period for orientation plasticity in the cat visual cortex. *PLoS One*, **4**, e5380.

Ten Oever, S., van Atteveldt, N. & Sack, A.T. (2015) Increased Stimulus Expectancy Triggers Lowfrequency Phase Reset during Restricted Vigilance. *J Cogn Neurosci*, **27**, 1811-1822.

Thomson, A.M. & Bannister, A.P. (2003) Interlaminar Connections in the Neocortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, **13**, 5-14.

Thomson, A.M., Bannister, A.P., Mercer, A. & Morris, O.T. (2002) Target and temporal pattern selection at neocortical synapses. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, **357**, 1781-1791.

Tolias, A.S., Sultan, F., Augath, M., Oeltermann, A., Tehovnik, E.J., Schiller, P.H. & Logothetis, N.K. (2005) Mapping cortical activity elicited with electrical microstimulation using FMRI in the macaque. *Neuron*, **48**, 901-911.

Tootell, R.B., Hadjikhani, N.K., Vanduffel, W., Liu, A.K., Mendola, J.D., Sereno, M.I. & Dale, A.M. (1998) Functional analysis of primary visual cortex (V1) in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **95**, 811-817.

Trachtenberg JT. Competition, inhibition, and critical periods of cortical plasticity. Curr Opin Neurobiol 35: 44 – 48, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2015.06.006.

Tremblay, R., Lee, S. & Rudy, B. (2016) GABAergic Interneurons in the Neocortex: From Cellular Properties to Circuits. *Neuron*, **91**, 260-292.

Tusa, R.J., Palmer, L.A. & Rosenquist, A.C. (1978) The retinotopic organization of area 17 (striate cortex) in the cat. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, **177**, 213-235.

Tusa, R.J., Rosenquist, A.C. & Palmer, L.A. (1979) Retinotopic organization of areas 18 and 19 in the cat. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, **185**, 657-678.

Tyler, C.J., Dunlop, S.A., Lund, R.D., Harman, A.M., Dann, J.F., Beazley, L.D. & Lund, J.S. (1998) Anatomical comparison of the macaque and marsupial visual cortex: common features that may reflect retention of essential cortical elements. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **400**, 449-468.

van Atteveldt, N., Murray, M.M., Thut, G. & Schroeder, C.E. (2014) Multisensory integration: flexible use of general operations. *Neuron*, **81**, 1240-1253.

Van Hooser, S.D. (2007) Similarity and diversity in visual cortex: is there a unifying theory of cortical computation? *Neuroscientist*, **13**, 639-656.

Vetter, P., Smith, F.W. & Muckli, L. (2014) Decoding sound and imagery content in early visual cortex. *Current biology : CB*, **24**, 1256-1262.

Vinck, M., Womelsdorf, T., Buffalo, E.A., Desimone, R. & Fries, P. (2013) Attentional modulation of cellclass-specific gamma-band synchronization in awake monkey area v4. *Neuron*, **80**, 1077-1089.

Vogels, R. (1999) Categorization of complex visual images by rhesus monkeys. Part 2: single-cell study. *Eur J Neurosci*, **11**, 1239-1255.

Wallace, M.T., Meredith, M.A. & Stein, B.E. (1992) Integration of multiple sensory modalities in cat cortex. *Exp Brain Res*, **91**, 484-488.

Wallace, M.T., Meredith, M.A. & Stein, B.E. (1993) Converging influences from visual, auditory, and somatosensory cortices onto output neurons of the superior colliculus. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **69**, 1797-1809.

Wallace, M.T., Perrault, T.J., Jr., Hairston, W.D. & Stein, B.E. (2004) Visual experience is necessary for the development of multisensory integration. *J Neurosci*, **24**, 9580-9584.

Wallace, M.T. & Stein, B.E. (1994) Cross-modal synthesis in the midbrain depends on input from cortex. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **71**, 429-432.

Wallace, M.T. & Stein, B.E. (1997) Development of multisensory neurons and multisensory integration in cat superior colliculus. *J Neurosci*, **17**, 2429-2444.

Wang, C., Liu, J.L., Sang, H.F., Lu, Y., Dong, H.L. & Xiong, L.Z. (2008) Therapeutic time window of flurbiprofen axetil's neuroprotective effect in a rat model of transient focal cerebral ischemia. *Chinese medical journal*, **121**, 2572-2577.

Watroba, L., Buser, P. & Milleret, C. (2001) Impairment of binocular vision in the adult cat induces plastic changes in the callosal cortical map. *The European journal of neuroscience*, **14**, 1021-1029.

Welker, C. & Woolsey, T.A. (1974) Structure of layer IV in the somatosensory neocortex of the rat: Description and comparison with the mouse. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, **158**, 437-453.

Wertz, A., Trenholm, S., Yonehara, K., Hillier, D., Raics, Z., Leinweber, M., Szalay, G., Ghanem, A., Keller, G., Rozsa, B., Conzelmann, K.K. & Roska, B. (2015) PRESYNAPTIC NETWORKS. Single-cell-initiated monosynaptic tracing reveals layer-specific cortical network modules. *Science*, **349**, 70-74.

Wiesel, T.N., and Hubel, D.H. (1963). Single-Cell Responses in Striate Cortex of Kittens Deprived of Vision in One Eye. J. Neurophysiol. 26, 1003–1017.

Woodruff, P.W., Wright, I.C., Bullmore, E.T., Brammer, M., Howard, R.J., Williams, S.C., Shapleske, J., Rossell, S., David, A.S., McGuire, P.K. & Murray, R.M. (1997) Auditory hallucinations and the temporal cortical response to speech in schizophrenia: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Am J Psychiatry*, **154**, 1676-1682.

Woolsey, T.A. & Van der Loos, H. (1970) The structural organization of layer IV in the somatosensory region (S I) of mouse cerebral cortex: The description of a cortical field composed of discrete cytoarchitectonic units. *Brain Research*, **17**, 205-242.

Wu, H.-P.P., Ioffe, J.C., Iverson, M.M., Boon, J.M. & Dyck, R.H. (2013) Novel, whisker-dependent texture discrimination task for mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, **237**, 238-242.

Xu, N.L., Harnett, M.T., Williams, S.R., Huber, D., O'Connor, D.H., Svoboda, K. & Magee, J.C. (2012) Nonlinear dendritic integration of sensory and motor input during an active sensing task. *Nature*, **492**, 247-251.

Yang, J. & Lisberger, S.G. (2009) Relationship between adapted neural population responses in MT and motion adaptation in speed and direction of smooth-pursuit eye movements. *Journal of neurophysiology*, **101**, 2693-2707.

Yoshimura, Y., Dantzker, J.L. & Callaway, E.M. (2005) Excitatory cortical neurons form fine-scale functional networks. *Nature*, **433**, 868-873.

Yoshimura, Y., Sato, H., Imamura, K. & Watanabe, Y. (2000) Properties of horizontal and vertical inputs to pyramidal cells in the superficial layers of the cat visual cortex. *J Neurosci*, **20**, 1931-1940.

Zheng, W. & Knudsen, E.I. (1999) Functional selection of adaptive auditory space map by GABAAmediated inhibition. *Science*, **284**, 962-965.

CHAPTER 11: AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Curriculum Vitae - Nayan Chanauria

Neurophysiology of Visual System (LAB F-180),

Department of Biological Sciences,

University of Montreal, C.P. 6128 Succursale Centre-ville,

Montreal H3C 3J7

Ph: 514-343-6111 Ext. 1238

EDUCATION:

 Ph.D. in Neurophysiology of Visual System, Department of Biological Sciences, University of Montreal, Canada (2014-2018)

Project Title: Comparative effects of adaptation on supra and infragranular layers with visual and acoustic stimulation in cat's visual cortex.

- M.Sc. Bioinformatics, Panjab University, Chandigarh, India (2008-2010)
 Project Title: Docking analysis of PI3K inhibitors to check their target specificity.
- o B.Sc. (Honors) Biotechnology, Himachal Pradesh University, Shimla, India (2005-2008)

PROFESSIONAL WORK EXPERIENCE:

- Jan Apr (2014 2018): Demonstrator, Dept of Biological Sciences
 - Principes de Physiologie animale
 - Respiration, circulation et excrétion
- Sept Dec (2014 2018): Demonstrator, Dept of Biological Sciences
 - Physiologie animale comparée 1

- Physiologie animale comparée 2
- o Sept 2016 Dec 2016: Chief Demonstrator, Department of Biological Sciences
 - Physiologie animale comparée 1
- o Jan 2012 Feb 2014: Lecturer, Department of Bioinformatics, Goswami Ganesh Dutta Dharam College
- Oct 2010 Sep 2011: Research Assistant, Discovery Informatics Division, Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine

STUDENT SUPERVISION IN THE LAB:

- **4** (Supervisor: Dr. Stéphane Molotchnikoff)
- o Jan 2015 Aug 2018: Afef Ouelhazi (Effect of Ketamine on visual cortical plasticity)
- May 2017 Aug 2018: Rudy Lussiez (Effect of visual adaptation on orientation selectivity in cat secondary visual cortex (V2)
- May Aug 2018: Assia Tsyvian-Dzyabko (Stability of tuning curves in mouse primary visual cortex (V1)
- **4** (Supervisor: Dr. Amit Nargotra)
- o Oct 2010 Sep 2011: Omika Thakur, Charul Upadhyay (Docking analysis of cancer targets)

VOLUNTEER WORK:

- Jul 2004 Apr 2008: Contributed as a member of an NGO Helping Hands, Shoolini Institute of Life
 Sciences and Business Management, India. Conducted seminars to highlight the goals of the NGO
- May 2006: Received certificate of appreciation from Special Olympics Bharat for contributing to Special Olympics at Provincial Level, India.

SCHOLARSHIPS & PRIZES:

- Bourses de fin d'études doctorales, FESP, Université de Montréal. Jan 2018 Oct 2018.
 COMPETITIVE (9000\$)
- o Bourses de la réussite étudiante, FESP, Université de Montréal. 2017-2018. COMPETITIVE (3800\$)
- Best Poster Presentation Prize, CERNEC Meeting, 2016. COMPETITIVE. Certificate and reward prize (250\$)
- CERNEC Scholarship, 2015-2016. COMPETITIVE. (10,000 \$)
- Bourse d'exemption des droits de scolarité supplémentaires, Université de Montréal. 2014. FEE-WAIVER SCHOLARSHIP (30,000\$)
- o Bourse de la réussite étudiante 2017-2018. COMPETITIVE. (4,000 \$)

RESEARCH CONTRIBUTIONS:

PATENT:

 Vishwakarma R, Sawant S, Singh D, Pal P, Hamid AD, Sharma PR, Saxena AK, Nargotra A, Kolluru A, Kumar A, Mudududdla Ra, Khurshid QA, Hussain A, Chanauria N (2013). Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of isoform selective analogs of liphagane scaffold as anticancer agents: PI3Kα/β. WO 2013/140417 A, PCT.

ARTICLES PUBLISHED:

 Molotchnikoff S, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Chanauria N, JF Maya-Vetencourt (2019). The function of connectomes in encoding sensory stimuli. *Prog Neurobiol*, doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2019.101659.
 Individual contributions: SM wrote the manuscript. SM conceptualized the figures. VB, LB, NC, and JF participated in writing the manuscript and generation of figures.
Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S (2018). Sound repetition induces change in orientation preference of neurons in cat V1: Audio-visual cross-influence. *Neuroscience*, 404:48-61, doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.01.039.

Individual contributions: SM, NC, and VB designed the experiments. NC, VB, LB and SC participated in the experiments. NC wrote the paper and analyzed the data. JR greatly assisted with the optimization of the auditory stimulus, SM and JR contributed with comments that significantly improved the manuscript.

- Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Armel Sosso FA, Molotchnikoff S (2016). Le cortex visuel: entre changement et équilibre. *Médicine Science*, RWCW 29/09 2016.
 Individual contributions: LB proposed the idea of submitting this article to the French journal and wrote the article. SM, VB, SC, NC and FAE contributed to data analyses and writing of the papers that led to this article.
- Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Armel Sosso FA, Molotchnikoff S (2016). Functional synchrony and stimulus selectivity: Comparison between cats and mice. *Neurosci. Letters* 337: 331–338, doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.09.030.

Individual contributions: LB performed the experiments and analyzed the data including the statistical analyses. VB, SC and NC contributed to data analyses and writing of the paper. SM conceived the study and contributed to data analyses. LB and SM wrote the manuscript. JR contributed to data analyses.

 Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S (2016). Comparative effects of adaptation on layer II-III and layer V-VI neurons in cat V1. *Eur J Neurosci*, doi: 10.1111/ejn.13439. Individual contributions: SM designed the experiments. NC, VB, LB and SC participated in the experiments. NC analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. SM and JR contributed to reviewing the discussion part of the manuscript.

- 6. Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Ouelhazi A, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Etindele-Sosso FA, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S (2016). Interplay of orientation selectivity and the power of low- and high-gamma bands in the cat primary visual cortex. *Neurosci. Letters* 4; 620:14-9. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.03.033. Individual contributions: VB did the experiments, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. LB prepared the figures. LB, JR, AO, SC, NC, FAE participated in experiments and analyses of data. VB conceived the idea of study. SM contributed to the manuscript writing.
- Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Brodeur, Chanauria N, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S (2016). High noise correlation between functionally connected neurons in V1. *Exp. Brain Research* 234(2):523-32. doi: 10.1007/s00221-015-4482-7.

Individual contributions: VB did the experiments, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. LB, SC and NC participated in the experiments and analyses of data. JR contributed to the analyses of data. VB and SM conceived the idea of study. SM contributed to data analyses and manuscript writing.

 Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Brodeur, Chanauria N, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S (2016). Network selectivity and stimulus-discrimination in the primary visual cortex: cell assembly dynamics. *Eur J Neuroscience* 43(2):204-19. doi: 10.1111/ejn.13101.

Individual contributions: VB and SM conceived the idea of the study and contributed to data analyses and manuscript writing. VB did the experiments, analysed the data and wrote the manuscript. LB, SC and NC participated in experiments and analyses of the data. SB and JR contributed to analyses of the data. Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S (2015). Summation of connectivity strengths in the visual cortex reveals stability of neuronal microcircuits after plasticity. *BMC Neurosci* 9; 16:64. doi: 10.1186/s12868-015-0203-1.

Individual contributions: LB performed the experiments and analyzed the data including the statistical analyses. VB, SC and NC contributed to data analyses and writing of the paper. SM conceived the study and contributed to data analyses. LB and SM wrote the manuscript. JR contributed to data analyses.

 Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S (2015). Electrophysiological and firing properties of neurons: categorizing soloists and choristers in primary visual cortex. *Neurosci. Letters* doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.07.049.

Individual contributions: LB performed the experiments and analyzed the data. VB, SC and NC contributed to data analyses and writing of the paper. SM conceived the study and contributed to data analyses. LB and SM wrote the manuscript. JR contributed to data analyses.

- 11. Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S (2015). Stimulus-dependent augmented gamma oscillatory activity between the functionally connected cortical neurons in the primary visual cortex. *Eur J Neurosci* 41: 1587-1596 doi: 10.1111/ejn.12912.
 Individual contributions: VB did the experiments, analysed the data and wrote the manuscript. LB, SC and NC participated in experiments and analyses of the data. S.B. and J.R. contributed to analyses of the data. VB and SM conceived the idea of the study and contributed to data analyses and manuscript writing.
- Sharma D, Rah AB, Lambu RM, Hussain A, Yousuf SK, Tripathi AK, Singh B, Jamwal G, Ahmed G, Chanauria N, Nargotra A, Goswami A, Mukherjee D (2012). Design and synthesis of novel N, N'glycoside derivatives of 3, 3'-diindolylmethanes as potential antiproliferative agents. *Med Chem Comm.* 3:1082-91 doi: 10.1039/C2MD20098H. (Carried out the testing of compounds using bioinformatics software)

CHAPTER PUBLISHED:

 Chanauria N, Lussiez R, Ouelhazi A, Molotchnikoff S. Are sensory neurons in cortex committed to original trigger features? *InTechOpen*, Sensory Nervous System, 978-953-51-5595-9.
 Individual contributions: NC wrote the chapter and generated the figures. RL, OA and SM contributed to developing the chapter and generation of figures.

PEER-REVIEWED ARTICLES:

- 1. eN-NWR-0304-16. Reviewed for eNeuro
- 2. CerCor-2017-00123. Reviewed for Cerebral Cortex

ORAL PRESENTATIONS:

- Chanauria N, Etindele-Sosso FA, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Auditory signal modulation in V1: Emergence of novel orientation selectivity. La 25^{ième} Journée Scientifique, Centre de recherche en neuropsychologie et cognition, March 2017).
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Etindele-Sosso FA, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Functional synchrony between the supra and infragranular neurons in the cat V1 pre- and postadaptation: a homeostatic interplay. (2016). School of Optometry, UdeM.
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Etindele-Sosso FA, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. After effects of sound exposure: Cortical neurons change their tune (2016). (RÉUNION BIANNUELLE CONJOINT UdeM-UdeS, NECOTIS at Université de Montréal.
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Molotchnikoff S. Comparative effects of adaptation on supra (layer II/III) and infragranular (layer V/VI) layers in the adult cat visual cortex. (Journée scientifique, département des sciences biologiques, UdeM, 11 March 2015).
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Molotchnikoff S. Comparative effects of adaptation on supra (layer II/III) and infragranular (layer V/VI) layers in the adult cat visual cortex. (Journée scientifique, centre de recherche en neuropsychologie et cognition, 13-14 March 2015).

- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Jeyabalaratnam J, Molotchnikoff S. Effect of sound on adaptation in primary visual cortex (V1) (2014). (RÉUNION BIANNUELLE CONJOINT UdeM-UdeS, NECOTIS at Université de Montréal.
- Chanauria N, Nargotra A. *In silico* studies for drug discovery. (SLC meeting, Scientist Presentation, IIIM Jammu, India, 30 July 2010).

CONFERENCE ABSTRACTS:

2018

- Modulation of cerebral plasticity by drug application: Modulation of cerebral plasticity by drug application: Effect of Ketamine on orientation selectivity and variability of neuronal responses. Ouelhazi Afef, Chanauria Nayan, Bachatene Lyes, Lussiez Rudy, Molotchnikoff Stèphane. (Society for Neuroscience, 2018-S-2818-SfN).
- Effect of Visual Adaptation on Orientation Selectivity in Cat Secondary Visual Cortex (V2). Rudy Lussiez, Chanauria Nayan, Ouelhazi Afef, Molotchnikoff Stèphane. (Society for Neuroscience, 2018-S-2815-SfN).
- Tsyvian-Dzyabko Assia, Chanauria Nayan, Lussiez Rudy, Ouelhazi Afef, Molotchnikoff Stéphane. La plasticité et multi-modalité des aires sensorielles primaires. XXVIIe Department Symposium, University of Montreal, 29 Mars 2018.
- Ouelhazi Afef, Chanauria Nayan, Bachatene Lyes, Lussiez Rudy, Molotchnikoff Stèphane. Plasticité cérébrale: modulation de la sélectivité à l'orientation par l'application de la kétamine chez la souris. XXVIIe Department Symposium, University of Montreal, 29 Mars 2018.
- Ouelhazi Afef, Chanauria Nayan, Bachatene Lyes, Lussiez Rudy, Molotchnikoff Stèphane. Plasticité cérébrale: modulation de la sélectivité à l'orientation par l'application de la kétamine chez la souris. Journée scientifique, Optometry, 23 Mars 2018.

 Lussiez Rudy, Chanauria Nayan, Ouelhazi Afef, Molotchnikoff Stephane. Effet de l'adaptation sur les courbes d'accord à l'orientation dans l'aire visuelle 18 du chat. XXVIIIe Department Symposium, University of Montreal, 29 Mars 2018.

2017

- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Armel Sosso FA, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Coordinated adaptive changes of layer 2/3 and layer 5/6 multiunit activity (MUA) orientation tuning in the cat visual cortex. (Society for Neuroscience: 2017-S-6415-SfN).
- Chanauria N, Armel Sosso FA, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Armel Sosso FA, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Auditory stimulation modulates orientation selectivity in V1. Canadian Association of Neuroscience 2017, Montreal.
- Chanauria N, Armel Sosso FA, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Armel Sosso FA, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Auditory signal modulation in V1: emergence of novel orientation selectivity. La 25^{ième} Journée Scientifique, Centre de recherche en neuropsychologie et cognition, March 2017.
- Armel Sosso FA, Chanauria N, Molotchnikoff S. Première expérience visuelle : Impact sur la sélectivité cortico-neuronale. La 25^{ième} Journée Scientifique, Centre de recherche en neuropsychologie et cognition, March 2017).
- 5. Armel Sosso FA, **Chanauria N**, Molotchnikoff S. Orientation tuning curves and selectivity in V1: influence of the past stimulus. XXVIIe Department Symposium, University of Montreal.
- 6. Armel Sosso FA, **Chanauria N**, Molotchnikoff S. Preceding oriented visual target impacts responses to succeeding stimuli: An approach to memory. Journée scientifique, Optometry.

2016

 Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Armel Sosso FA Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. "Intriguing! Auditory stimulus shifts orientation selectivity of visual neurons in cat V1". (Society for Neuroscience: 2016-S-1454-SfN).

- Armel Sosso FA, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan, Ouelhazi Afef, Chanauria N, Stéphane Molotchnikoff. Orientation tuning curves and selectivity in V1: influence of the past stimulus. (Society for Neuroscience: 2016-S-2218-SfN).
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Armel Sosso FA Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Functional synchrony between the supra and infragranular neurons in the cat V1 pre- and postadaptation: a homeostatic interplay. Journée scientifique, Optometry.
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Cross correlation investigation of neurons in supra and infragranular layers in cat V1 before and following adaptation. (Journée scientifique, centre de recherche en neuropsychologie et cognition, March 2016).
- Armel Sosso FA, Chanauria N, Molotchnikoff S. Étude de la sélectivité neuronale post-stimulation visuelle chez la souris. (Journée scientifique, centre de recherche en neuropsychologie et cognition, March 2016).
- Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Armel Sosso FA, Molotchnikoff S. Simulating spike-trains using Matlab. (2016). NECOTIS meeting.
- Cattan S, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Chanauria N, Etindele-Sosso FA, Molotchnikoff S. La plasticité synaptique dans le néocortex. (2016, NECOTIS meeting).
- Armel Sosso FA, Raouafi S, Cattan S, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Chanauria N, Molotchnikoff S. Relationship between cognitive impairment and the combined effects of environmental factors (9th Global Neuroscience Conference 2016).
- Armel Sosso FA, Chanauria N, Cattan S, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Mansouri H, Ouelhazi A, Molotchnikoff S. Étude de la mémoire neuronale post-stimulation visuelle chez la souris (Symposium du département des sciences biologiques 2016).

2015

- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Cross correlation investigation of neurons in supra and infragranular layers in cat V1 before and following adaptation. (SfN-5547, 2015).
- Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Molotchnikoff S. The 50-ms window of opportunity in V1 microcircuits. (SfN-15546, 2015).
- 3. Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Cattan S, **Chanauria N**, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Characterizing soloists and choristers in primary visual cortex. (SfN-8622, 2015).
- Bachatene L, Cattan S, Bharmauria V, Chanauria N, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Correlation and summation in the visual cortex reveal stable neuronal assemblies. (Journée scientifique, centre de recherche en neuropsychologie et cognition, 13-14 March 2015).
- Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Sommation et correlation dans le cortex visuel (Journée scientifique, département des sciences biologiques, UdeM, 11 March 2015).
- Cattan S, Bachatene L, Bharmauria V, Chanauria N, Molotchnikoff S. Modéliser les phénomènesd'adaptation dans le cortex visuel à l'aide de réseaux de neurones. (Journée scientifique, département des sciences biologiques, UdeM, 11 March 2015).
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Molotchnikoff S. Comparative effects of adaptation on supra (layer II/III) and infragranular (layer V/VI) layers in the adult cat visual cortex. (Journée scientifique, département des sciences biologiques, UdeM, 11 March 2015).
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Molotchnikoff S. Comparative effects of adaptation on supra (layer II/III) and infragranular (layer V/VI) layers in the adult cat visual cortex. (Journée scientifique, centre de recherche en neuropsychologie et cognition, 13-14 March 2015).
- Balti M, Masri S, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Molotchnikoff S. Souris vs Chat: lequel a la plus grande plasticité cérébrale? (Journée scientifique, département des sciences biologiques, UdeM, 11 March 2015).

 Diab V, Massol S, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Chanauria N, Molotchnikoff S. Connectivité entre les neurones du cortex visuel et l'orientation de stimulus chez la souris. (Journée scientifique, département des sciences biologiques, UdeM, 11 March 2015).

2014

- Bachatene L, Cattan S, Bharmauria V, Chanauria N, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Plasticity in the visual cortex: Emergence of new orientation maps (Society for Neuroscience, Nov 2014, published #819.10/FF28) Selected as a Hot Topic by the Society for Neuroscience.
- Rouat J, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Adeli M, Bharmauria V, Chanauria N, Molotchnikoff S. Noise and brain plasticity? (HUMAIN BRAIN PROJECT Workshop: Stochastic Neural Computation, November 27, 2014).
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Rouat J, Molotchnikoff S. Comparative effects of adaptation on supra- and infra-granular layers in cat's visual cortex (Society for Neuroscience, Nov 2014, Published #819.19/GG5).C
- 4. Cattan S, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Jeyabalaratnam J, Ribot J, Milleret C, Chanauria N, Molotchnikoff S. Les zones de fort gradient d'orientation sont plus plastiques dans le cortex visuel primaire du chat. (Journée scientifique du groupe de recherche en sciences de la vision, 4 April 2014).
- Chanauria N, Bharmauria V, Bachatene L, Cattan S, Jeyadarshan J. Effect of sound on adaptation in primary visual cortex (V1) (RÉUNION BIANNUELLE CONJOINT UdeM-UdeS, NECOTIS at Université de Montréal on April 17, 2014).

2011

 Chanauria N, Mahajan P, Nargotra A, Koul S, Vishwakarma R. Quantifying the relationship between PI3K inhibitory activity and energy value scoring function of a docking algorithm (Chemical Research Society of India, North Zone Meeting, Jammu University, 2011, p-72).

TRAININGS:

2010:

1. Nine months training at Discovery Informatics Division of Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine, Jammu, Jammu & Kashmir (Council of Scientific and Industrial Research), India on the project entitled "Docking analysis of PI3Kα inhibitors".

2008:

 Three months training at Zydus Cadila, Baddi, Solan, Himachal Pradesh, India on the project entitled "Exposure to Industrial Training".

OTHER WORKSHOPS, SEMINARS, SUMMER SCHOOL ATTENDED:

2017:

1. Ecole d'été connectivité cérébrale, May 15-16, 2017. Québec City (Summer school).

2013:

- Seven-day Faculty Development Programme on "Research Methodology in Bioinformatics", October 15-22, G.G.D.S.D. College, Chandigarh, India.
- International Conference on "Bio-products and the OMICS Revolution, March16-17, JIIT Campus, Noida, India.
- Two-day workshop on "Role of E-Resources in Scientific Research", February 20-21, G.G.D.S.D. College, Chandigarh, India.
- National level seminar on "Education Reforms: Challenges & Strategies", February 9, G.G.D.S.D. College, Chandigarh, India.
- One-day seminar on "On being a scientist: legal ðical aspects", January 30, G.G.D.S.D. College, Chandigarh, India.

2010:

 Symposium on "Recent Advances and Challenges in Biotechnology", G.G.D.S.D College, Chandigarh, India.

2009:

 UGC sponsored 2-day National Symposium on "Recent Advances in Biological Sciences", D.A.V. College, Chandigarh, India.

MEMBERSHIPS:

- Active member of SFN (Society for Neuroscience), USA
- Active member of CERNEC (Centre de Recherche en Neuropsychologie et Cognition), Montréal
- Active member of NECOTIS (Neurosciences Computationnelles et Traitement Intelligent des Signaux), Sherbrooke
- Active member of CAN (Canadian Association of Neuroscience)
- CINQ (Le Consortium d'imagerie en neurosciences et santé mentale de Québec)